Georgia State University ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University

Neuroscience Institute Dissertations

Neuroscience Institute

Summer 8-12-2014

Mechanisms of Experience-dependent Prevention of Plasticity in Visual Circuits

Timothy Balmer

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/neurosci diss

Recommended Citation

Balmer, Timothy, "Mechanisms of Experience-dependent Prevention of Plasticity in Visual Circuits." Dissertation, Georgia State University, 2014. https://scholarworks.gsu.edu/neurosci_diss/13

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Neuroscience Institute at ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. It has been accepted for inclusion in Neuroscience Institute Dissertations by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks @ Georgia State University. For more information, please contact scholarworks@gsu.edu.

MECHANISMS OF EXPERIENCE-DEPENDENT PREVENTION OF PLASTICITY IN VISUAL CIRCUITS

by

TIMOTHY S. BALMER

Under the Direction of Sarah L. Pallas

ABSTRACT

Development of brain function is instructed by both genetically-determined processes (nature) and environmental stimuli (nurture). The relative importance of nature and nurture is a major question in developmental neurobiology. In this dissertation, I investigated the role of visual experience in the development and plasticity of the visual pathway. Each neuron that receives visual input responds to a specific area of the visual field- their receptive field (RF). Developmental refinement reduces RF size and underlies visual acuity, which is important for survival. By rearing Syrian hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*) in constant darkness (dark rearing, DR) from birth, I investigated the role of visual experience in RF refinement and plasticity. Previous work in this lab has shown that developmental refinement of RFs occurs in the absence of visual experience in the superior colliculus (SC), but that RFs unrefine and thus enlarge in adulthood during chronic DR. Using an *in vivo* electrophysiological approach, I show that, contrary to a widely held view, visual experience is not necessary for refinement of RFs in primary visual cortex (V1). In both SC and V1, RFs refine by postnatal day (P) 60, but enlarge by P90 with chronic DR.

One week of visual experience was sufficient to prevent RF enlargement in SC and V1. How normal sensory experience prevents plasticity in mature circuits is not well understood. Using an *in vitro* electrophysiological approach, I demonstrated that GABAergic inhibition is reduced in DR SC, which in turn affects short-term (but not long-term) synaptic plasticity. The level of GABA_BR-mediated short-term synaptic depression (STD) that occurs during high-frequency afferent stimulation, such as occurs during vision, is reduced by DR. Using a computational model of RF size, I propose that, in addition to the effect of reduced inhibition, reduced STD of excitation could contribute to enlarged RFs. This work provides insight into mechanisms of development and plasticity of the nervous system. How plasticity is restricted in mature circuits is of fundamental importance in neuroscience and could instruct therapies to prevent maladaptive plasticity in disease and to enhance recovery of function in adults.

INDEX WORDS: Superior colliculus, Visual cortex, Adult plasticity, Receptive field, Inhibitory plasticity, Rodent, Critical period, Visual deprivation

MECHANISMS OF EXPERIENCE-DEPENDENT PREVENTION OF PLASTICITY IN VISUAL

CIRCUITS

by

TIMOTHY S. BALMER

A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in the College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

2014

Copyright by Timothy Seth Balmer 2014

MECHANISMS OF EXPERIENCE-DEPENDENT PREVENTION OF PLASTICITY IN VISUAL

CIRCUITS

by

TIMOTHY S. BALMER

Committee Chair: Sarah L. Pallas

Committee:

Vincent Rehder

Paul S. Katz

Peter Wenner

Electronic Version Approved:

Office of Graduate Studies

College of Arts and Sciences

Georgia State University

August 2014

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work would not have been possible without the advice and support of my dissertation committee: Profs. Peter Wenner, Paul Katz, Vincent Rehder, and my mentor, Sarah Pallas. I also thank members of the Pallas lab for useful discussions and the animal care staff for maintaining the dark reared hamsters. I am grateful for the patience and support of my family and friends, particularly my lovely wife.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiv
LIST OF FIGURESxi
1 INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Nervous system development and plasticity2
1.1.1 Visual system as a model of nervous system development and plasticity2
1.1.2 General organization of the mammalian subcortical and cortical visual systems 3
1.1.3 Activity-independent factors in visual system development
1.1.4 Activity-dependent factors in visual system development
1.1.5 Role of activity in RF refinement in SC11
1.1.6 Role of activity in development of RF properties in V1
1.1.7 Proposed mechanisms of RF maintenance15
1.2 Why study Syrian hamsters?17
1.3 Clinical relevance
1.4 Specific aims of dissertation
2 REFINEMENT BUT NOT MAINTENENCE OF VISUAL RECEPTIVE FIELDS IS
INDEPENDENT OF VISUAL EXPERIENCE
2.1 Abstract21
2.2 Introduction22
2.3 Materials and Methods25
2.3.1 Animals and rearing conditions
2.3.2 Surgery

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3.3	Electrophysiology26
2.3.4	Visual stimulus presentation26
2.3.5	Analysis of RFs
2.3.6	Putative excitatory and inhibitory unit classification
2.3.7	Statistical analyses
2.4 R	esults29
2.4.1	Dark rearing to P60 does not prevent RF refinement in V1
2.4.2	Dark rearing to P90 caused a failure to maintain RF refinement in V1
2.4.3	One week but not 3 days of late juvenile visual experience was sufficient to
maint	ain refined RFs in V1
2.4.4	Type of visual stimulus did not influence RF width measurements in V1
2.4.5	DR increased spontaneous activity in V1
2.4.6	Both putative excitatory and putative inhibitory V1 units fail to maintain refined
RFs	
2.4.7	Late but not early juvenile visual experience was sufficient to maintain refined
RFs i	n SC
2.4.8	Early juvenile visual experience that is not sufficient to maintain RFs does not
preve	nt RF refinement in SC46
2.5 D	iscussion47
2.5.1	Spontaneous retinal activity is sufficient to refine SC and V1 RFs
2.5.2	V1 requires different timing of light exposure than SC to prevent deprivation-
induc	ed plasticity

	2.5.3	The shape of enlarged RFs was maintained in SC	49
	2.5.4	Comparison with other species	49
	2.5.5	The mechanism underlying RF refinement may differ from mechanisms	
	under	lying the development of other RF properties	50
	2.5.6	It is unlikely that the effects of DR on SC and V1 RF size are due to changes i	n the
	retina		51
	2.5.7	What mechanism underlies visual deprivation-induced enlargement of RFs?	51
	2.5.8	What mechanism underlies visual experience-dependent prevention of RF	
	plastic	city?	52
	2.5.9	What is special about visual experience that spontaneous retinal activity does	not
	provia	le?	52
	2.5.10	Maladaptive plasticity and age-related loss of acuity in humans	53
	2.6 A	cknowledgements	53
3 V	'ISUAL EX	PERIENCE PREVENTS METAPLASTICITY OF GABA _b RECEPTOR-	
DEP	ENDENT S	SHORT-TERM DEPRESSION IN ADULT SUPERIOR COLLICULUS	54
	3.1 A	bstract	55
	3.2 Ir	ntroduction	56
	3.3 M	laterials and Methods	57
	3.3.1	Animals and rearing conditions	57
	3.3.2	Slice preparation	58
	3.3.3	Recording procedures	58
	3.3.4	Long-term plasticity analysis	58

3.3.5	PPR analysis
3.3.6	Recovery from STD analysis
3.3.7	Statistical analysis
3.4 R	esults 60
3.4.1	Characteristics of excitatory postsynaptic field potentials (fEPSPs) recorded from
the su	perficial gray layer of the SC60
3.4.2	Long-term plasticity in SC is not affected by visual experience
3.4.3	Visual experience prevents a DR-induced increase in paired pulse depression66
3.4.4	$GABA_{B}R$ function underlies PPD, but is not directly affected by visual
experi	ience
3.4.5	Reduced $GABA_AR$ function underlies increased PPD in slices from DR animals. 71
3.4.6	DR-induced reduction in $GABA_AR$ function controls PPD via $GABA_BR$ -mediated
inhibi	<i>tion</i>
3.4.7	Recovery from train-induced STD is mediated by GABA _B Rs, maintained by visual
experi	ience and reduced by DR Error! Bookmark not defined.85
3.4.8	Reduced synaptically released GABA recapitulates the effects of DR on reduced
train-	induced STD77
3.4.9	How does STD affect RF size?
3.5 D	iscussion
3.5.1	DR does not extend long-term plasticity in SC
3.5.2	Visual experience-dependent maintenance of GABAergic inhibition maintains
GABA	A _B R activation

	3.5.3	$GABA_BRs$ underlie STD in SC and are not affected by visual experience
	3.5.4	Reduced STD caused by high frequency train stimulation could contribute to RF
	enlarg	ement in DR SC
	3.5.5	Visual experience-dependent changes in STD could affect sensory processing in
	SC	
	3.5.6	Experience-dependent changes in STD vary between synapses and sensory areas
87		
	3.5.7	Dysregulation of inhibition and short-term plasticity in psychiatric disorders 88
4 DISC	USSIO	N
4.	.1 M	odel of RF plasticity
4.	.2 S _I	pontaneous activity is sufficient for experience-independent refinement of RFs .93
	4.2.1	Is spontaneous activity instructive or permissive for RF refinement in V1?93
4.	.3 W	hat underlies experience-dependent maintenance of RFs?
	4.3.1	How can 3 days of visual experience prevent DR-induced RF enlargement?94
	4.3.2	Is visual experience permissive or instructive for RF maintenance?
	4.3.3	Could other forms of plasticity contribute to DR-induced RF enlargement?98
	4.3.4	Visual experience-dependent changes in STD could affect sensory processing in
	SC	
4.	.4 Ci	ritical periods in visual circuits101
	4.4.1	Is experience-dependent RF maintenance subject to a critical period?102
	4.4.2	Critical periods differ between brain areas103
	4.4.3	Critical periods differ between species104

4.5	RF refinement and plasticity as a substrate for evolutionary change	105
4.6	Clinical implications	106
4.6.1	Recovery from deprivation after the critical period in visual systems?	106
4.6.2	Critical periods in human learning	107
4.6.3	Clinical implications related to plasticity of GABAergic inhibition	107
4.6.4	Clinical implications related to short-term plasticity	108
REFERENCE	S	109
APPENDICES	Error! Bookmark not def	fined.166

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1. Summary of previous findings in SC24
Figure 2.2. Visual experience is necessary for adult maintenance but not developmental
refinement of RFs in V1
Figure 2.3. One week of late juvenile visual experience prevents deprivation induced RF
enlargement in adulthood
Figure 2.4. Examples of extracellular recordings and RF plots from P90 Normal and
P90DR V1
Figure 2.5. Type of visual stimulus did not influence RF width measurements in V136
Figure 2.6. The effect of age on DR-induced RF enlargement and the effect of age and
experience on spontaneous activity
Figure 2.7. Both putative excitatory and putative inhibitory units have expanded RFs in the
absence of sufficient postnatal visual experience41
Figure 2.8. Late but not early juvenile visual experience was sufficient to maintain refined
RFs in SC43
Figure 2.9. Maintenance of RF area in SC during DR requires late visual experience45
Figure 2.10. Early visual experience does not prevent refinement of RFs in SC
Figure 2.11. Summary of findings: Precise timing of visual experience prevents deprivation
induced RF plasticity
Figure 3.1. The evoked field potential in SC is an excitatory postsynaptic potential (fEPSP)
Figure 3.2. Long-term plasticity in SC is not affected by visual experience
Figure 3.3. Lack of visual experience causes increase in PPD
Figure 3.4. GABA _B R function is required for PPD, but is not directly affected by visual
experience

1 INTRODUCTION

The ability of the nervous system to sense, perceive and respond to the environment is astounding. The underlying anatomical, synaptic, molecular and computational complexity of the brain is unlike anything else in nature. Development of such a structure requires both genetically-determined intrinsic cellular processes (nature) and sensory-evoked environmental input (nurture). The relative importance of nature and nurture in the development of the nervous system is a question of major importance to basic developmental neurobiology.

In systems neuroscience, a widely held view is that sensory experience contributes to the development of sensory function, and that without such experience, proper development cannot occur. In Chapter 2, I challenge this view with experimental evidence indicating that development occurs in the absence of experience in both midbrain superior colliculus (SC) and primary visual cortex (V1) of Syrian hamsters.

Once circuits reach their mature state of refinement, they are stabilized. This prevents regression from the mature state, but also limits recovery from brain injury in adults. In many cases, modality specific experience during a critical period in development is what prevents adult plasticity. For example, dark rearing (DR) prolongs the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity in V1, but visual experience normally closes the critical period, stabilizing circuits and preventing adult plasticity (Cynader and Mitchell, 1980).

It is unclear what mechanisms underlie this experience-dependent prevention of plasticity, but inhibition is a strong candidate because its maturation is regulated in part by experience (Morales et al., 2002) and shapes sensory responses directly (Carrasco et al., 2011). In addition, dysregulation of inhibition could disrupt sensory processing by altering long- or short-term synaptic plasticity (Kirkwood and Bear, 1994; Fagiolini and Hensch, 2000). In Chapter 3, I provide support for a physiological mechanism of experience-dependent maintenance and plasticity of visual function in SC.

1.1 Nervous system development and plasticity

Initial development of the nervous system necessarily depends on activity-independent intrinsic genetic instructions before neurons are able to fire action potentials and before synapses form. These processes include neuronal differentiation, migration, and projection of axons to their target areas, and are extensively reviewed elsewhere (Tessier-Lavigne and Goodman, 1996; Kanold and Luhmann, 2010; Kiecker and Lumsden, 2012; Pfaff and Shaham, 2013).

Once circuits are initially wired, fine tuning occurs, and both spontaneously-generated and sensoryevoked activity begins to play important roles. Sensory-evoked activity is necessary during critical periods in development to establish and fine tune physiological properties. One of these properties is the receptive field (RF). A RF is the area of the visual field to which each neuron responds. A crucial and often overlooked aspect of visual system development is the refinement of receptive fields (RFs). Because RF size contributes directly to visual acuity, it may be especially critical for survival for both predator and prey animals. In this section, I review the role of experience-independent and experiencedependent development of visual circuits, followed by proposed mechanisms of experience-dependent prevention of plasticity in adulthood.

1.1.1 Visual system as a model of nervous system development and plasticity

The visual system is useful for understanding nervous system development in general. The visual system exhibits both spontaneously-generated and visually-evoked neural activity. These forms of activity can be manipulated by surgery, pharmacological agents, and modification of the rearing environment. Indeed, since the first experiments on visual cortical development in the 1960s, the role of spontaneously-generated and sensory-evoked activity in visual system development and plasticity has been an active area of study.

1.1.2 General organization of the mammalian subcortical and cortical visual systems

Transduction of visual stimuli starts in the retina, a layered network of neurons that detects luminance across the visual field. Visual processing in the retina occurs through lateral inhibition, motion decoding, and color detection (Kaneko, 1979; Daw et al., 1989; Marr, 2010). The output pathway from the retina is the optic nerve, which is composed of the axons of the retinal ganglion cells (RGCs). The optic nerve innervates SC and the lateral geniculate nucleus of the thalamus (LGN). These two retinal targets both interact and function in parallel (Schneider, 1969).

The SC is a sensorimotor midbrain area that receives input from all sensory modalities and is vital for orienting the eyes, head, trunk, and ears to stimuli in the environment (Mort et al., 1980; Stein, 1984; Isa, 2002). The superficial (dorsal) layers of the SC receive and processes visual input. The optic tract (the term for the optic nerve within the CNS) enters anterior SC into the optic layer (stratum opticum) and innervates the superficial gray layer in a topographically organized manner, as described below. A corticocollicular projection from V1 (primary visual cortex, *aka* Area 17) also enters the SC from the optic layer (Powell, 1976; Rhoades and Chalupa, 1978c), in topographic register with the retinotopic map (Triplett et al., 2009). The deeper layers of SC receive inputs from the other sensory modalities in addition to inputs from parietal cortex and basal ganglia. Both superficial and deep layers of SC project to the brainstem in order to control motor output and to initiate movement of the head toward a stimulus.

LGN also receives direct input from the RGCs and acts as a relay, sending the signals to V1. The tuning properties of LGN neurons are similar to those of the RGCs themselves, which suggests that little transformation of stimulus representation occurs in LGN (Wiesel and Hubel, 1966). The inputs from the two eyes remain segregated in LGN in primates and carnivores but not in rodents.

V1 is the first cortical area that receives visual input and is where properties such as orientation tuning and binocular responses are first observed. LGN innervates layer 4 of V1. In general, layer 4 neurons project to layers 2 and 3 (referred to as layer 2/3 in rodents and carnivores), which in turn send signals horizontally within the same cortical area and to other cortical areas, as well as vertically to layer 5 and 6. Layer 5 sends long-range afferents to the SC. Layer 6 sends output back to LGN. These

microcircuits between and within the layers of V1 are complex, with cell-type specific interactions (Maffei and Turrigiano, 2008), and are an active area of research.

Cells in layers 2 and 3 are the first to receive convergent input from both eyes. These binocularly responsive neurons underlie stereopsis and are the neurons of interest in most studies of ocular dominance plasticity (although other layers are also studied and appear to be affected differently by visual experience (Kirkwood et al., 1995; Daw et al., 2004; Tagawa et al., 2005)). There are species differences in the extent to which V1 neurons receive binocular inputs. Due to their laterally-placed eyes, V1 in most rodents receives the majority of its input from the contralateral eye and has only a very small portion that responds binocularly. Primates and carnivores, on the other hand, have a different organization. Many cells in primate V1 respond to both eyes, and the neurons exhibiting dominance of the input of one eye over the other are organized in columns or stripes (Hubel and Wiesel, 1968). Species differences in binocularity are not surprising, given the difference in visual field overlap of the two eyes in animals with forward-facing vs side-facing eyes.

In mice, V1 projects to dozens other cortical areas for further processing (Wang et al., 2012). In general, the projections can be categorized into dorsal and ventral streams that process the location and identity of objects, respectively (Mishkin and Ungerleider, 1982; Livingstone and Hubel, 1987; Goodale and Milner, 1992). Higher visual areas appear to be more plastic in adulthood than primary sensory areas, and are the focus of exciting work, especially in primates (Sasaki et al., 2010). This dissertation focuses on primary visual areas and will not discuss higher visual areas in detail.

1.1.3 Activity-independent factors in visual system development

The visual information captured by the retina is represented in SC, LGN, and V1 such that neighboring sensory neurons in the eye project to neighboring neurons in each structure, forming a twodimensional retinotopic map of visual space. The retinocollicular projection has been widely used to investigate the role of molecular guidance cues in the formation of retinotopic maps. Retinotopic maps form before birth in many mammals, indicating that visually-evoked activity is not necessary for their initial patterning.

The first experiments suggesting that RGC afferents from the eye are able to find the appropriate CNS target based on molecular interactions came from work in amphibian tectum, the non-mammalian homolog to SC. Cutting the optic nerve of a frog and surgically rotating the eye caused RGC axons to regenerate to the part of the tectum that normally represented the same part of the retina, irrespective of the abnormal positioning of the retina (Sperry, 1944) or whether the entire retina was present (Sperry, 1963).

The RGC axons in rodents project via the optic nerve/tract into anterior SC and initially innervate a large target area, projecting to the caudal edge of the SC (Simon and O'Leary, 1992). Repulsive interactions between EphA receptors on the developing axons and ephrinA ligands expressed on the surface of SC cells mediate growth cone retraction and back-branching at the correct topographic location. Opposing molecular gradients of these receptors and ligands force high EphA-expressing axons from temporal retina to remain in rostral SC where low levels of ephrinAs are expressed (McLaughlin et al., 2003a). Low EphA-expressing axons from nasal retina on the other hand, are able to continue through the rostral SC and into the caudal portion of SC with its high levels of ephrinAs, where they remain because they are less sensitive to the repulsive interaction (Udin and Fawcett, 1988; Simon and O'Leary, 1992; Brown et al., 2000; Feldheim and O'Leary, 2010; Triplett, 2014). Transgenic mice lacking ephrinAs have profoundly disordered retinotopic maps (Frisén et al., 1998; Feldheim et al., 2000). The mediolateral axis of SC depends on somewhat similar interactions between opposing ephrinB and EphB receptor gradients (Hindges et al., 2002). Retinotopic mapping of SC is an example of activityindependent development, because even when activity is blocked the retinotopic map develops, although it is less precise (Meyer, 1983; Harris, 1984; Thompson and Holt, 1989).

Most aspects of retinal development proceed in the absence of sensory input and in the absence of neural activity (Sun et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2011), consistent with the general pattern that lower visual areas rely on activity-independent development to a greater extent than do higher visual areas.

5

1.1.4 Activity-dependent factors in visual system development

Once a rough retinotopic map is formed, guided largely by molecular interactions, fine tuning of the arbors to their precise locations and arbor shape/size requires neural activity. Retinotopic maps in SC, LGN, and V1 develop before visually evoked activity is possible (Jeffery, 1985; Chalupa and Snider, 1998; Cang et al., 2005) and thus rely on spontaneous activity. Refinement of the retinocollicular arbors to a small terminal zone in the SC is essential for the development of refined RFs, high acuity perception, and other visual properties. This refinement process could occur through spontaneous or sensory-evoked activity, via instructive and/or permissive mechanisms (Katz and Shatz, 1996).

1.1.4.1 Spontaneously-generated activity

Spontaneous activity exists at many levels of the visual system including the retina (Firth et al., 2005), LGN (Weliky and Katz, 1999) and V1 (Chiu and Weliky, 2001). Spontaneous waves of activity propagate across the retina during early postnatal development. The first stage is generated by gap junctions and ends around the time of birth in rodents and ferrets (Firth et al., 2005). This is followed by retinal waves generated by acetylcholine released by starburst amacrine cells. These waves are propagated via nAChRs across the retina, and through the optic nerve to the SC and LGN (Galli and Maffei, 1988; Wong et al., 1993; Feller et al., 1996). About a week after birth these waves subside and are replaced with waves mediated by glutamate released from bipolar cells (Wong et al., 2000) that activate AMPARs and NMDARs on RGCs. The glutamatergic retinal waves cease a few days after eye opening, but it is important to note that visual experience does not cause them to end and that DR does not prolong them (Demas et al., 2003). Spontaneous activity persists throughout life, but the activity is not structured in propagating waves.

Experiments using various approaches to disrupt patterned spontaneous activity have shown that retinal waves are necessary for normal development of the visual system. The most extreme approach to disrupting retinal activity is by eye removal (enucleation). This causes the optic nerve to degenerate, so

retinocollicular afferents are lost and topographic maps cannot form. However, thalamocortical afferents from LGN remain, and remarkably, some normal development occurs (Crowley and Katz, 1999), in addition to miswiring (Rakic et al., 1991), perhaps guided by spontaneous activity that occurs in LGN itself (Weliky and Katz, 1999; Weliky, 2000).

A somewhat less extreme but still profound manipulation of spontaneous and evoked activity is the pharmacological inactivation of the retina by intraocular tetrodotoxin (TTX) injection, which blocks voltage-dependent Na⁺ channels and prevents spiking. Silencing RGC activity in this way causes retinocollicular map miswiring, although crude topographic maps do form (Meyer, 1983; Thompson and Holt, 1989). The normal eye specific segregation of the retinogeniculate axons in LGN is also disrupted by activity blockade with TTX (Shatz and Stryker, 1988; Sretavan et al., 1988). Thalamocortical and corticothalamic innervation that occurs before birth is also disrupted by ventricular infusion of TTX, indicating a role- in addition to molecular guidance (Molnar et al., 2012)- for spontaneous activity in the initial formation (Stryker and Harris, 1986) and refinement of those projections (Antonini and Stryker, 1993; Catalano and Shatz, 1998). However, TTX prevents all neural activity, including sensory-evoked activity that occurs after birth, which makes interpretation of these results difficult. Specifically, activity blockade experiments are not able to refute the hypothesis that sensory-evoked activity, rather than spontaneous activity, is necessary for topographic map refinement.

A more selective approach is to disrupt retinal waves by genetic deletion of the β2-subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR), which disrupts the second of the three stages of retinal waves. These β2-nAChR knockout mice exhibit retinotopic map errors and diffuse terminal zones of RGC afferents in SC (McLaughlin et al., 2003b; Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Mrsic-Flogel et al., 2005), LGN (Grubb et al., 2003; Grubb and Thompson, 2004) and V1 (Cang et al., 2005), which would cause enlarged RFs. However, this approach is not free of complications (Chalupa, 2009). Retinal waves remain in these animals, mediated by gap junctions instead of nAChRs (Sun et al., 2008), and the later glutamatergic retinal waves are not affected. Nonetheless, it is clear that these animals do not have normal spontaneous activity and that they do have retinotopic mapping errors. Thus, although activity-

dependent molecular guidance is sufficient for initial map formation, the refinement of terminal zones and retraction of miswired connections requires nAChR-mediated correlated spontaneous activity.

1.1.4.2 Sensory-evoked activity

Sensory-evoked activity is limited by the quality and accessibility of the sensory organ- vision can only occur after birth in mammals, because little light penetrates the uterus (Rao et al., 2013). In animals born with closed eyes, visually-evoked activity can occur to some extent through the closed eyelids (Shi et al., 2000; Krug et al., 2001; Townsend et al., 2003; Colonnese et al., 2010), but activity increases considerably at the time of eye opening.

Several approaches have been taken to block visually-evoked activity without affecting spontaneous activity. Binocular deprivation by eyelid suture was at first thought to have the same effect as dark rearing (DR) (Cynader et al., 1976; Leventhal and Hirsch, 1980), but was later found to cause distinct effects (Mower et al., 1981b). It was revealed that binocular deprivation does not block all light but instead blocks only patterned visual stimulation- no edges are experienced. The result of binocular deprivation is unrefined RFs in V1 and a profound reduction in visual responsiveness (Mower et al., 1981b). Binocular deprivation also causes misalignment of the eyes (Sherman, 1972), which does not occur to nearly the same extent in DR animals (White et al., 2001), and may underlie disrupted orientation tuning in these animals (Crair et al., 1998).

DR, on the other hand, blocks all visually-evoked activity and has a less profound effect than binocular deprivation on V1 physiology. DR increases the number of binocularly driven neurons and reduces their selectivity (Mower et al., 1981b). Moreover, DR animals can recover some function when given normal visual experience, whereas binocular deprivation causes permanent effects that cannot be overcome (Mower et al., 1981b).

In sum, diffuse light through closed eyelids causes more profound disruption of vision than no light at all. Thus, **patterned** visual activity is necessary to develop normal function and diffuse lightevoked activity is not sufficient (Ruthazer and Aizenman, 2010).

1.1.4.3 Instructive vs permissive activity

Spontaneous retinal waves and/or visually-evoked pattern vision could provide instructive and/or permissive activity to retinorecipient areas. Instructive processes rely on the **pattern** of activity, and thus retinal waves could underlie fine tuning of map topography. Neighboring neurons in the retina fire coincidentally during a retinal wave, which could instruct the afferents to strengthen synapses on the same or on nearby SC neurons. This could act through mechanisms of Hebbian synaptic plasticity to promote convergence onto precise axon termination zones. The fact that β 2-nAChR knockout causes a disrupted pattern of spontaneous activity and reportedly no significant change in the overall amount of activity (Bansal et al., 2000; McLaughlin et al., 2003b; but see Chalupa, 2009), indicates that retinal waves instruct retinotopic map refinement (Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Mrsic-Flogel et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2011).

The pattern of visually-evoked activity could also be instructive for development of RF properties. A well-studied example of a visual response property that develops through an instructive process is the tuning of V1 neurons to specific orientations of edges, usually measured electrophysiologically using bars of light (Chapman et al., 1996; Chapman et al., 1999). In a clever experiment, the optic nerves of ferrets were stimulated to fire action potentials that disrupted the normal pattern of activity after eye opening, without changing the total amount of activity (Weliky and Katz, 1997). This prevented orientation tuning from developing to the same extent as in controls. In addition, animals that experience a single orientation of lines during development exhibit more neurons that are tuned to that orientation in V1 (Hirsch and Spinelli, 1970; Hirsch and Spinelli, 1971; Sengpiel et al., 1999). Similarly, if animals are reared in an environment with a spatial grating moving in a particular direction, they develop neurons that are selective for that direction of movement in both V1 (Tretter et al., 1975; Daw and Wyatt, 1976) and SC (Flandrin and Jeannerod, 1975; Flandrin et al., 1976). Thus, for the development of orientation and direction tuning, the pattern of visually-evoked activity matters, indicating that it is an instructive process.

Permissive processes, on the other hand, do not rely on the pattern of activity but rather, the **amount** of activity. For example, activity allows calcium entry into the cell, and it is possible that the cell requires a threshold level of calcium for normal development. Perhaps the high levels of activity evoked by visual experience are essential to reach the level of calcium necessary for synaptogenesis or some other developmental property. High levels of neural activity reached through sensory experience, which cannot be provided by spontaneous activity, at least at the appropriate point in development (Crair, 1999; Huberman et al., 2008; Chalupa, 2009), also activate structural changes that prevent plasticity in mature circuits (Mataga et al., 2002; Pizzorusso et al., 2002; Mataga et al., 2004; Bence and Levelt, 2005; Pizzorusso et al., 2006; McRae et al., 2007; Balmer et al., 2009; Carulli et al., 2010). Activity-dependent neurotrophin expression could underlie the sensitivity to amounts of activity and permissive thresholds for development of RF properties.

1.1.4.4 Neurotrophins

Visually-evoked activity could be permissive for visual development via activity-dependent expression of neurotrophins. Neurotrophins activate membrane bound receptors that promote neuronal survival, function, plasticity and growth (Park and Poo, 2013). Mammals express many neurotrophins including: nerve growth factor (NGF), brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3) and neurotrophin-4 (NT-4) (Huang and Reichardt, 2001). Neurotrophins bind to tropomyosin-related kinase (Trk) receptors (Bothwell, 1995). NGF binds specifically to TrkA, BDNF binds to TrkB, and NT-3 and NT-4 bind to TrkC. Activation of these receptors causes intracellular signal transduction that promotes growth. All neurotrophins also bind to the low affinity p75NTR which promotes apoptosis (Huang and Reichardt, 2001).

Visually-evoked responses are much stronger than spontaneously generated activity and cause a marked increase in the expression of many genes (Nedivi et al., 1993; Tropea et al., 2006). Activity promotes BDNF expression (Sale et al., 2004; Tognini et al., 2012) and plays a major role in the maturation of inhibitory synapses (Rutherford et al., 1997; Huang et al., 1999; Marty et al., 2000; Seil and

Drake-Baumann, 2000; Grantyn et al., 2011). Overexpression of BDNF can rescue maturation of RF properties despite DR, suggesting that a permissive level of BDNF may be required for normal visual system development (Gianfranceschi et al., 2003).

In addition, neurotrophins could play an instructive role in visual system development. For example, postsynaptic targets could release BDNF in an activity-dependent manner, requiring a specific pattern of activity. This synapse-specific BDNF release could preferentially strengthen active synapses and protect them from the pruning that occurs at inactive synapses. BDNF-TrkB signaling mediates retinocollicular arbor branching and stabilization (Marshak et al., 2007). The pattern of activity appears to interact with BDNF signaling, because blockade of pattern-detecting NMDA receptors prevents BDNF from promoting synapse elaboration (Cohen-Cory, 1999; Hu et al., 2005).

Visual experience-dependent transcription factors that regulate the expression of neurotrophins have recently been identified as having important roles in experience-dependent plasticity in V1. Npas4 is a transcription factor that is activated by visual experience and regulates BDNF and other genes that affect plasticity in V1 (Lin et al., 2008; Maya-Vetencourt et al., 2012b). Otx2 is a transcription factor that is expressed in the retina and is apparently passed trans-synaptically to V1 when a permissive level of retinal activity is reached (Sugiyama et al., 2008). There, it regulates gene expression in V1 neurons and contributes to maturation of inhibition and development of the perineuronal nets that restrict plasticity in adulthood (Beurdeley et al., 2012). Neurotrophin expression evoked by visual experience could underlie maturation of inhibition, and could prevent RF plasticity in mature circuits.

1.1.5 Role of activity in RF refinement in SC

RF refinement is an activity-dependent process, but the relative roles of spontaneously-generated and visually-evoked activity are not well understood. Neural activity is necessary for RF refinement in SC- suppression of both spontaneous and visually-evoked activity with TTX prevents refinement of RGC terminal zones (Fawcett et al., 1984; Thompson and Holt, 1989; Kobayashi et al., 1990). The pattern of neural activity is also important for RF refinement in SC. Blockade of NMDA receptor signaling during development decreases retinotopic precision (Cline and Constantine Paton, 1989; Constantine-Paton et al., 1990; Debski et al., 1990; Simon et al., 1992) and leads to enlarged RFs in adulthood (Huang and Pallas, 2001; Razak et al., 2003). However, it is unclear whether the disruption of RF refinement is due to interruption of the pattern of stimulus-evoked activity or the pattern of spontaneous retinal activity, because these studies disrupted both.

The pattern of spontaneous activity instructs RF refinement in mouse SC, because disruption of cholinergic retinal waves in β 2-nAChR knockout mice prevents refinement of RFs (Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Chandrasekaran et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2009). In β 2-nAChR knockout mice, RFs in LGN (Grubb et al., 2003; Grubb and Thompson, 2004) and V1 (Wang et al., 2009) do refine, in contrast to SC, indicating that mechanisms of RF refinement likely differ between visual areas. Interestingly, the β 2-nAChR knockout affects the patterning of the nasotemporal axis of SC more than the dorsoventral axis. The difference may be due to the fact that the axons are ordered along the dorsoventral axis within the optic tract before it reaches the SC, but the nasotemporal axis is mixed (Plas et al., 2005). Thus, nasotemporal axis mapping requires more organization when the optic tract reaches the SC and depends to a larger extent on patterned activity.

DR prevents visually-evoked activity, but spares spontaneous activity, and has been used to investigate the role of visually-evoked activity on RF refinement and maintenance. Spontaneous activity is sufficient for the refinement of RFs in rodent SC (Rhoades and Chalupa, 1978a; Carrasco et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2010) and zebrafish tectum (Niell and Smith, 2005). In Syrian hamsters RFs refine normally by P60 despite DR from birth (Carrasco et al., 2005).

Strobe rearing affects the pattern of visually-evoked activity but does not affect the pattern of spontaneous activity. The RF size of SC neurons is not affected by strobe rearing in Syrian hamsters (Chalupa and Rhoades, 1978b), which agrees with the above studies indicating that the pattern of visually-evoked activity does not play a major role in refinement. Taken together, these studies indicate that visual experience is not necessary for RF refinement in SC, and that the pattern of spontaneous activity instructs SC RF refinement.

1.1.6 Role of activity in development of RF properties in V1

Behavioral studies have shown that the vision of kittens is poor at the time of eye-opening (Warkentin and Smith, 1937; Mitchell et al., 1976). Thus, it was a surprise, given the unclear optical qualities of the eyes themselves (Bonds and Freeman, 1978), that V1 neurons in newborn kittens exhibited binocularity, orientation tuning, direction tuning, and in some reports, small RFs (Hubel and Wiesel, 1963; Buisseret and Imbert, 1976; Fregnac and Imbert, 1978; Braastad and Heggelund, 1985). Although some neurons appear to have mature response properties at birth, these are in the minority and are less visually responsive than adult neurons. Overlapping periods of refinement of RF properties and size occur during postnatal development (Huberman et al., 2008). The general pattern appears to be that development of RF properties is initially guided by molecular mechanisms and spontaneous activity, but fine tuning requires visual experience, as does maintenance of mature properties.

In primate V1, neurons that respond more to one eye are organized into cortical columns. The initial formation of ocular dominance columns occurs prenatally in monkeys (Rakic, 1976; Horton and Hocking, 1996) and humans (Hevner, 2000) and may depend to a large extent on molecular guidance cues (Crowley and Katz, 1999; Crowley and Katz, 2000). Spontaneous retinal activity before eye opening is also necessary for the formation of ocular dominance columns, although later visual activity shapes and maintains them (Stryker and Harris, 1986; Crair et al., 1998; Huberman et al., 2006). Orientation tuning in V1 also develops despite visual deprivation and can be observed before eye opening (Hubel and Wiesel, 1963; Hubel and Wiesel, 1974; Blakemore and Van Sluyters, 1975; Buisseret and Imbert, 1976; Fregnac and Imbert, 1978; Albus and Wolf, 1984; Chapman and Stryker, 1993; Blasdel et al., 1995; Chapman et al., 1996; Gödecke et al., 1997; Crair et al., 1998). As in the development of ocular dominance preference, visual experience is necessary for maintaining fully refined and mature, adult orientation tuning (Chapman and Stryker, 1993; Crair et al., 1998; Chapman et al., 1999; White et al., 2001). Thus, the development of ocular dominance and orientation tuning occurs early and depends to a large extent on spontaneous activity, but fine tuning and its maintenance requires visual experience.

Direction tuning seems to develop differently than ocular dominance and orientation tuning. Some V1 cells in very young kittens exhibit normal direction selectivity (Hubel and Wiesel, 1963; Pettigrew, 1974; Blakemore and Van Sluyters, 1975; Buisseret and Imbert, 1976; Fregnac and Imbert, 1978; Braastad and Heggelund, 1985), but visual experience is required for sharper selectivity in adult cats (Leventhal and Hirsch, 1980), rats (Fagiolini et al., 1994), and ferrets (Li et al., 2006). Interestingly, visual experience is not required in mice (Rochefort et al., 2011). Maintenance of direction tuning also appears to require visual experience (Derrington, 1984).

In sum, the development of V1 RF properties requires spontaneous activity for initial development and visual experience for fine tuning and maintenance. The role of visual experience in refinement and maintenance of RF size has not been systematically studied in V1. The most relevant literature is described in the following section.

1.1.6.1 What is the role of visual experience in RF refinement and maintenance in V1?

Some researchers report that V1 RFs refine during postnatal development in rats (Fagiolini et al., 1994) and in mice (Gianfranceschi et al., 2003), as does spatial frequency selectivity in cats (Derrington and Fuchs, 1981). On the other hand, some investigators report that RFs are refined at early ages in cats (Hubel and Wiesel, 1963; Buisseret and Imbert, 1976; Fregnac and Imbert, 1978; Braastad and Heggelund, 1985), rats (Fortin et al., 1999) and rabbits (Mathers et al., 1974). In some experiments where RF sizes are assayed, only animals that were DR into adulthood were used (Ganz et al., 1968). Some experiments fail to report the age of their DR animals (Mower et al., 1981b; Fagiolini et al., 1994). Most of the experiments use different rearing conditions and techniques to measure RF size. Thus, despite the large body of previous work, conflicting results motivated us to reassess whether RFs refine without visual experience, and if they do refine, to determine whether they are maintained in a refined state without visual experience. This work is described in Chapter 2.

1.1.7 Proposed mechanisms of RF maintenance

The question of how visual experience contributes to RF maintenance relates to how plasticity is restricted in adulthood. Once neural circuits have been fine-tuned, plasticity may no longer be necessary. This developmental pattern prevents regression from the mature state, but also limits recovery from injury and disease. Understanding the mechanisms of experience-dependent prevention of plasticity will suggest novel strategies to prevent maladaptive plasticity. This work focuses on maintenance of refined RFs in SC and is described in Chapter 3.

1.1.7.1 Maintenance of inhibition maintains RFs

The role of inhibition in ocular dominance plasticity has been studied in more depth than its role in other RF properties (Hensch, 2005; Heimel et al., 2011; Levelt and Hubener, 2012; Kuhlman et al., 2013). DR reduces inhibition in V1 (Gabbott and Stewart, 1987; Bakkum et al., 1991; Benevento et al., 1992; Benevento et al., 1995; Morales et al., 2002; Chattopadhyaya et al., 2004) and delays critical period closure such that monocular deprivation can cause ocular dominance plasticity in adults long after the juvenile critical period would normally have ended (He et al., 2006). This ocular dominance shift in DR adults is blocked by exogenous enhancement of inhibition (Iwai et al., 2003; Huang et al., 2010). Reducing inhibition by genetic knockdown of GABA synthesizing enzymes GAD65 (Hensch et al., 1998) or GAD67 (Chattopadhyaya et al., 2007) delays the onset of the critical period until a threshold of GABA_Aergic inhibition is reached (Fagiolini et al., 2004). Infusion of a GAD inhibitor (Harauzov et al., 2010) or fluoxetine (Maya-Vetencourt et al., 2008), both of which reduce inhibition, reopens the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity if administered in adulthood. In sum, the strength of inhibition in V1 bidirectionally regulates the ability to induce ocular dominance plasticity.

RF plasticity in SC also depends on inhibition. DR reduces GABA immunoreactivity and GABA_AR function in SC, indicating that visual experience maintains inhibition and likely prevents RF enlargement (Carrasco et al., 2011). RF enlargement could happen through various mechanisms. The first is simply that GABA_ARs underlie lateral inhibition in SC (Binns and Salt, 1997), limiting RF size.

Loss of inhibition thus causes RFs to enlarge by weakening inhibitory surrounds. This is certainly a large part of RF enlargement in SC. Dysregulation of inhibition could also contribute to other mechanisms of RF enlargement including changes in long- or short-term synaptic plasticity described below.

1.1.7.2 Does restriction of long-term synaptic plasticity maintain RFs?

Long-term synaptic plasticity is a change in synaptic efficacy (Bliss and Lomo, 1973) that lasts at least 30 minutes and up to hours, and is an almost ubiquitous phenomenon across the brain (Malenka and Bear, 2004). Long-term plasticity is divided into two general categories: long-term potentiation (LTP)an increase in synaptic efficacy, and long-term depression (LTD)- a decrease in synaptic efficacy. LTP occurs in V1 of young animals during RF refinement and decreases with age (Kato et al., 1991; Kirkwood et al., 1995; Maffei and Turrigiano, 2008). Extending LTP into adulthood could cause RFs to enlarge by increasing the efficacy of excitatory responses of weak synapses on the outskirts. In V1, the ability to induce LTP *in vitro* appears to follow the pattern of RF plasticity, because it is maintained by DR (Kirkwood et al., 1995; Kirkwood et al., 1996), prevented by visual experience (Kirkwood et al., 1996), and is controlled by the strength of inhibition (Wigström and Gustafsson, 1983; Artola et al., 1990). Transgenic mice that overexpress BDNF have increased inhibition, reduced LTP, and refined RFs despite DR (Huang et al., 1999; Gianfranceschi et al., 2003). This suggests that inhibition and/or LTP could underlie RF refinement in V1. On the other hand, GAD65 knockout mice have both refined RFs and normal LTP, but reduced inhibition (Hensch et al., 1998), raising the possibility that LTP correlates with refined RFs but changes in inhibition do not.

Could mechanisms of long-term plasticity underlie DR-induced RF enlargement in SC? Visual experience causes LTP at retinocollicular synapses (Zhang et al., 2000). Blocking NMDARs prevents LTP in rat SC (Zhao et al., 2006). NMDARs are necessary for refinement of retinocollicular arbors (Schmidt, 2004) and refinement of SC RFs (Razak et al., 2003). Development of inhibition in SC is accelerated by exogenous NMDAR activation, which suggests that NMDARs play a permissive role in normal developmental refinement in SC (Aamodt et al., 2000). Thus, in SC, NMDAR-dependent LTP is

likely to be necessary for RF refinement and this form of synaptic plasticity can shape RFs. However, it cannot be assumed that DR-induced RF enlargement is the reverse of refinement.

In Chapter 3, we test the hypothesis that visual experience prevents long-term plasticity from occurring, which could maintain RFs in a refined state. In this case, DR would allow long-term plasticity, which could contribute to DR-induced RF enlargement.

1.1.7.3 Does short-term synaptic plasticity maintain RFs?

The strength of synaptic transmission is dynamically affected by recent activity. A stimulationinduced change in synaptic strength that lasts from milliseconds to seconds is called short-term plasticity. In the SC, retinocollicular afferents have a high probability of neurotransmitter release that causes responses to depress with repeated stimulation, referred to as short-term depression (STD).

Sensory experience is necessary for the maturation of STD in V1 (Jiang et al., 2005; Jiang et al., 2010) and in auditory cortex (Takesian et al., 2010). The effect of experience on STD has not been investigated in SC, but could contribute to enlarged RFs after DR. For example, visual stimulation on the outskirts of a RF causes a neuron to fire a single action potential, after which the response depresses below spike threshold. This stimulus location is unlikely to be interpreted as being within the RF (by the experimenter or by the brain). If this depression is reduced, the cell will fire multiple action potentials and the location would be included in the excitatory RF center.

In Chapter 3, we test the hypothesis that STD is maintained by visual experience and that this prevents DR-induced RF plasticity. Reduced STD would increase excitability, which could cause RFs to expand.

1.2 Why study Syrian hamsters?

The Syrian hamster has been a workhorse for developmental neurobiology for decades (Schneider, 1969; Chalupa and Rhoades, 1978a; Finlay et al., 1978; Finlay and Berian, 1985). The development and experience-dependent maintenance of mammalian SC RFs was first described in Syrian

hamsters (Carrasco et al., 2005; Carrasco and Pallas, 2006). Syrian hamsters have high visual acuity relative to other rodents and rely heavily on vision for finding prey (Langley, 1985). Thus, Syrian hamsters are an advantageous species in which to study RF plasticity as a model for experience-dependent maintenance of mature function.

1.3 Clinical relevance

DR-induced RF enlargement in adulthood represents plasticity that is inappropriate and maladaptive, because it is likely to reduce visual acuity. Visual experience is necessary to prevent RF enlargement, and prevent the maladaptive plasticity (Nava and Roder, 2011) that occurs with sensory deprivation. Sensory deprivation occurs in humans with diseases of the eye such as macular degeneration and cataract (Lewis and Maurer, 2009). Studying how environmental experience prevents maladaptive plasticity could provide insight into age-related loss of sensory acuity in humans (Habak and Faubert, 2000; Leventhal et al., 2003; Betts et al., 2005).

More generally, understanding how circuits are stabilized in adulthood could contribute to the understanding of psychiatric disorders that may be caused by aberrant plasticity (Arguello and Gogos, 2012; Takesian and Hensch, 2013) including schizophrenia (Insel, 2010) and autism spectrum disorders (Rubenstein and Merzenich, 2003; Bear et al., 2004; Gogolla et al., 2009; Harlow et al., 2010).

1.4 Specific aims of dissertation

Chapter 2: SA1: What is the role of visual experience in the refinement and maintenance of RF size in SC and V1?

- SA1: Exp A: Is visual experience necessary for *refinement* of V1 RFs?
- SA1: Exp B: Is visual experience necessary for maintenance of V1 RFs?
- SA1: Exp C: How much visual experience is *sufficient* to prevent RF plasticity and maintain RF size in SC and V1?

Chapter 3: SA2: How does visual experience prevent RF plasticity in SC?

- SA1: Exp A: Does visual experience prevent DR-induced changes in GABA receptor function?
- SA1: Exp B: Does visual experience prevent DR-induced changes in long-term synaptic plasticity?
- SA1: Exp C: Does visual experience prevent DR-induced changes in short-term synaptic plasticity?

2 REFINEMENT BUT NOT MAINTENENCE OF VISUAL RECEPTIVE FIELDS IS

INDEPENDENT OF VISUAL EXPERIENCE

Timothy S. Balmer and Sarah L. Pallas

Cerebral Cortex, 2013, doi:10.1093/cercor/bht281

2.1 Abstract

Visual deprivation is reported to prevent or delay development of mature receptive field (RF) properties in primary visual cortex (V1) in several species. In contrast, visual deprivation neither prevents nor delays refinement of RF size in the superior colliculus (SC) of Syrian hamsters, although vision is required for RF maintenance in SC. Here we report that, contrary to expectation, visual cortical RF refinement occurs normally in dark-reared animals. As in SC, a brief period of visual experience is required to maintain V1 RF refinement in adulthood. Whereas in SC, three days of visual experience within a sensitive period (P37-40) was sufficient to protect RFs from deprivation-induced enlargement in adulthood, seven days (P33-40) were required for RF size maintenance in V1. Thus, spontaneous activity is sufficient for RF refinement at these two levels of the visual pathway, and visual input is necessary only to prevent deprivation-induced RF enlargement in adulthood. These studies show that sensory experience during a late juvenile sensitive period protects the visual pathway against sensory deprivation in adulthood, and suggest that more importance may have been placed on the role of early visual experience in visual receptive field development than is warranted.
2.2 Introduction

A major question in developmental neuroscience is how early sensory experience contributes to the development of adult brain function. Experience can be in the form of light-evoked or spontaneously generated neural activity. There has been considerable debate about what the relative roles of these two types of activity are in visual system development (Ruthazer and Aizenman, 2010). Early developmental events rely on spontaneous activity before eye opening (Galli and Maffei, 1988; Wong et al., 1993; Feller et al., 1996; Weliky and Katz, 1999; Wong, 1999; Chiu and Weliky, 2001; Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Mrsic-Flogel et al., 2005; Xu et al., 2011; Ackman et al., 2012) and in some cases light through unopened eyelids (Akerman et al., 2002; Colonnese et al., 2010). Light-evoked visual experience after eye opening plays a role in the development of some visual cortical receptive field (RF) properties but not others, for reasons that are unclear. Initial development of orientation selectivity and ocular dominance occurs without visual experience, but sharpening and maintenance of these properties requires visual experience (for review see Huberman et al., 2008; Espinosa and Stryker, 2012). In contrast, direction selectivity requires visual experience for even rudimentary development in ferrets (Li et al., 2006), but not in mice (Rochefort et al., 2011), illustrating that species differences also exist.

RF refinement is an important aspect of the progressive improvement of visual perceptual acuity, and thus may be especially critical for survival. There is a lack of consensus regarding the time course of RF refinement and its dependence on visual experience. Part of this lack of clarity may arise from species differences and differences in the dependence of different brain regions on visual experience. In rat primary visual cortex (V1), the majority of RF refinement occurs by P30 (Fagiolini et al., 1994), whereas there is little refinement by that age in mouse V1 (Ko et al., 2013) or hamster superior colliculus (Carrasco et al., 2005) even when differences in rate of development are taken into account (Clancy et al., 2001). Synaptogenesis in V1 proceeds normally in enucleated monkeys or pre-term monkeys exposed to light, but visual experience is required for fine tuning the location of dendritic spines (Bourgeois et al., 1989; Bourgeois and Rakic, 1996), and thus is likely to be necessary for RF refinement. The role of visual experience in development and plasticity of RFs has received little study. RF refinement is an activity-dependent process (Meyer, 1983; Thompson and Holt, 1989; Cook et al., 1999; Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Guido, 2008; for review see Espinosa and Stryker, 2012). Previous studies have reported that RFs in primary visual cortex (V1) of dark-reared (DR) animals are enlarged (Fagiolini et al., 1994; Gianfranceschi et al., 2003) and behavioral measures show reduced visual acuity (Timney et al., 1978), but it is unclear whether the RFs never refined or whether they refined but were not maintained in a refined state.

In contrast to the critical role of vision reported for these several aspects of cortical development, early visual experience is not necessary for RF refinement in the developing visual midbrain (superior colliculus-SC) (Carrasco et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2010)(Fig. 2.1*A*, *1*-2). In hamsters DR from birth, RFs in SC refine normally by P60 (Fig. 2.1*A*, 2) but become enlarged by P90 (Fig. 2.1*A*, *3*)(Carrasco et al., 2005). A period of light-evoked activity after, but not before, P21 is sufficient to maintain the RFs in their refined state (Fig. 2.1*A*, *4*-7), but cannot rescue RFs that have already enlarged as a result of chronic light deprivation (Carrasco and Pallas 2006) (Fig. 2.1*A*,8). These results from previous studies of the SC led us to challenge the notion that vision is necessary and spontaneous retinal activity is not sufficient for RF refinement in V1.



Figure 2.1. Summary of previous findings in SC

The black bars represent DR, the white bars with eye symbol represent rearing under a normal light cycle, and the gray circles represent RF size. These experiments showed that RFs in the SC refine without visual experience, but that a period of early visual experience is necessary for maintenance of the refined RFs during DR that continues into adulthood (Carrasco et al., 2005; Carrasco and Pallas, 2006). (*B*) Experimental design for V1 experiments. (*C*) Experimental design for SC experiments.

Here we report that, contrary to previous thinking, spontaneous activity appears to be sufficient for the developmental refinement of RFs in both SC and V1, although late juvenile visual experience is essential to forestall the negative effects of chronic DR that occurs in adulthood. Our findings highlight the importance of spontaneous activity and the relative unimportance of visual experience in directing visual system development and suggest a heretofore unexamined role of visual experience in preventing future cortical plasticity.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Animals and rearing conditions

Syrian hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*) were used in this and the previous related studies due to their short gestation time, robust visual responses, and the abundance of data on their developmental plasticity (Razak et al., 2010). In total, 57 hamsters of both sexes were used in this study. All of the procedures involving animals met or exceeded standards of humane care developed by the National Institutes of Health and the Society for Neuroscience and were approved by the Georgia State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Hamsters were obtained from Charles River Laboratories or Harlan and bred in-house. Normally reared hamsters were kept on a 14/10 h light/dark cycle. DR hamsters were maintained in a locked, light-tight dark room protected from the hallway lights by a locked, dark anteroom with blackout curtains at each door. Animals were exposed only briefly to a dim red light for husbandry purposes, at a wavelength not visible to Syrian hamsters (Huhman et al., 1999). Pregnant dams of DR pups were moved into a darkroom before or on the day of parturition (eye opening is ~P12 in Syrian hamsters). DR hamsters that were exposed to light for 3-18 days were moved from the darkroom into a room with a 14/10 h light/dark cycle.

2.3.2 Surgery

Animals were prepared for terminal *in vivo* electrophysiological recordings as described previously (Pallas and Finlay, 1989; Carrasco and Pallas, 2006). Atropine (0.05 mg/kg) and dexamethasone (1 mg/kg) were administered pre-operatively, and anesthesia was induced with urethane (2 g/kg, in 4 i.p. administrations). The depth of anesthesia was monitored during the experiments by checking withdrawal reflexes, pulse and breathing rates, and blood oxygenation, with supplemental doses of urethane given as needed. For recordings made in the SC, the overlying right cortex was removed by aspiration. Removal of the cortex has no observable effect on SC neuron RF properties in hamsters, except for a loss of direction tuning (Rhoades and Chalupa, 1978b; Razak and Pallas, 2005). The left eye was stabilized with a suture through the conjunctiva and protected with a plano contact lens.

2.3.3 Electrophysiology

Single units were recorded extracellularly with Teflon-coated tungsten electrodes (1-3 M Ω) *in vivo*. The SC recordings were made within 200 µm of the surface to ensure that all recorded units were within the superficial, retinorecipient layers. The V1 recordings were made within the area defined as the primary visual cortex in a hamster brain atlas (Morin and Wood, 2001). Signals were amplified, filtered (10000X; 0.5 - 3 kHz; Bak Electronics A-1), and digitized using Spike2 software and CED hardware (20 kHz; Micro 1401; Cambridge Electronic Design).

2.3.4 Visual stimulus presentation

Visual stimuli used in both V1 and SC recordings were delivered to a CRT monitor positioned 40 cm from the left eye. For recordings made in V1, two different simple visual stimuli were presented: a flashing square, and a moving bar. The 2° white square on a black background was presented for 300 ms, followed by a 1 s interstimulus interval, and repeated at 2° intervals across the horizontal meridian of the screen. This stimulus was chosen because it activated the majority of units and is not susceptible to potential errors caused by activity that can continue after a moving stimulus leaves the RF. The 2° wide, 20° long, vertically-oriented, white moving bar stimulus on a black background was drifted across the screen in one and then in the opposite direction at 20 °/s, with a 3 s interstimulus interval. This stimulus was added because it is commonly used to activate V1 neurons, facilitating comparison with previous work. For recordings made in the SC, a 1° square was drifted at 14 °/s from the top to the bottom of the screen at successive nasotemporal locations, shifting 2° each presentation, as in a previous study (Carrasco et al., 2005).

2.3.5 Analysis of RFs

Single units were isolated by offline spike sorting using Wave_clus (Quiroga et al., 2004) and analyzed with Matlab. Analyses were conducted blind to the condition of the animal to prevent experimenter bias.

The flashing square data obtained from V1 were analyzed by plotting the location at which responses were produced as the square was progressively repositioned across the horizontal meridian of the visual field. A uniform fraction of the peak response (20%) was defined as the minimum stimulusevoked response threshold, as in a previous study of SC (Carrasco et al., 2005). The horizontal extent of the locations within which the stimulus elicited an above threshold response was defined as the RF width. This method of RF width measurement is not affected by differences in spontaneous activity, such as may occur after DR.

The moving bar data obtained from V1 were analyzed by plotting peri-stimulus time histograms (PSTHs) with 50 ms time bins, and again using a uniform fraction of the peak response (20%) as the threshold. SC RF widths were calculated as above, using the horizontal extent of the region within which the drifting square elicited a response at least 20% of the peak response.

For the SC, in addition to the RF analysis methods outlined above, we also estimated RF areas by fitting a two-dimensional Gaussian function to reconstructions of the spatial area within which the drifting square visual stimulus elicited responses (Tavazoie and Reid, 2000; Chandrasekaran et al., 2005). Only RFs with high quality Gaussian fits were used (defined as having coefficient of determination (R^2) values ≥ 0.6). We estimated the RF area as an ellipse using the thresholds calculated as described above. To provide a measure of the shape of RFs, we used the ratio of the width of the RF to the height of the RF.

2.3.6 Putative excitatory and inhibitory unit classification

V1 units were classified as broad-spiking (putative excitatory) or narrow-spiking (putative inhibitory) units using two discrimination parameters calculated from the average waveform of each

extracellularly isolated unit: the ratio of the peak height to the trough depth, and the time from the peak to its return to zero voltage (Mitchell et al., 2007; Niell and Stryker, 2008; Mruczek and Sheinberg, 2012). Waveforms of each unit in V1 were averaged, interpolated, normalized and separated by *k*-means clustering (Matlab clustering toolbox). Units from recordings made with the flashing square and moving bar were analyzed separately, because in some cases the same units responded to both stimuli. Using other discrimination parameters including the slope after the peak, or the time between the trough and following peak, in place of or in addition to the return to zero time parameter, resulted in similar clusters. Some units that were used in the cluster analysis were not used for RF width analyses because they did not have a delimited RF, but they were used to estimate the number of putative inhibitory and excitatory units. RFs of putative excitatory and inhibitory V1 neurons from the groups that had enlarged RFs (P90DR and P37-40 light). RF widths were normalized to the mean of the refined RF group for each visual stimulus in order to combine both data sets. This was necessary to improve statistical power, because we expected to encounter relatively few narrow-spiking units. The majority of V1 neurons are excitatory (broad-spiking) neurons.

2.3.7 Statistical analyses

Student's *t*-tests or one-way analyses of variance (ANOVAs) followed by Tukey's post hoc tests were used for normally distributed data with equal variance between groups. These data are presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM). For data that did not meet these requirements, Mann-Whitney rank sum tests or Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks were used, followed by Dunn's post hoc tests and presented as median \pm interquartile range (IQR).

2.4 Results

In order to investigate the role of visual experience in RF refinement, six experimental groups were used for recordings in V1 (Fig. 2.1*B*): normally reared P25-35 ("P30 Normal", n = 4): normally reared adults >P90 ("P90 Normal", n = 5), DR P55-65 ("P60DR", n = 8), DR adults >P90DR ("P90DR", n = 5); DR adults that received light from P33-40 ("P33-40 light", n = 4), or from P37-40 ("P37-40 light", n = 5). Another six groups were used for SC recordings (Fig. 2.1*C*): normally reared adults >P90 ("P90 Normal", n = 4), adults that received light from P8-21 ("P8-21 light", n = 5), P60 hamsters that received light from P8-21 ("P8-21 light", n = 5), P60 hamsters that received light from P8-21 and were recorded at P60 ("P8-21 light", n = 5), and DR adults >P90 that had received light from P22-40 ("P22-40 light", n = 4), from P33-40 ("P33-40 light", n = 4), or from P37-40 ("P37-40 light", n = 4).

2.4.1 Dark rearing to P60 does not prevent RF refinement in V1

Visual cortical RFs refine during development through activity-dependent mechanisms, but the roles of visual experience versus spontaneous activity are unclear. We used *in vivo* extracellular electrophysiology to test whether V1 RFs require visual experience for refinement. RF widths were measured by flashing a 2° square of light in different locations across the visual field in young (P30) and adult (P90) hamsters (Fig. 2.2*A*). This type of stimulus was used for determination of RF width because it effectively elicited neuronal responses but did not evoke the prolonged discharges that can occur after a moving stimulus leaves the RF (Hensch et al., 1998). We found that cortical RFs of young hamsters were markedly larger than RFs in adult hamsters (Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, *n* = 182, p < 0.001; Dunn's post hoc test for P90 Normal: $14 \pm 4^\circ$, *n* = 40; vs. P30 Normal: $32 \pm 16^\circ$ *n* = 37, p < 0.05, Fig. 2.2*B*,*C*). This suggests that RFs refine from a very large size to a much smaller size during development, and that even 2-3 weeks after eye opening, the RFs remain approximately twice as large as in adults.

In order to determine whether visual experience is necessary for this developmental refinement of RFs in V1, we measured RFs in hamsters that were DR until P60. We chose P60 because a previous

study showed that RFs in the visual midbrain SC refine by P60 in both normally reared and DR hamsters (Carrasco et al., 2005). Large, unrefined RFs in DR animals would support the hypothesis that visual experience is necessary for refinement. Alternatively, RF refinement in V1 might occur under the influence of spontaneous retinal activity, independent of visual experience, as in the SC. In the latter case, animals that are visually deprived until adulthood should have refined, adult-size RFs. We found that the P60DR hamsters had RF widths that were not significantly different from those in the normally reared adult hamsters (P90 Normal: $14 \pm 4^\circ$, n = 40; vs. P60DR: $14 \pm 6^\circ$, n = 69, Dunn's post hoc test, p > 0.05, Fig. 2.2B,C). These results support the interpretation that visual activity is not necessary for developmental refinement of RFs in hamster V1.

2.4.2 Dark rearing to P90 caused a failure to maintain RF refinement in V1

In the SC, the RFs that have been refined during development require visual input during a late juvenile critical period in order to maintain the refined state (Carrasco et al., 2005). To determine whether this is also true in V1, hamsters were dark-reared from birth until P90, and RF widths were compared with those measured in normally-reared animals (Fig. 2.2*A*, P90 Normal and P90DR). Chronic DR to P90 led to significantly larger RFs than in normally reared animals (P90 Normal: $14 \pm 4^{\circ}$, n = 40; vs. P90DR: $18 \pm 6^{\circ}$, n = 36, Dunn's post hoc test, p < 0.05, (Fig. 2.2*B*,*C*). These data suggest that, as in the SC, visual experience is necessary to maintain the refined RFs of V1 neurons into adulthood, even though it is not necessary for the initial refinement process during postnatal development.



Figure 2.2. Visual experience is necessary for adult maintenance but not developmental refinement of RFs in V1.

(*A*) Experimental design for V1 experiments. Conventions as in Fig. 2.1. (*B*) To test whether visual experience is necessary for refinement and maintenance of RFs in V1, a flashing square stimulus was presented in different locations across the visual field to plot the RFs. RFs were larger at P30 than at P90 (*P < 0.05), showing that refinement of cortical RFs occurs in hamster cortex. DR from birth to P60 did not alter the width of RFs compared to normally reared animals, suggesting that visual experience is not necessary for refinement of visual cortical RFs during development. In contrast, DR until P90 caused an expansion of RFs (*P < 0.05) compared to the P90 Normal group and the P60 DR group, indicating that

DR causes enlargement of previously refined RFs. Data are presented as median \pm IQR. (*C*) Cumulative probability plots showing distribution of data in B.

2.4.3 One week but not 3 days of late juvenile visual experience was sufficient to maintain refined RFs in V1

After finding that visual experience is necessary for maintenance of refined RFs in V1, the duration of visual experience sufficient to maintain RFs was determined by exposing animals to 3 or 7 days of visual experience, preceded and followed by DR (Fig. 2.3A). It was previously reported that visual experience from P21-40 was sufficient to maintain RF sizes in SC despite DR (Carrasco and Pallas, 2006). We found that one week (P33-40) of late juvenile visual experience followed by DR to P90 was sufficient to maintain V1 RFs in their refined state, although 3 days from P37-40 was not sufficient (Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, n = 112, p < 0.05, P90 Normal: $14 \pm 4^{\circ}$, n = 40; P33-40 light: $16 \pm 4^{\circ}$, n = 34; P37-40 light: $16 \pm 6^{\circ}$, n = 38, Dunn's post hoc test, P90 Normal vs. P37-40 light: p < 0.05, Fig. 2.3*B*,*C*). Note that we report the median and IQR of these data because they are not normally distributed. Although the medians for both the P33-40 light and P37-40 light groups were 16°, there was a higher proportion of very large RFs in the P37-40 light group (see distribution in Fig. 2.3C), which accounts for the significant difference between that group and the P90 Normal group. The means and SEM of these groups are as follows: Normally reared: $14.3 \pm 0.95^{\circ}$; P33-40 light: $15.8 \pm 0.59^{\circ}$; P37-40 light: $18.2 \pm 1.18^{\circ}$. Thus, as in SC, late juvenile visual experience prevents DR-induced expansion of RFs in adulthood, suggesting that a similar mechanism may underlie experience-independent RF refinement and experience-dependent RF maintenance in both visual areas.



Figure 2.3. One week of late juvenile visual experience prevents deprivation induced RF enlargement in adulthood.

(*A*) Experimental design. Conventions as in Fig. 2.1. (*B*) Effect of a brief period of normal light cycle from P33-40 or P37-40 on DR-induced RF enlargement. The P33-40 light group had RFs that were normal in width. However, the P37-40 light group had significantly enlarged RFs (*P < 0.05, compared to P90 Normal). Data are presented as median ± IQR. (*C*) Cumulative probability plots showing distribution of data in *B*. Note that the difference between groups is due to an increased proportion of large RFs.

2.4.4 Type of visual stimulus did not influence RF width measurements in V1

The difference in our results compared to previous reports (Fagiolini et al., 1994; Gianfranceschi et al., 2003) on the relationship between visual experience and RF development could potentially be explained by methodological differences. One difference is that we used a flashing square stimulus instead of moving bars of light as an assay for RF size. Thus, to determine whether stimulus shape and motion could influence the results, we repeated the experiments above with a moving bar stimulus. The bars were moved slowly across the visual field to reduce the prolonged discharges that can be elicited by rapidly moving stimuli. Examples of RF responses to this stimulus in Fig. 2.4 show responses from a P90 Normal unit and a P90DR unit and how PSTHs were measured to calculate RF width.



Figure 2.4. Examples of extracellular recordings and RF plots from P90 Normal and P90DR V1. (A) Typical responses to a moving bar. The visual field area within which the neuron responds (RF width) of a neuron in the P90 Normal adult (black trace) is narrower compared to that in the neuron in the P90DR case (gray trace). RF PSTHs of the P90 Normal (B) and P90DR (C) shown in A, after single unit isolation. The dashed vertical lines represent onset and offset of the moving bar stimulus. The arrowheads indicate the 20% peak threshold used to calculate RF width.

As with the flashing square stimulus, we observed a significant effect of the duration of DR on RF width using a moving bar (Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, n = 141, p < 0.001). The RF width measured using the moving bar stimulus was similar in the P90 Normal and P60DR hamsters (P90

Normal: $10 \pm 8^{\circ}$, n = 23; P60DR: $12 \pm 8^{\circ}$, n = 56, Dunn's post hoc test, p > 0.05; Fig. 2.5*A*,*B*), but as expected, RFs in the P30 Normal group were significantly larger than in both the P90 normally reared group (P30 Normal: $20 \pm 13^{\circ}$, n = 39; P90 Normal: $10 \pm 8^{\circ}$, n = 23; Dunn's post hoc test, p < 0.05, Fig. 2.5*A*,*B*) and in the group that was DR until after P90 (P90DR: $19 \pm 13^{\circ}$, n = 23; Dunn's post hoc test, p < 0.05, Fig. 2.5*A*,*B*).



Figure 2.5. Type of visual stimulus did not influence RF width measurements in V1.

To test whether the motion or shape of the visual stimulus used to plot the RF had an effect on the RF width estimates, we repeated the experiment using a moving light bar stimulus. (*A*) As with the flashing square stimulus, RF width estimates using the moving bar stimulus were significantly larger in the P30 normal and P90DR groups (*P < 0.05) compared to the P90 Normal group. These experiments suggest that visual experience is necessary for adult maintenance but not for developmental refinement of RFs. (*B*) Cumulative probability plots showing distribution of data in *A*. (*C*) As with the flashing square stimulus, RF width estimates were significantly larger in the P37-40 light group. These experiments suggest that the type of visual stimulus used to estimate RF width did not affect our results, and supports

the conclusion that 7 days of visual experience beginning at P33 is sufficient to maintain V1 RFs in a refined state despite chronic DR into adulthood, but 3 days beginning at P37 is not. (*D*) Cumulative probability plots showing distribution of data in *C*. Data are presented as median \pm IQR.

We also used the moving bar stimulus to assay RF widths in adult DR animals that had experienced light from either P33-40 or from P37-40, and the results were again similar to those obtained with the flashing square stimulus. The group that experienced light for one week had RFs that were similar in width to RFs in the normally reared group, but the group that experienced light for 3 days had RFs that were significantly larger than seen in the normally reared group (P90 Normal: $10 \pm 8^{\circ}$, n = 23; P33-40 light: $14 \pm 6^{\circ}$, n = 27; P37-40 light: $17 \pm 10^{\circ}$, n = 37; Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, n = 87, p < 0.001; Dunn's post hoc tests, P90 Normal vs. P33-40 light: p > 0.05, P90 Normal vs. P37-40: p < 0.05, Fig. 2.5*C*,*D*). These results suggest that postnatal visual experience is indeed necessary for maintenance but not for refinement of RFs, and that this result is not due to the type of stimulus (flashed square or moving bar) used to measure the RFs.

To test whether RFs continue expanding after P90 in DR animals, we tested for a correlation between age and RF width within the >P90DR group. The animals in the >P90 group ranged in age from P104 to P120. RF widths measured using both stimulus types were combined because there was no significant difference in their means (Flashing square: $17.94 \pm 0.98^{\circ}$ vs moving bar: $17.48 \pm 1.49^{\circ}$, *t*-test , p = 0.786). There was no significant correlation between age and RF width (p = 0.119, Fig. 2.6A), suggesting that RFs do not continue to expand after P104, at least not by P120.



Figure 2.6. The effect of age on DR-induced RF enlargement and the effect of age and experience on spontaneous activity.

(*A*) There was no correlation between age after P90DR and RF width, suggesting that RFs do not continue to enlarge. Data are presented as mean \pm SEM. (*B*) Spontaneous activity was higher in P30 and P90DR animals compared to P90 Normal (**P* < 0.05). Data are presented as median \pm IQR.

2.4.5 DR increased spontaneous activity in V1

Spontaneous activity was quantified for each unit as the spike rate during a 1-5 s period before the first stimulus presentation. We found that spontaneous activity was higher in the P30 Normal and P90DR groups compared to the P90 Normal group (P30 Normal: 1.29 ± 2.24 , n = 65; P90 Normal: 0.36 ± 1.12 , n = 50; P60DR: 0.52 ± 1.49 , n = 106; P90DR: 1.26 ± 3.10 , n = 52; P33-40 light: 1.00 ± 1.54 , n =55; P37-40 light: 0.49 ± 1.45 , n = 72; Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, n = 400, p < 0.001, Fig. 2.6*B*). Note that our method of RF determination is independent of the level of spontaneous firing. The finding that these groups have the largest RFs suggests a relationship between lack of refinement and levels of spontaneous activity, which could result from a loss of inhibition.

2.4.6 Both putative excitatory and putative inhibitory V1 units fail to maintain refined RFs

Inhibitory neurons provide lateral inhibition that keeps the excitatory center of RFs constrained (Sengpiel et al., 1997). The mean increase in RF size of the population of units we studied in DR animals may be caused by an increase in RFs of excitatory neurons, which constitute the majority of neurons in V1. In addition, a decrease in the RF size or strength of inhibitory neurons could contribute to the expanded RFs of the majority of neurons recorded, due to a reduction of lateral inhibition. To investigate which type of neurons exhibit enlarged RFs after DR, units were classified as being either broad-spiking or narrow-spiking (Fig. 2.7A-D). Narrow-spiking neurons are likely inhibitory neurons because their action potentials are brief compared to action potentials of excitatory neurons (McCormick et al., 1985). This difference in spike duration can be utilized to identify putative excitatory and inhibitory neurons (Mitchell et al., 2007; Niell and Stryker, 2008; Durand et al., 2012; Mruczek and Sheinberg, 2012). In this study, 17% of the units were classified as putative inhibitory neurons, which is similar to proportions reported in visual cortex of rat (15%) (Lin et al., 1986), mouse (19%) (Tamamaki et al., 2003; Niell and Stryker, 2008), cat (21%) (Gabbott and Somogyi, 1986), and monkey (20%) (Hendry et al., 1987). RFs of putative excitatory and inhibitory neurons from the groups that had enlarged RFs (P90DR and P37-40 light) were combined to improve statistical power and compared with groups that had refined RFs (P90 Normal, P60DR, P33-40 light). RFs of putative excitatory units were significantly enlarged (refined group: $100.0\% \pm 2.4\%$, n = 162; enlarged group: $129.5\% \pm 5.6\%$, n = 96, Mann-Whitney rank sum test, p < 0.001, Fig. 2.7*E*). RFs of putative inhibitory units were also significantly enlarged (refined group: $100.0\% \pm 7.9\%$, n = 26; enlarged group: $140.0\% \pm 12.8\%$, n = 22, *t*-test, p = 0.008, Fig. 2.7*F*. These data argue that enlargement of RFs in both excitatory and inhibitory neurons contribute to the overall enlarged RFs in groups with insufficient visual experience to maintain them in a refined state.



Figure 2.7. Both putative excitatory and putative inhibitory units have expanded RFs in the absence of sufficient postnatal visual experience.

Scatter plot of waveform discrimination parameters for moving bar data (A) and flashing square data (C) demonstrate categorization of broad-spiking (putative excitatory units, black) and narrow-spiking (putative inhibitory units, gray). Normalized waveforms of all units using moving bar (B) or flashing square (D) stimuli. RFs of both putative excitatory units (E) and putative inhibitory units (F) contribute

to enlarged RFs in P90DR and P37-40 light groups compared to groups with refined RFs (P90 Normal, P60DR and P33-40 light groups, *P < 0.05). Data are presented as mean ± SEM.

2.4.7 Late but not early juvenile visual experience was sufficient to maintain refined RFs in SC

Given the finding that RF maintenance in V1 was achieved with 7 but not 3 days of late juvenile visual experience during visual deprivation, we investigated whether this requirement was similar in SC. The SC is essential for visual orientation in rodents (Schneider, 1969; Carman and Schneider, 1992). Both the retina and V1 send strong inputs directly to SC. In a previous study we demonstrated that visual experience from P8-40 is sufficient to maintain SC RFs, but P8-21 is not a sufficient exposure time (Carrasco and Pallas, 2006). Thus, in a related set of experiments, we tested the duration of visual experience necessary to maintain SC RF size and whether it is similar to or different from the duration of experience necessary for RF maintenance in V1. We generated four groups of hamsters that received progressively restricted durations of visual experience: 13 early days (P8-21), 18 late days (P22-40), 7 late days (P33-40) or 3 late days (P37-40), preceded and followed by DR (Fig. 2.8A). Extracellular electrophysiological recordings in superficial SC were performed to estimate RF size after P90, which is the point when RFs would have expanded in DR animals.



Figure 2.8. Late but not early juvenile visual experience was sufficient to maintain refined RFs in SC.

(*A*) Experimental design for SC study. Conventions as in Fig. 2.1. (*B*) Maintenance of RF width in SC during DR requires precise timing of visual experience. Animals were DR from before birth and exposed to light from P8-21, P22-40 or P33-40, followed by DR until >P90, when RFs would become enlarged during continuous DR. Late visual experience from P22-40, P33-40 or P37-40 was sufficient to maintain RF width in adulthood (>P90) but early visual experience from P8-21 was not sufficient, compared to the P90 Normal group (*P < 0.05). Data are presented as median ± IQR. (*C*) Cumulative probability plots showing distribution of data in *B*.

Consistent with previous results (Carrasco and Pallas, 2006), we found an effect of the duration of visual experience on RF width in SC (Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, n = 310, p < 0.001). Early visual experience from P8-21, preceded and followed by DR, was not sufficient to maintain refined SC RF widths beyond P90 (P8-21 light: 18 ± 6.75°, n = 95; vs. P90 Normal: 14 ± 4°, n = 62, Dunn's post hoc test, p < 0.05; Fig. 2.8*B*,*C*). However, either 18 (P22-40), 7 (P33-40), or 3 (P37-40) days of late visual experience was sufficient to maintain adult size RF width beyond P90 during DR (P22-40 light: 14 ± 4°, n = 49; P33-40 light: 14 ± 4°, n = 29; P37-40 light: 14 ± 4, n = 75, Dunn's post hoc tests, p > 0.05, Fig. 2.8*B*,*C*). Analysis of RF areas was consistent with analysis of RF widths (Fig. 2.9*A*,*B*). As with the width analysis, there was also an effect of visual experience on RF area (Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, n = 275, p < 0.001). Early visual experience from P8-21 was not sufficient to maintain refined RF areas beyond P90 (P8-21 light: $326 \pm 214^\circ$, n = 79; vs. P90 Normal: $169 \pm 140^\circ$, n =58, Dunn's post hoc test, p < 0.05, Fig. 2.9*A*,*B*). However, the other 3 groups that received later visual experience had SC RF areas that were not significantly different from those of the normally reared animals (P22-40 light: $219 \pm 121^\circ$, n = 45; P33-40 light: $227 \pm 98^\circ$, n = 22; P37-40 light: $161 \pm 91^\circ$, n =71, Dunn's post hoc test, P90 Normal vs. P22-40 light: $227 \pm 98^\circ$, n = 22; P37-40 light: $161 \pm 91^\circ$, n =



Figure 2.9. Maintenance of RF area in SC during DR requires late visual experience.

(*A*) Late juvenile visual experience from P22-40, P33-40 or P37-40 was sufficient to maintain RF area in adulthood (>P90) despite DR, but early visual experience from P8-21 was not sufficient, compared to the P90 Normal group (*P < 0.05). (*B*) Cumulative probability plots showing distribution of data in *A*. (*C*) The shape of RFs is maintained in groups that have expanded RFs. The width/height ratios of the RFs were not affected, even though the RF sizes were larger in the group that received light from P8-21 compared to all other groups. This suggests that RFs expanded equally in horizontal and vertical directions. (*D*, *E*) Example RF area plots: refined RF of normal adult (*D*, upper panel) and enlarged RF of P8-21 light (*E*, upper panel) and their fitted 2D Gaussians used to calculate area and width/height ratio (*D* and *E*, lower panels). Gray level represents response level, with white corresponding to peak response and black corresponding to zero. Data are presented as median ± IQR.

A change in RF shape could indicate a rearrangement of retinocollicular inputs as seen under the condition of disrupted retinal waves (Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Mrsic-Flogel et al., 2005). Using the

RF area estimates obtained from SC, we found that the width and height of the RFs changed in parallel, such that the enlarged RFs were expanded in both the horizontal and vertical axes (Fig. 2.9*C*). Although RF area was enlarged in the group that received light from P8-21, there were no differences between the width/height ratios in that or any other group (Kruskal-Wallis one-way ANOVA on ranks, n = 275, p = 0.282; P90 Normal: 0.94 ± 0.43 , n = 58; P8-21 light: 0.92 ± 0.25 , n = 79; P22-40 light: 0.92 ± 0.70 , n = 45; P33-40 light: 1.03 ± 0.48 , n = 22; P37-40 light: 0.92 ± 0.38 , n = 71, Fig. 2.9*C*). Examples of refined and expanded RFs are shown in Fig. 2.9*D*,*E*.

In sum, these data suggest that there is a sensitive period after P21 when as little as 3 days of visual experience are sufficient to prevent DR-induced RF enlargement and thus maintain a refined, adult RF size in SC.

2.4.8 Early juvenile visual experience that is not sufficient to maintain RFs does not prevent RF refinement in SC

Animals that are either normally reared or DR have refined RFs at P60 in the SC (Carrasco et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2010). Our finding that visual experience from P8-21 resulted in enlarged RFs after P90 might also be explained by a failure to maintain refined RFs, as in animals that have been DR from birth until P90. Alternatively, the enlarged RFs could be caused by RFs failing to refine. To distinguish between these hypotheses, we measured RF sizes in the P8-21 light group at P60 when normal or DR animals already have refined RFs. We found that the RFs of neurons from the P8-21 DR group were refined at P60 (P8-21 light width at P60: $12 \pm 4^{\circ}$, n = 62; vs. P90 Normal: $14 \pm 4^{\circ}$, n = 62, Dunn's post hoc test, p > 0.05; P8-21 light area at P60: $106 \pm 75^{\circ}$, n = 66; vs. P90 Normal: $169 \pm 140^{\circ}$, n = 58, Dunn's post hoc test, p > 0.05; Fig. 2.10). These results rule out the alternative hypothesis that early visual experience prevents RF refinement in SC, but is insufficient to forestall RF enlargement in adulthood.



Figure 2.10. Early visual experience does not prevent refinement of RFs in SC.

This experiment tested the alternative hypothesis that enlarged RFs in animals that received early visual experience from P8-21 were caused by a failure of RFs to refine rather than a failure to maintain their refined state. Single unit RFs were measured at P60 in animals that had visual experience from P8-21 preceded and followed by DR. (*A*) Experimental design. Conventions as in Fig. 2.1. We found that RF width (*B*) and RF area (*C*) were not different than in P90 Normal controls, refuting the alternate hypothesis that early light exposure prevented RF refinement. Data are presented as median \pm IQR.

2.5 Discussion

The experiments described in this study demonstrate that RF refinement in V1 of Syrian hamsters occurs without visual experience, arguing that spontaneous activity is sufficient for developmental refinement of RFs in both SC and V1. One week of late juvenile visual experience from P33-40 was sufficient to prevent both SC and V1 RFs from becoming enlarged at P90, whereas 3 days from P37-40 was sufficient to protect SC but insufficient to maintain V1 RFs. These data argue that visual experience must occur during a late juvenile sensitive period in order to forestall deprivation-induced adult RF plasticity in both the form vision (retinogeniculocortical) and spatial orientation (retinocollicular) pathways, but that V1 requires a longer duration of exposure than SC (Fig. 2.11).



Figure 2.11. Summary of findings: Precise timing of visual experience prevents deprivation induced RF plasticity.

Our results show that DR does not prevent RF refinement, but rather causes RFs to expand after P90 in V1, as in SC. This RF plasticity can be prevented by visual experience from P33-40 in both SC and V1 and from P37-40 in SC only.

2.5.1 Spontaneous retinal activity is sufficient to refine SC and V1 RFs

The present study refutes the alternative hypothesis that the vision-independence of RF refinement in SC (Carrasco et al., 2005; Carrasco and Pallas, 2006; Wang et al., 2010) is a subcortical area-specific phenomenon. Both SC and V1 neurons can refine their RFs without visual experience, likely through spontaneous activity (Pfeiffenberger et al., 2006). This finding is consistent with reports that LGN exhibits normal physiological responses after prolonged DR (Hendrickson and Boothe, 1976; Mower et al., 1981a) and that spontaneous activity, rather than visual activity, is necessary for initial retinogeniculate refinement (Hooks and Chen, 2006). Thus, there may be a common, vision-independent mechanism for RF refinement throughout the visual pathway. Current models of visual experience-dependent refinement of RFs may need to be modified to incorporate these findings.

2.5.2 V1 requires different timing of light exposure than SC to prevent deprivation-induced plasticity

The finding that 3 days of exposure to a normal light cycle after P21 was sufficient to maintain SC but not V1 RFs during later DR is interesting because the two areas are heavily interconnected

through the cortico-collicular projection (Rhoades and Chalupa, 1978c; Pallas et al., 1988). This may indicate that visual experience stabilizes circuitry in SC earlier than in V1, or V1 may be more plastic in response to long-term visual deprivation than SC. Although it seems unlikely given that SC matures earlier than V1 (Clancy et al., 2001), we cannot rule out that 3 days of exposure may be sufficient for V1 if it occurs from P33-36, earlier than SC. Further studies are needed to explore the basis for the difference.

In the LGN, DR beginning at P20 causes weakening and an increase in number of retinal inputs to geniculate neurons; more so than DR from birth or from P15 (Hooks and Chen, 2008). This suggests that several days of visual experience are necessary for DR-induced retinogeniculate plasticity. Experiencing light from P37-40 before DR did not cause RFs to enlarge more than did DR from before birth in our study of V1. Whether earlier visual experience (P20-30) promotes RF plasticity in V1 and whether retinogeniculate plasticity underlies these potential changes is an attractive avenue for future study.

2.5.3 The shape of enlarged RFs was maintained in SC

The shape of SC RFs was not affected by DR-induced expansion of the RF areas. The initial formation of the retinocollicular map is under the control of molecular guidance cues and spontaneous activity. The anteroposterior axis is organized by graded interactions between ephrinAs and their EphA receptors (Feldheim et al., 2000) and the dorsoventral axis depends on ephrinB/EphB gradients (Hindges et al., 2002). Disruption of retinal waves during early development results in the development of elongated RFs (Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Mrsic-Flogel et al., 2005). However, spontaneous retinal waves are not affected by DR. For this reason we did not expect to see changes in RF shape.

2.5.4 Comparison with other species

In some studies, DR has been reported to delay or prevent refinement of RFs in visual cortex of rats (Fagiolini et al., 1994) and mice (Gianfranceschi et al., 2003), and to reduce visual acuity of cats

(Timney et al., 1978) and visual responsiveness of monkeys (Regal et al., 1976). This is contrary to our results, which suggest that RF refinement is largely determined by spontaneous activity. As a burrowing rodent species, Syrian hamster pups may not experience light until later than carnivore or primate species. Indeed, Syrian hamsters develop normal circadian systems without visual experience (Kampf-Lassin et al., 2011). Alternatively, the RFs of cats, rats and mice in previous studies may have refined normally during development but enlarged by the time of recording. Some investigators reported that RFs in V1 can be normal in size at early ages in cats (Buisseret and Imbert, 1976; Fregnac and Imbert, 1978; Braastad and Heggelund, 1985), rats (Fortin et al., 1999) and rabbits (Mathers et al., 1974), (but see Fagiolini et al., 1994; Gianfranceschi et al., 2003). Thus, we argue that it is unlikely that our results are specific to hamsters.

2.5.5 The mechanism underlying RF refinement may differ from mechanisms underlying the development of other RF properties

The refinement of RF size differs in several ways from maturation of other RF properties (for review see Daw, 2006). The initial formation of ocular dominance columns in V1 occurs prenatally (Rakic, 1976; Horton and Hocking, 1996; Hevner, 2000) and despite binocular lid suture (Sherk and Stryker, 1976; Crair et al., 1998), dark rearing (Mower et al., 1981b; Stryker and Harris, 1986) or enucleation (Crowley and Katz, 1999). Orientation-specific responses and orientation maps in V1 also begin to form before eye opening (Hubel and Wiesel, 1963; Chapman and Stryker, 1993), and despite dark rearing (Singer et al., 1981) or binocular lid suture (Crair et al., 1998), but adult levels of selectivity develop over the course of several weeks and require visual experience (Bonds, 1979; Leventhal and Hirsch, 1980; Crair et al., 1998). Direction-specific responses in V1 require visual experience for normal development in ferrets (Li et al., 2006), cats (Leventhal and Hirsch, 1980) and rats (Fagiolini et al., 1994), but not mice (Rochefort et al., 2011). Spatial frequency selectivity increases independently of visual experience up to 3 weeks postnatal in cats, but requires visual experience to improve further (Derrington and Fuchs, 1981; Derrington, 1984). Sensitivity to binocular disparity, a measure of depth perception,

increases from birth but does not develop during binocular eyelid suture in cats (Pettigrew, 1974). Our finding that RFs refine to an adult state without light-evoked activity suggests that RF refinement may involve different developmental mechanisms than some of these other receptive field properties.

2.5.6 It is unlikely that the effects of DR on SC and V1 RF size are due to changes in the retina

Dark rearing has little effect on retinal activity measured by electroretinogram (Reuter, 1976), or synaptic input to retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) and amacrine cells (He et al., 2011). Velocity tuning and direction selectivity of RGCs develops during DR (Chan and Chiao, 2008; Elstrott et al., 2008), although segregation into ON and OFF pathways is disrupted (Tian and Copenhagen, 2003). DR in turtles causes spontaneous RGC bursting, which appears to cause enlarged RFs (Sernagor and Grzywacz, 1996). In contrast, DR in rats is reported to strengthen RGC surround inhibition (Chan and Chiao, 2008) and decrease RF size of RGCs (Di Marco et al., 2009). The effects of DR on hamster retina are unknown, and we cannot rule out the possibility that changes in the retina play a part in the observed changes in SC and V1 RF size. However, it is unlikely that DR increases RGC RFs in hamsters and decreases RGC RFs in rats.

2.5.7 What mechanism underlies visual deprivation-induced enlargement of RFs?

Experience-dependent changes in inhibition are thought to be necessary for plastic changes in the visual system. Reducing inhibition in adult V1 permits ocular dominance plasticity (Maya-Vetencourt et al., 2008; Baroncelli et al., 2010; Harauzov et al., 2010; Heimel et al., 2011; Spolidoro et al., 2011; Maya-Vetencourt et al., 2012a). Because lateral inhibition defines the periphery of RFs, any change in inhibition could affect RF size directly (Ramoa et al., 1988). DR reduces inhibition in the SC, which likely underlies DR-induced RF enlargement (Carrasco et al., 2011). It is possible that in V1, as in SC, RF enlargement during DR results from loss of inhibition (Bakkum et al., 1991; Benevento et al., 1992; Benevento et al., 1995). The finding that insufficient visual experience results in enlarged RFs of putative

excitatory and inhibitory neurons suggests that lateral inhibition may be weakened in both classes of neurons.

2.5.8 What mechanism underlies visual experience-dependent prevention of RF plasticity?

Visual experience during postnatal development prevents RF expansion by forestalling RF plasticity in adulthood. Similarly, the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity is prolonged by DR, closed by visual experience (Cynader and Mitchell, 1980; Mower et al., 1983; Fagiolini et al., 1994) and increased by prior MD (Hofer et al., 2006, 2009). Because reducing inhibition in adulthood appears to reactivate cortical plasticity mechanisms (Heimel et al., 2011), visual experience-dependent strengthening of inhibition may prevent it. In V1, visual experience is necessary for developmental strengthening of inhibition (Morales et al., 2002; Katagiri et al., 2007) and for maturation of inhibitory basket cells (Sugiyama et al., 2008). The rise in inhibition initiates ocular dominance plasticity and then closes the critical period through a consolidation of inhibitory synapses (Heimel et al., 2011). Prevention of RF plasticity may also require visual experience-dependent enhancement of inhibition.

2.5.9 What is special about visual experience that spontaneous retinal activity does not provide?

Visual experience evokes higher levels of neural activity than can be provided by spontaneous activity (Crair, 1999; Huberman et al., 2008; Chalupa, 2009). Higher levels of activity may be required to increase the expression of genes critical for normal maturation (Tropea et al., 2006) and activate structural changes preventing plasticity in mature circuits (Pizzorusso et al., 2002; Bence and Levelt, 2005; Pizzorusso et al., 2006; McRae et al., 2007; Balmer et al., 2009; Carulli et al., 2010; Kind et al., 2013). Visually-driven activity increases Npas4, a transcription factor that upregulates plasticity-related genes in V1 such as brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Lin et al., 2008; Maya-Vetencourt et al., 2012b), which in turn stimulates maturation of inhibitory synapses (Rutherford et al., 1997; Huang et al., 1999) and the development and maintenance of visual acuity (Gianfranceschi et al., 2003; Heimel et al., 2010; Schwartz et al., 2011).

2.5.10 Maladaptive plasticity and age-related loss of acuity in humans

Sensory deprivation occurs in humans with diseases of the eye such as macular degeneration and cataract (Lewis and Maurer, 2009), and as in our model, RF expansion and a loss of visual acuity may result. A common mechanism for both RF expansion and loss of sensory acuity may be inhibitory plasticity; reduction of inhibition could enhance the gain of sensory signals, but this comes at the expense of discriminative ability. Indeed, our result that DR until >P90 increased spontaneous activity could be the result of reduced inhibition. Studying how sensory experience prevents maladaptive plasticity could provide insight into age-related loss of sensory acuity in humans (Habak and Faubert, 2000; Leventhal et al., 2003; Betts et al., 2005). Moreover, sensory circuits may develop to a greater extent under conditions of sensory deprivation than previously appreciated. A focus on blocking plasticity and thus maintaining existing sensory processing capacity, rather than enhancing plasticity, may be a beneficial and safer route to recovery from these disorders. Future work investigating how visual experience forestalls maladaptive plasticity will contribute to our understanding of sensitive periods and how they are regulated.

2.6 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the National Science Foundation (IBN-0451018), the National Institutes of Health (EY/MH 12696), the STC Program of the National Science Foundation (IBN-9876754), the Georgia State University Research Foundation, Brains and Behavior Fellowship, Honeycutt Fellowship, and Sigma Xi Grants-in-Aid-of-Research to TSB. We thank Profs. Paul Katz, Peter Wenner, and Vincent Rehder for providing advice on experimental design, Yuting Mao and members of the Pallas Lab for comments on the manuscript and for technical assistance, the animal care staff at GSU, and Erik Tollerud for help with data analysis. Neuroscience Institute, Georgia State University, 100 Piedmont Ave SE, Atlanta, GA. 30303

3 VISUAL EXPERIENCE PREVENTS METAPLASTICITY OF GABA_B RECEPTOR-DEPENDENT SHORT-TERM DEPRESSION IN ADULT SUPERIOR COLLICULUS

Timothy S. Balmer and Sarah L. Pallas

3.1 Abstract

Regulation of critical period plasticity prevents regression of mature circuits to an immature state. Development of GABAergic inhibition is essential for regulation of plasticity. In the superior colliculus (SC), brief, early visual experience preserves refined receptive fields (RFs) into adulthood in dark reared (DR) animals by stabilizing GABAergic inhibition, through an unknown mechanism. Using an acute slice preparation we tested whether early visual experience protects adult SC from subsequent deprivation-induced RF enlargement through alterations in synaptic plasticity. Long-term plasticity was not affected by visual deprivation, indicating that it does not underlie deprivation-induced RF enlargement. In contrast, short-term plasticity was affected by visual deprivation. GABA_BR-mediated paired pulse depression was increased in slices from DR animals. This increase was mimicked by GABA_AR blockade in slices from normally reared animals, suggesting that experience-dependent maintenance of GABA_AR function prevents a change in probability of neurotransmitter release. $GABA_{B}R$ -mediated short-term depression (STD) in response to high frequency stimulation (such as occurs during vision) was reduced in slices from DR animals. This change was mimicked in slices from normal animals by reducing GABA release. Thus, early visual experience-dependent maintenance of GABAergic inhibition prevented later deprivation-induced dysregulation of STD. A difference of Gaussians RF model showed that STD could affect RF size during the first moments of visual stimulation, and that reduced STD elicited by high frequency stimulation may contribute to enlarged RFs in the SC of DR animals. Identifying how plasticity is restricted in mature circuits could instruct therapies to enhance recovery of function in adults.

3.2 Introduction

Development of sensory pathways requires robust plasticity during critical periods, but when neural circuits have matured this plasticity is no longer necessary and is restricted. This restriction stabilizes circuits and prevents regression from the mature state, but also limits recovery from injury and disease. The mechanisms that underlie the transition from flexible to stable circuits remain unclear, yet it is of great importance to elucidate how plasticity is regulated across life stages.

Visual receptive field (RF) refinement occurs during development, increasing perceptual acuity. It occurs in the absence of visual experience in both the superior colliculus (SC) (Carrasco et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2010) and primary visual cortex (V1) (Balmer and Pallas, 2013; Sarnaik et al., 2013). Thus, spontaneous activity alone is sufficient to refine RFs. Late juvenile visual experience is necessary to maintain the refined RFs into adulthood, however (Carrasco and Pallas, 2006; Balmer and Pallas, 2013). DR-induced RF enlargement in SC occurs in part through reduced inhibition (Carrasco et al., 2011). Although it is clear that sensory deprivation reduces inhibition (Benevento et al., 1995; Micheva and Beaulieu, 1995; Kotak et al., 2008) and promotes plasticity (Hensch et al., 1998), the underlying mechanisms are not understood. Here, we investigate the synaptic mechanism through which visual experience stabilizes inhibition and thus restricts SC neuron plasticity in adulthood. We test the hypothesis that dysregulation of inhibition in DR SC results in altered long- or short-term synaptic plasticity that contributes to chronic enlargement of RFs following deprivation. Thus, we hypothesize that visual experience causes metaplasticity in SC. Metaplasticity occurs when a priming event affects later plasticity. In the present study, visual experience is a priming event that restricts later plasticity caused by visual deprivation. Reducing inhibition can cause metaplasticity by increasing the ability to induce long-term synaptic plasticity (Artola et al., 1990), which could strengthen synapses along the outskirts of the RF, increasing RF size. For example, in V1, DR reduces inhibition (Morales et al., 2002) and prolongs the age at which long-term plasticity can be induced (Kirkwood et al., 1995). In addition, dysregulation of inhibition may cause altered presynaptic inhibition and/or neurotransmitter release

probability that could affect short-term synaptic plasticity and could contribute to disrupted sensory processing and enlarged RFs. The effects of visual experience on long- and short-term plasticity in SC are unclear. It would be of interest to know whether the effects of deprivation are similar in different sites within the visual pathway, and if so, whether they share a common or distinct mechanism.

We present evidence here that early visual experience prevents RF plasticity in adult SC by stabilizing GABAergic inhibition and thus maintaining GABA-mediated short-term depression of excitatory synapses. We found that the reductions in GABA_AR-mediated inhibition and GABA content in DR SC shown in a previous study (Carrasco et al., 2011) cause dysregulation of GABA_BR-mediated inhibition, which disrupts short-term (but not long-term) plasticity. Deprivation-induced metaplasticity of STD contributes to RF plasticity in adulthood, which is normally restricted by experience-dependent maintenance of inhibition and STD.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Animals and rearing conditions

Syrian hamsters (*Mesocricetus auratus*) of both sexes were used in this and the previous related studies due to their short gestation time, robust visual responses, and the abundance of data on their developmental plasticity (Chalupa and Rhoades, 1977; Razak et al., 2010). All of the procedures involving animals met or exceeded standards of humane care developed by the National Institutes of Health and the Society for Neuroscience and were approved by the Georgia State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Hamsters were obtained from Charles River Laboratories or Harlan and bred in-house. Normally reared hamsters were kept on a 14/10 h light/dark cycle. DR hamsters were maintained in a light-tight dark room and exposed only briefly to a dim red light for husbandry purposes, at a wavelength not visible to Syrian hamsters (Huhman et al., 1999). Pregnant dams of DR pups were moved into the darkroom prior to parturition.
3.3.2 Slice preparation

Hamsters were deeply anesthetized with isoflurane and the brain was rapidly extracted into icecold 95% O₂/5% CO₂ saturated artificial cerebral spinal fluid containing kynurenic acid (KA-ACSF) (in mM): 123 NaCl, 2.5 KCl, 1 NaH₂PO₄, 1.3 MgSO₄, 26.2, NaHCO₃, 11 glucose, and 2.5 CaCl₂, 0.8 thiourea , 2 sodium pyruvate, 0.4 ascorbic acid, and 1.2 kynurenic acid. The glutamatergic antagonist kynurenic acid was included in the KA-ACSF to suppress any excitotoxic effects of glutamate release that may occur due to tissue slicing. Parasagittal (SC) or coronal (V1) slices were cut at 350 µm using a vibratome and incubated in oxygenated, 32°C KA-ACSF for 1 h followed by the same solution with kynurenic acid omitted for >1 h at room temperature. For recording, individual slices were transferred to a submerged type recording chamber and superfused with the above solution heated to 28°C, minus the kynurenic acid, thiourea, sodium pyruvate and ascorbic acid, at a rate of 1-2 ml/min. In some long-term plasticity experiments the bath temperature was raised to 32°C or 35°C, but the results were not different from the 28°C temperature results and thus the data were combined.

3.3.3 Recording procedures

Recording pipettes were pulled from borosilicate glass (1.5/0.86 mm OD/ID, Narashige PP-830) to resistances from 2-6 M Ω when filled with ACSF. Signals were amplified and low-pass filtered (2-3 kHz, Multiclamp 700B) and digitized using Signal software and CED hardware (50 kHz, Micro 1401; Cambridge Electronic Design).

3.3.4 Analysis of long-term plasticity

To evoke field potential responses, electrical stimuli with 50-100 µs pulse durations were delivered to the stratum opticum of the SC through a concentric bipolar stimulating electrode (Platinum/iridium, FHC Inc., Cat. No. CBBPC75). Stimulation intensity was adjusted to 50-75% of the maximum evoked response. Test stimuli were delivered at 20s intervals over at least 10 minutes of stable recording before and 45 min after the inducing stimulation. Induction protocols that have been shown to produce long-term plasticity in SC in other rodents were used, including 50Hz 20s, 20Hz 20s and 1Hz 300s (Okada and Miyamoto, 1989; Lo and Mize, 2002; Zhao et al., 2006). To determine whether there was a long-term change in synaptic strength after application of the inducing stimulus, the mean peak response during baseline recordings was compared to the mean peak response during an interval 30-40 min after induction. The example field excitatory postsynaptic potentials (fEPSPs) shown are averages of 5-10 trials.

To induce LTP in V1, the stimulation electrode was placed between the white matter and layer 6 and the recording electrode was placed in layer 2/3. Theta burst stimulation (TBS) consisted of 3 episodes delivered at 10 s intervals consisting of 10 trains delivered at 5 Hz each consisting of 4 pulses at 100 Hz as described previously (Kirkwood et al., 1995).

3.3.5 PPR analysis

Paired pulse ratio (PPR) was calculated as the mean of the second response divided by the mean of the first response over a series of trials (Kim and Alger, 2001). In experiments in which the signal did not return to zero before the second pulse, the amplitude of the second pulse was measured relative to the signal during 1 ms before the stimulus artifact. When multiple inter-pulse intervals were used, the stimulus intensity was set to 25% of the maximum. In order to reduce the likelihood of a ceiling effect caused by complete depression of the second pulse (PP2), we increased the stimulus intensity to 75% of the maximum in experiments in which pharmacological agents were applied. Under these conditions, we did not always observe higher paired pulse depression (PPD) in slices from DR animals, which was not unexpected (Platt and Withington, 1997; Kim and Alger, 2001).

3.3.6 Recovery from STD analysis

A conditioning stimulus train consisting of ten 100 µs pulses was delivered at 100 Hz in order to cause strong STD. Stimulation intensity was set to 75% of maximal. A test pulse was delivered 100, 200, 400, 800 or 1200 ms after the conditioning train to measure recovery from STD. Trials were repeated at 1

min intervals. Test stimuli were normalized relative to the first conditioning pulse under the same bath conditions. The time constant of recovery from STD was calculated as the time to reach $1-e^{-1} = 63.2 \%$ recovery from an exponential that was fit to the relative fEPSP amplitudes from 100 - 1200 ms. In experiments in which a drug was bath applied, stimuli were paused for 5 - 20 min for the drug to take maximal effect.

3.3.7 Statistical analysis

Student's t-tests or one-way or two-way analyses of variance (ANOVA), followed by Tukey's post hoc tests were used for normally distributed data with equal variance between groups. For data that did not meet these requirements, Mann–Whitney rank sum tests were used. 'n' values refer to the number of slices. Data are presented as mean ± standard error of the mean.

3.4 Results

The retinocollicular midbrain visual circuit is important for spatial orientation to visual objects (Schneider, 1969). Visual experience is necessary to maintain refined RFs and high visual acuity (Carrasco et al., 2005; Balmer and Pallas, 2013), but it is unclear what mechanisms underlie visual experience-dependent restriction of RF plasticity in the retinocollicular circuit. Here we examine the role of visual experience in metaplasticity of long- and short-term changes in synaptic strength in acute brain slices from Syrian hamsters that were either normally reared or DR from birth until adulthood (P60-70 or >P90).

3.4.1 Characteristics of excitatory postsynaptic field potentials (fEPSPs) recorded from the superficial gray layer of the SC

In order to test the role of visual experience in mechanisms of synaptic plasticity, we utilized an acute SC slice preparation. Retinocollicular afferents are easily visualized entering the rostral SC below the superficial gray layer in parasagittal brain slices. The majority of the axons in the optic layer are RGC

axons, although some are visual cortical projections (Rhoades et al., 1991). Both projections are almost entirely glutamatergic (Lund and Lund, 1971; Mize and Butler, 1996), although a small number of GABAergic RGCs have been reported (Caruso et al., 1989; da Costa et al., 1997).

Figure 3.1 shows how the extracellular field excitatory postsynaptic potential (fEPSP) was characterized for subsequent measurements. Stimulating the glutamatergic afferents in the optic layer (stratum opticum) caused a fEPSP in the superficial gray layer. These fEPSPs are excitatory postsynaptic signals, because they were blocked by bath-applied ionotropic glutamate receptor antagonists CNQX (1 μ M) and APV (100 μ M) (Fig. 3.1A), depressed during high frequency stimulation (Fig. 3.1B), and decreased in latency with increased stimulation intensity (Fig. 3.1C). The fEPSP is likely caused by a combination of synaptic and somatic current sources, because single-unit spikes were occasionally observed near its peak (Fig. 3.1D). The short latency (~3 ms) and short duration (~5 ms) of the fEPSP is consistent with a monosynaptic response, although we do not rule out the possibility of polysynaptic components. Note that though the fEPSP is a postsynaptic response caused by glutamate release, both excitatory and inhibitory postsynaptic neurons are innervated by retinocollicular afferents (Mize, 1988, 1992).



Figure 3.1. The evoked field potential in SC is an excitatory postsynaptic potential (fEPSP)

A) The postsynaptic signal is excitatory, because blocking AMPA and NMDA-type glutamate receptors with CNQX and APV completely blocked the field potential (blue trace; stimulus artifact marked with black triangle). Under glutamate receptor blockade a small presynaptic potential remained (open triangle), which was blocked by tetrodotoxin (TTX) (red trace). B) Decreased responses during rapid (100Hz) stimulation suggests a postsynaptic signal. C) Monotonically decreasing latency at increasing stimulation intensities also suggests a postsynaptic signal. D) Action potentials are occasionally observed that coincide with the peak of the fEPSP, indicating that it is likely a combination of current sources including postsynaptic dendrites and somata. Several overlain traces show that the spike occurs at a consistent latency. Reducing stimulus intensity caused the spike to disappear. E) Current evoked fEPSP responses were not significantly affected by visual experience. Scale bars in A-D 0.2 mV, 5 ms. Reduced inhibition in DR SC (Carrasco et al., 2011) could cause increased excitability that could contribute to enlarged RFs. We measured the amplitude of fEPSPs elicited by stimulating the optic layer with increasing stimulus intensity. The fEPSP amplitude was not different between rearing conditions at any stimulus intensity, supporting the prediction that DR does not affect current-evoked excitability in SC (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, (F (1, 233) = 1.985, N = 40, P = 0.167, Fig. 3.1E). This result was not unexpected, given the preponderance of homeostatic regulatory mechanisms in the central nervous system that may prevent reduced inhibition from increasing overall excitability (Turrigiano, 2011; Wenner, 2011; Maffei et al., 2012) and the lack of increased excitability in DR SC *in vivo* (Carrasco et al., 2005).

3.4.2 Long-term plasticity in SC is not affected by visual experience

In V1, long-term plasticity is maximal during the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity and declines thereafter, but is maintained at the maximal level in V1 of DR animals (Kirkwood et al., 1995). In this series of experiments we tested whether long-term plasticity varies in strength during the critical period for RF plasticity in the SC. SC RFs are large at birth and undergo a period of refinement between birth and P60 (Carrasco et al., 2005). DR animals follow the same pattern of refinement, but between P60 and P70 the RFs enlarge. 3 days of light at P37-40 prevents enlargement in adulthood after P60 (Balmer and Pallas, 2013). It is possible that long-term potentiation (LTP) could have led to RF enlargement between P60 and P70. For example, weak excitatory synaptic inputs on the outskirts of a DR cell's RF could be potentiated that would normally have remained weak with normal visual experience. We predicted that SC slices from DR but not normally reared animals could exhibit juvenile levels of long-term plasticity between P60 and P70.

As expected, long-term plasticity could not be induced in slices from normally reared adults (P60-70). However, the stimulation paradigm also failed to induce long-term plasticity in slices from age-matched DR animals. The summary of experiments using a 50Hz 20s induction protocol is shown in (Fig. 3.2A). 1Hz 300s and 20Hz 20s induction protocols were also used, with similar results. Although

afferent stimulation such as this is unlikely to occur *in vivo*, these protocols have been used to induce long-term plasticity in SC *in vitro* (Okada and Miyamoto, 1989; Lo and Mize, 2002; Zhao et al., 2006). The mean fEPSP amplitude from 30-40 min post induction relative to the mean fEPSP amplitude during the 10 min baseline was not significantly different between rearing conditions for any induction protocol (Student's t-tests: 1Hz 300s Normal: 0.970 ± 0.0739 , n = 5 vs. DR: 0.947 ± 0.0288 , n = 6, P = 0.758 20Hz 20s Normal: 0.975 ± 0.0307 , n = 14 vs. DR: 1.029 ± 0.0399 , n = 11, P = 0.282; 50Hz 20s Normal: 0.0975 ± 0.0287 , n = 8 vs. DR: 0.987 ± 0.0415 , n = 7, P = 0.826, Fig. 3.2B). It is therefore unlikely that RF enlargement in DR animals is the result of maintained or reactivated long-term plasticity.

Because the largest differences in synaptic plasticity may be in the age group with the largest differences in RF size, we also investigated long-term plasticity in >P90 animals that had either unrefined (DR) or refined (Normal) RFs. By P90 the RFs of DR animals have reached their maximum size (Carrasco et al., 2005). We found no significant differences in mean levels of long-term plasticity between slices from >P90 normal and DR adults. The mean fEPSP amplitude from 30-40 min post induction stimuli relative to the mean fEPSP amplitude during the 10 min baseline was not significantly different between rearing conditions (Student's t-tests: 1Hz 300s Normal: 1.036 ± 0.0507 , n = 10 vs. DR: 0.989 ± 0.0344 , n = 8, P = 0.489 20Hz 20s Normal: 0.927 ± 0.0417 , n = 7 vs. DR: 0.899 ± 0.0617 , n = 8, P = 0.726; 50Hz 20s Normal: 1.037 ± 0.0445 , n = 8 vs. DR: 1.032 ± 0.0189 , n = 7, P = 0.920, Fig. 3.2C-D). These results suggest that the ability to elicit long-term plasticity does not correlate with the timing of changes in RF size, and that neither enlargement of RFs, nor the maintenance of enlarged RFs during DR requires long-term plasticity.

As a positive control to show that the brain slices were indeed healthy enough to induce longterm plasticity, we tested the ability to induce LTP at a synapse known to produce it reliably- the white matter (WM) to layer 2/3 synapse in V1. As previously shown in rats (Kirkwood et al., 1995), theta burst stimulation (TBS, see methods) caused a significant potentiation of the fEPSP in slices from DR but not normally reared animals (Normal: 1.025 ± 0.0337 , n = 8 vs. DR: 1.214 ± 0.0550 , n = 7, Student's t-test, P



< 0.05, Fig. 3.2E-F). Thus, we argue that the inability to induce long-term plasticity in SC was not an artifact of slice preparation methods.

Figure 3.2. Long-term plasticity in SC is not affected by visual experience

A) fEPSPs were evoked at 20s intervals. After the fEPSP amplitude was stable for >10 minutes a 50Hz 20s stimulus was applied. There was no significant change in slices from normal or from DR animals between P60-70. Example traces are averages during 10 min baseline (thin gray) and 30-40 min after induction protocol (thick black). Scale bar 0.2 mV, 5 ms. B) Other induction protocols at this age also did not cause long-term plasticity. Data plotted are mean change from 30-40 min after induction stimulus normalized to 10 min baseline. C) There was also no significant change after a 50Hz 20s stimulus in slices from normal or DR animals >P90. Example traces and scale bar as in A. D) There were also no differences between slices from normal or DR animals using 3 other induction protocols. E) In contrast, in V1 WM-L2/3 LTP was induced in slices from DR animals but not in slices from normal animals. Example traces and scale bar as in A. F) TBS caused significantly more LTP in V1 slices from DR than from normally reared animals. *P < 0.05.

3.4.3 Visual experience prevents a DR-induced increase in paired pulse depression

Our first approach to studying short-term plasticity was to measure paired pulse ratio (PPR). Reduced inhibition in DR SC (Carrasco et al., 2011) could increase the probability of excitatory neurotransmitter release in SC, which could increase RF size by increasing evoked excitability. This experiment was designed to measure the level of short-term plasticity evoked by paired pulse stimulation as an assay for possible DR-induced changes in probability of neurotransmitter release. Decreased amplitude of the second pulse (PP2) relative to the first pulse (PP1), (PPR = PP2 / PP1) indicates paired pulse depression (PPR < 1), whereas an increase in PP2 indicates facilitation (PPR > 1). In the SC, paired pulse depression (PPD) occurs normally and is thought to be related to recognition of novel stimuli (Platt and Withington, 1997). Inhibition likely contributes to PPD in SC (Platt and Withington, 1997). DR SC has reduced GABAergic inhibition (Carrasco et al., 2011), as is typical of several systems after sensory deprivation (Gabbott and Stewart, 1987; Bakkum et al., 1991; Benevento et al., 1992; Benevento et al., 1995; Micheva and Beaulieu, 1995; Morales et al., 2002; Jiao et al., 2006; Kotak et al., 2008). Because inhibition is reduced by DR, we predicted an increase in the probability of neurotransmitter release and that PPD would be reduced. To test whether this form of short-term plasticity is affected by visual experience, slices from normal and DR animals were stimulated by paired pulses with intervals ranging from 20 to 200 ms. The stimulus intensity was set to 25% of the maximal response that could be elicited in order to test depression in response to mild stimulation.

Contrary to our prediction, we found that PPD was increased in slices from DR animals. PPR was significantly lower (increased depression) in slices from DR animals, indicating a higher level of PPD (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(1,202) = 5.160, N = 50, P = 0.028, Student's t-tests, P < 0.05 at 20, 100 and 150 ms intervals, Fig. 3.3A-B). The change in PPD was due to a weaker response to the second pulse in slices from DR animals, rather than a stronger response to the first pulse, because the first pulse was not affected by rearing condition (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(1,222) = 0.0261, N = 50, P = 0.872). There was also a significant effect of inter-pulse interval on PPR (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(4,202) = 6.958, N = 50, P < 0.001, Fig. 3.3A).



Figure 3.3. Lack of visual experience causes increase in PPD

A) DR animals have higher PPD (lower PPR), compared to normal animals. *P < 0.05. B) Examples of PPD in a slice from a normal (gray) and a DR (black) animal. Note that the response to the second pulse (PP2) of the DR trace is much smaller than the response to the first pulse (PP1), whereas in the normal trace PP2 is only slightly smaller than PP1. Stimulus artifacts are omitted for clarity. Scale bar 0.1 mV, 10 ms.

3.4.4 GABA_BR function underlies PPD, but is not directly affected by visual experience

GABA_BRs could underlie PPD through either presynaptic inhibition of excitatory neurotransmitter release or postsynaptic inhibition that is activated by the first stimulus pulse and remains during the second stimulus pulse. GABA_BRs are metabotropic receptors that hyperpolarize neurons with a slow onset and long duration (Benardo, 1994) by increasing K⁺ channel conductance and/or decreasing Ca^{2+} channel conductance (Alger and Nicoll, 1982; Benardo, 1994; Chalifoux and Carter, 2011). SC expresses GABA_BRs at an extremely high level relative to other areas of the brain (Bowery et al., 1984) at both pre- and postsynaptic sites (Endo and Isa, 2002). A deprivation-induced increase in GABA_BR function could underlie the increased PPD observed in slices from DR animals. If slices from DR animals are more sensitive to GABA_BR agonists and antagonists than slices from normal animals, the hypothesis would be supported.

We first tested the effect of the GABA_BR antagonist CGP55845 on PPD. For this and all subsequent experiments, the inter-pulse interval was 100 ms and the stimulation intensity was set to 75%of the maximum response that could be elicited from each slice, in order to avoid a floor effect (saturated PPD). At this stimulation intensity, the difference in PPD between rearing conditions was not always apparent, which was not unexpected, given the known stimulus intensity dependent dynamics of PPD (Platt and Withington, 1997; Kim and Alger, 2001). Application of 3 µM CGP55845 significantly decreased PPD (increased PPR) in slices from both rearing conditions (paired t-tests, Normal PPR before CGP55845: 0.652 ± 0.0269 to Normal PPR during 3 µM CGP55845: 0.887 ± 0.0354, n = 14, DR PPR before CGP55845: 0.662 ± 0.0390 to DR PPR during 3 μ M CGP55845: 0.920 ± 0.0313 , n = 10, P < 0.001, Fig. 3.4A). However, the ability of CGP55845 to reduce PPD was not significantly different between slices from normal and DR animals (Student's t-test, Normal: 37.5 ± 5.96 % increase in PPR, n = 14 vs. DR: 42.2 ± 8.71 % increase in PPR, n = 10, P = 0.649, Fig. 3.4B-C). In addition, the effect of CGP55845 on the amplitude of PP1 was not significantly different between rearing conditions (Normal: - 0.353 ± 0.0237 mV, Normal with CGP 55845: -0.435 ± 0.0382 mV, n = 16; DR: -0.370 ± 0.0199 mV, n = 16, DR with CGP55845: -0.475 ± 0.0402 mV, n = 13, Student's t-test comparing effect between treatment conditions, P = 0.515).



Figure 3.4. GABA_BR function is required for PPD, but is not directly affected by visual experience A) Application of the GABA_BR antagonist CGP55845 (3 μ M) decreased PPD in slices from both normal and DR animals. This panel shows that GABA_BR-mediated inhibition underlies PPD in SC. B) The effect of CGP55845 on PPD ((gabazine – ACSF) / ACSF) was not significantly different between rearing conditions. C) Example trace showing the effect of CGP55845. The largest effect is the increase in PP2, which decreases PPD (increase in PPR). Black trace is pre-drug and black arrows point to the peaks. Red trace is during bath application of CGP55845, and red arrows point to the peaks. Scale bar 0.2 mV, 20 ms. D) Application of the GABA_BR agonist baclofen reduced the fEPSP amplitude of the response to the first pulse, but the effect was not significantly different between rearing conditions. E) Baclofen decreased PPD (green trace/arrows, increased PPR). In contrast to the effect of CGP55845, baclofen affected PP1 more than PP2, suggesting that PP2 is nearly maximally affected by GABA_BR-mediated inhibition under normal (no drug) conditions. Stimulus artifacts are omitted for clarity. Scale bar as in C.

Second, we tested the effect of the GABA_BR agonist (*RS*)-baclofen on PPD. Increasing concentrations of baclofen reduced the fEPSP amplitude of PP1 monotonically, but there was no difference in response amplitude between slices from normal and DR animals (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(1,55) = 0.0323, N = 16, P = 0.860, Fig. 3.4D-E), nor was there a difference in the effect of baclofen on PPR between treatment groups (Normal: predrug PPR: 0.597 ± 0.0453, 30 nM PPR: 0.611 ± 0.0631, 100 nM PPR: 0.691 ± 0.0472, 300 nM PPR: 0.971 ± 0.0490, n = 9; vs DR: predrug PPR: 0.550 ± 0.0332, 30 nM PPR: 0.598 ± 0.0270, 100 nM PPR: 0.677 ± 0.0311, 300 nM PPR: 0.896 ± 0.0764, n = 7; Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(1,57) = 0.221, P = 0.645, N = 16).

These experiments show that, although $GABA_BR$ -mediated inhibition underlies PPD in SC, there is no apparent effect of visual experience on $GABA_BR$ sensitivity or on the degree of tonic $GABA_BR$ mediated inhibition in SC. Decreasing $GABA_BR$ -mediated inhibition with CGP55845 relieves the robust inhibition of PP2, but also increases the amplitude of PP1. This indicates that PP1 is slightly inhibited under normal conditions (without drug).

3.4.5 Reduced $GABA_AR$ function underlies increased PPD in slices from DR animals

Although GABA_BR function appears to be equivalent in slices from normal and DR animals (cf. Fig. 3.4), it is possible that DR-induced decreases in GABA_AR efficacy could lead to changes in GABA release. GABA_ARs are the largest contributor to fast synaptic inhibition in the SC. We previously showed that GABA_AR agonists and antagonists affect visual response and RF size less in DR than in normally reared animals, suggesting that visual experience is necessary to maintain GABA_AR function (Carrasco et al., 2011). We hypothesized that reduced GABA_AR function in DR SC could disinhibit GABAergic neurons, which would cause increased GABA release and, in turn, could increase GABA_BR-mediated PPD (Fig. 3.5A). This increased GABA release would enhance the GABA_BR mediated inhibition of PP2, and could underlie the increased PPD in slices from DR animals (Fig. 3.5B).

To test whether a DR-induced reduction in GABA_AR function underlies increased PPD, the GABA_AR antagonist SR-95531 (gabazine) was bath-applied on slices from normal animals. GABA_AR

blockade with 10 μ M gabazine caused a significant increase in PPD (decrease in PPR) in slices from both normal and DR animals (paired t-tests, Normal pre-gabazine PPR: 0.568 ± 0.0340 compared to Normal PPR during 10 μ M gabazine: 0.293 ± 0.0398, n = 14, P < 0.001; DR PPR pre-gabazine: 0.550 ± 0.0383 compared to DR PPR during 10 μ M gabazine: 0.398 ± 0.0538, n = 11, P = 0.001, Fig. 3.5C). However, this effect was significantly greater in slices from normal animals than in slices from DR animals (Student's t-test, Normal: 50.3 ± 5.08 % decrease in PPR, n = 14 vs. DR: 29.6 ± 6.04 % decrease in PPR, n = 11, P = 0.015, Fig. 3.5D). Thus, reducing GABA_AR function in slices from normal animals mimicked the effect of DR on PPD (cf. Fig. 3.3), arguing that reduced GABA_AR function such as occurs in DR SC (Carrasco et al., 2011) is likely to underlie increased PPD.



Figure 3.5. Reduced GABA_AR function underlies increased PPD in slices from DR animals

A) Hypothetical circuit model showing that when GABA_ARs are reduced by DR (or blocked) the inhibitory neurons (I) are disinhibited and GABA release increases, resulting in increased GABA_BR-mediated inhibition of excitatory neurons (E). Triangles are excitatory, circles are inhibitory. B) Model

showing how reduced GABA_AR function, increased GABA release, and increased GABA_BR-mediated inhibition could increase PPD in slices from DR animals. Increased GABA release enhances GABA_BRmediated inhibition of excitatory neurons (E), which increases the fEPSP duration, and increases inhibition of PP2 (dotted lines are normal condition for comparison). C-D) The GABA_AR antagonist gabazine (10 μ M) reduced the PPR significantly more in slices from normal animals (50.3 ± 5.08 % decrease in PPR) than in slices from DR animals (29.6 ± 6.04 % decrease in PPR). E) Gabazine caused a large increase in the duration of the fEPSP in slices from both normal and DR animals, which is likely caused by disinhibition of both excitatory and inhibitory neurons and increased duration of evoked responses. Stimulus artifacts are omitted for clarity. Scale bar 0.2 mV, 20 ms. Arrows indicate peaks of fEPSPs. F) 1 μ M gabazine was sufficient to increase PPD (decrease PPR) in slices from normal animals. Thus, reducing GABA_AR function in slices from normal animals mimicked the increased PPD seen in slices from DR animals (cf. Fig. 3.3). G) Blockade of GABA_BR prevented the increases in PPD caused by 1 μ M gabazine, supporting the model in which reduced GABA_AR function increases PPD by increasing inhibitory neuron output, and in turn, increasing GABA_BR-mediated inhibition.

3.4.6 DR-induced reduction in GABA_AR function controls PPD via GABA_BR-mediated inhibition

GABA_AR blockade with gabazine increases evoked activity of both GABAergic and non-GABAergic neurons in SC (Kaneda et al., 2008). GABA_AR blockade also had a marked effect on the fEPSP duration in slices from normal and DR animals. The area of the fEPSP - a measure of duration calculated from peak of the fEPSP to 100 ms after the peak (Georgiou et al., 2010) - increased several fold in slices from both normal and DR animals, but there was no difference in the effect of gabazine between treatment groups (Mann-Whitney Rank Sum, Normal: 4.22 median fold increase, n = 15; DR: 3.99 median fold increase, n = 11, P = 0.396, examples shown in Fig. 3.5E). Increased evoked activity of GABAergic neurons would increase GABA release that would in turn cause increased activation of GABA_AR and GABA_BRs. GABA_BRs are more highly expressed in SC than GABA_ARs (Bowery et al., 1984) and are thought to have a greater effect on PPD because of their presynaptic locus (in addition to postsynaptic expression). Here we test the hypothesis that DR-induced reduction of GABA_ARs causes increased PPD via disinhibition of GABA release and increased GABA_BR-mediated inhibition. This hypothesis predicts that GABA_BR-mediated inhibition is necessary for the increase in PPD caused by GABA_AR blockade with gabazine. Bath application of 1 μ M gabazine was sufficient to cause an increase in PPD in slices from normal animals (One-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(2,14) = 40.012, n = 5, P < 0.001; Tukey's tests, predrug (ACSF) PPR vs. 1 μ M gabazine PPR, P < 0.001, Fig. 3.5F). Although CGP55845 significantly increased PPR (decreased PPD) as expected (One-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(3,23) = 22.089, n = 6, P < 0.001; Tukey's test, Predrug (ACSF) PPR: 0.509 ± 0.0344, vs. 3 μ M CGP55845 PPR: 0.849 ± 0.0367, P < 0.001), blocking GABA_BRs with 3 μ M CGP55845 prior to applying gabazine prevented the increase in PPR (Tukey's tests, 3 μ M CGP55845 PPR vs. 3 μ M CGP55845 and 0.1 μ M gabazine PPR, P > 0.05; 3 μ M CGP55845 PPR vs. 3 μ M CGP55845 and 1.0 μ M gabazine PPR, P > 0.05, Fig. 3.5G).

Taken together, these experiments suggest that the reduced GABA_AR function seen in DR animals could lead to increases in the activity of GABAergic interneurons, which in turn could increase PPD by enhancing GABA_BR-mediated inhibition (Fig. 3.5B). This increased GABA_BR-mediated inhibition increases depression of the second pulse through pre- and/or post-synaptic inhibition (Fig. 3.5A).

3.4.7 Recovery from train-induced STD is mediated by GABA_BRs, maintained by visual experience, and reduced by DR

The PPD study revealed a major contribution of $GABA_BRs$ in STD, but it is difficult to imagine a situation where a natural visual stimulus would stimulate the SC in such a way. During visual stimulation with moving spots of light, SC neurons are strongly activated with trains of high frequency impulses (Cirone and Salt, 2001; Razak and Pallas, 2005). Thus, in a second set of experiments we presented trains of current pulses and tested the time course of recovery from the resulting STD. A conditioning stimulus

consisting of a train of 10 pulses at 100 Hz is known to induce profound STD that recovers after about 1 s (Kaneda et al., 2008).

Test pulses delivered at 100 - 1200 ms intervals after the end of the conditioning stimulus train were used to measure the strength and degree of recovery of the train-induced STD (Fig. 3.6A). The stimulation intensity of the train and test pulses was set to 75% of the maximal response of each slice for this study, and the fEPSP amplitudes evoked by the test pulses were normalized to the first conditioning pulse. Slices from DR animals were less depressed after the conditioning stimulus than the slices from normally reared animals 100, 200 and 400 ms after the conditioning stimulus (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, F(1,149) = 5.064, N = 30, P = 0.032, Fig. 3.6B)

Informed by our finding that $GABA_BR$ inhibition underlies PPD in SC, we tested whether or not $GABA_BR$ -mediated inhibition also underlies the STD caused by train stimulation. $GABA_BR$ -mediated inhibition could underlie this form of STD because STD in this paradigm is strongest at approximately 100 ms after the conditioning stimulus and lasts for about 1 s, following the time course of action of $GABA_BR$ -mediated inhibition (Benardo, 1994). If $GABA_BR$ s underlie train-induced STD, then reducing $GABA_BR$ -mediated inhibition will reduce the STD.

Indeed, in both slices from normal and DR animals, GABA_BR antagonist CGP55845 (3 μ M) almost completely blocked STD from occurring after the 100 Hz train stimulus (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, Normal: F(1,124) = 209.970, n = 7, P < 0.001; DR: F(1,84) = 46.710, n = 5, P < 0.001, Fig. 3.6C-D). The remaining STD observed during GABA_BR blockade is likely caused by GABA_BR-independent mechanism of STD (Lambert and Wilson, 1994). There was no difference between slices from normal and DR animals in STD during CGP55845 application (Two-way ANOVA, F(1,59) = 0.704, N = 12, P = 0.405, Fig. 3.6C).

Taken together, these studies indicate that recovery from train-induced STD in SC is mediated by GABA_BRs and is altered by visual experience. Thus, although DR increases PPD (cf. Fig. 3.3), it decreases the duration of STD caused by a train of pulses. Indeed, a higher probability of

neurotransmitter release in the disinhibited slices from DR animals could cause GABA to be depleted more quickly, which could contribute to reduced maximal STD duration.



Figure 3.6. Rapid recovery from train-induced STD is maintained by visual experience, is reduced by DR, and is mediated by GABA_BR inhibition

A) A 10 pulse conditioning stimulus train delivered at 100Hz was followed by test stimuli presented at either 100, 200, 400, 800 or 1200 ms to measure the extent and recovery of STD. B) Slices from normally reared animals were significantly more depressed by the conditioning stimulus than slices from DR animals. Thus, although DR increased STD after a single stimulus (PPD, cf. Fig. 3.3), DR decreased STD after the train stimulus. *P < 0.05. C) 3 μ M CGP55845 blocked STD from occurring in slices from both normal and DR animals, but there were no significant differences in the extent of the effect between groups. This shows that recovery from the train-induced STD is strongly inhibited by GABA_BR activity. D) Example of a single experiment, using a slice from a normal animal, showing that at short intervals after the conditioning stimulus the fEPSP is quite depressed. This depression is relieved when GABA_BRs are blocked with CGP55845 (red traces). Stimulus artifacts are omitted for clarity. Scale bar 0.2 mV, 50 ms.

3.4.8 Reduced synaptically released GABA recapitulates the effects of DR on reduced train-induced STD

Although we found no effect of visual experience on $GABA_BR$ function (cf. Fig. 3.4) we reasoned that reduced presynaptic GABA in SC cells could reduce stimulus evoked $GABA_BR$ -mediated inhibition. Visual experience maintains GABA in SC neurons, which is reduced by DR (Carrasco et al., 2011). Here we tested whether reduced GABA in SC could recapitulate the reduced STD that we observed in slices from DR animals. We recorded the time-course of recovery from STD in normal slices as above, and then reduced GABA in two different ways.

In the first approach, we utilized the pattern of GABA_CR expression in SC. GABA_CRs are ionotropic chloride channels similar to GABA_ARs that are preferentially expressed by inhibitory neurons and have a higher affinity for GABA than do GABA_ARs and GABA_BRs (Platt and Withington, 1998; Pasternack et al., 1999; Schmidt et al., 2001). Thus, when low concentrations of GABA are bath applied, inhibitory neurons are inhibited, which reduces the amount of synaptically released GABA and increases fEPSP amplitude. We applied 300 μ M GABA, a concentration that binds to the high affinity GABA_cRs and reduces GABA release, which we inferred by observing an increase in the fEPSP amplitude (124.0 ± 7.57%). Reducing synaptically released GABA in this way caused the predicted reduction in STD (Twoway repeated measures ANOVA, F(1,119) = 5.803, P = 0.035, N = 12, Fig. 3.7A). The time constant of recovery from STD (time to reach 1- e^{-1} = 63.2 % recovery) was also significantly reduced by 300 μ M GABA (paired t-test, P = 0.006, N = 10, Fig. 3.7B). Recovery is likely more rapid in DR slices because there was less STD 100 ms after the conditioning train, although we cannot rule out other mechanisms such as differences in vesicle filling rates. This experiment suggests that reduced GABA, as occurs in DR SC (Carrasco et al., 2011), may underlie reduced STD caused by train stimulation. While unlikely, it is possible that constant application of even this low concentration of GABA could cause GABA_BR desensitization that could contribute to the effect seen. Thus, we used a second approach to circumvent this alternative hypothesis.

Although unlikely, it is possible that constant application of even this low concentration of GABA could cause $GABA_BR$ desensitization that could contribute to the effect seen. Thus, we used a second approach to test this alternative hypothesis. In this second approach, we reduced GABA by applying a GABA depleting agent, isonicotinic acid hydrazide (isoniazid). Isoniazid inhibits pyridoxal phosphate, the cofactor of the GABA synthesizing enzyme glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD), and has been used to reduce GABA in acute brain slices (De Koninck and Mody, 1997; Carta et al., 2008). 1 mM isoniazid had no apparent effect, and 10 mM isoniazid instead reduced the fEPSP amplitude (87.0 ± 5.07) %) and caused single-unit spikes to appear, indicating severely reduced inhibition. Bath application of 3 mM isoniazid caused an increase in the fEPSP amplitude ($109.3 \pm 5.94 \%$, Fig. 3.7C). 3 mM isoniazid reduced the duration of STD (Two-way repeated measures ANOVA, significant interaction between time after train and isoniazid concentration, F(8,104) = 4.370, Tukey's t-test, significant effect (P < 0.05) of 3 mM isoniazid at 100, 200 and 800 ms latencies, N = 6, Fig. 3.7C). The time constant of recovery from STD was also significantly reduced by 3 mM isoniazid (One-way repeated measures ANOVA, P = 0.026, Tukey's test, ACSF vs. 3 mM isoniazid, n = 6, P = 0.021, Fig. 3.7D), which is probably due to reduced depression 100 ms after the conditioning train in the slices from DR animals. Taken together, these experiments support the hypothesis that reduced GABA in DR SC is responsible for the faster than normal recovery from STD, and that maintenance of STD through visual experience depends on maintenance of presynaptic GABA.



Figure 3.7. Reducing synaptically released GABA recapitulates reduced train induced STD seen in DR slices

A) 300 μ M GABA significantly reduced STD induced by the 10 pulse, 100Hz conditioning train (cf. Fig. 3.6A) (One-way repeated measures ANOVA (P = 0.035)). Exponential fits are shown from 100 – 1400 ms after the conditioning train for ACSF (dashed gray line) and 300 μ M GABA (black line). B) Exponentials were fit to the recovery from STD of each slice before and after GABA application. 300 μ M GABA caused a significant decrease in the time constant of recovery. C) 3 mM isoniazid reduced GABA synthesis and significantly reduced the train-induced STD at the 100 and 200 ms time points. *P < 0.05. Exponential fits as in A. D) The time constant of recovery from STD reached significance (P = 0.021) at 3 mM isoniazid.

3.4.9 How does STD affect RF size?

The classical definition of a RF is the area of the visual field within which a stimulus causes a neuron to fire action potentials. STD affects excitability and action potential firing and thus necessarily

affects RF size. V1 RFs are known to change size in reaction to visual stimulation (Pettet and Gilbert, 1992) and contrast levels (Kapadia et al., 1999; Sceniak et al., 1999). Here we use a RF model to investigate how STD, which is maintained by visual experience, contributes to the maintenance of refined RFs, and how DR, which reduces the magnitude and duration of train-induced STD, could contribute to enlarged RFs.

We showed increased PPD and decreased train-induced STD in slices from DR animals. The train stimulus more closely resembles the barrage of action potentials generated by natural vision than does a single stimulus pulse, thus we modeled the effect of reductions in train-induced STD rather than PPD on RF size. To investigate how STD affects RF size we constructed a difference of Gaussians (DOG) model of RFs (Rodieck, 1965). The DOG model results in a "Mexican hat" response function '*R*' by subtracting the inhibitory response Gaussian from the excitatory response Gaussian.

$$R = K_{\rm e} e^{-\left(\frac{2x}{a}\right)^2} - K_{\rm i} e^{-\left(\frac{2x}{b}\right)^2}$$

 K_{e} and K_{i} are the peaks and *a* and *b* are the space constants of the excitatory and inhibitory Gaussians, respectively. The SC responds best to visual stimuli that are smaller than the excitatory RF due to strong within-RF inhibition. We based the normal RF Gaussians in our model on size tuning data from Syrian hamster SC (Razak and Pallas, 2006), optimizing K_{e} , K_{i} , *a* and *b* for best fit using the following equation, as previously described (DeAngelis et al., 1994; Sceniak et al., 1999; Chen et al., 2013).

$$R(y) = K_{\rm e} \int_{-y/2}^{y/2} {\rm e}^{-\left(\frac{2x}{a}\right)^2} dx - Ki \int_{-y/2}^{y/2} {\rm e}^{-\left(\frac{2x}{b}\right)^2} dx$$

As expected, inhibition is strong- more than half as strong as the peak of excitation- ($K_i = 0.52 * K_e$) and the width of inhibition is more than one and a half times that of excitation (b = 1.66 * a). The DOG function using these values is plotted in Fig. 3.8A.

To model the effect of STD on RF size, we reduced the amplitude of the excitatory Gaussian K_e . Figure 3.8B shows several DOGs plotted with varying levels of depression from 0 (K_e - 0%) to 25% (K_e - 25%), in 5% intervals. RF size was calculated as the width of the DOG at 20% of the peak (indicated by a horizontal line), ignoring responses below zero. The 20% level reflects how SC RFs were measured *in vivo* (Carrasco et al., 2005; Balmer and Pallas, 2013).

When depression reduced the peak of the excitatory response Gaussian K_e by a total of 25%, the RF width was reduced to 78% of its initial, pre-depression size. When depression is reduced, as is the case in DR SC, RF width does not shrink to the same extent. For example, when depression was only 10%, the RF width remained at 93% of its initial size (Fig. 3.8B). This shows that when depression is reduced the RF shrinks less than it does at higher levels of depression.

It is clear that DR reduces inhibition in the SC, thus we modeled the reduced inhibition to test whether it changes the effect of STD on RF size. Before altering depression, we reduced the peak inhibitory response K_i by 40%, which caused a large increase in initial RF size because the excitatory response was less opposed by inhibition (Fig. 3.8C). This reduced inhibition in DR SC is likely a major reason that RFs are enlarged (Carrasco et al., 2011). However, reducing inhibition also caused the STD of the peak excitatory response K_e to have less of an impact on RF size. For example, under DR conditions (reduced GABA), 25% depression now reduces the RF width to 91% of its normal value (compared to 78% under normal rearing conditions of more inhibition, as in B). Figure 3.8D plots the RF widths with different levels of depression. The RF width shrinks more when depression is higher. The black line represents RF widths from Fig. 3.8B. In addition, when K_i is reduced, as would be the case in DR SC (Fig. 3.8C), depression has less of an effect on the RF width (blue dashed line, RF widths from Fig. 3.8C). Figure 3.8E plots absolute RF size. Although reduced STD contributes to enlarged RFs, the decrease in inhibition (plotted as the blue dashed line) also has a marked effect on initial RF size, indicated by an upward shift (in the blue dashed line) (Fig. 3.8E).

Surround inhibition is thought to derive from feed-forward inhibition. This suggests that any STD of excitation would also cause reduced inhibition, due to decreased activation of feed-forward inhibition. However, as long as there is more STD of excitation than STD of inhibition, the RF size will reduce during the first seconds of stimulation. We are confident that there is more STD of excitation than STD of inhibition, because we see depression of the fEPSP, which is an excitatory signal (cf. Fig. 3.1). Future experiments measuring the effects of DR on depression of excitatory and inhibitory currents are necessary to add detail to this model.

In sum, this analysis supports the idea that the reduced STD in slices from DR animals during visually-evoked activity causes RFs to be larger due to increased excitability. The combination of reduced inhibition and reduced STD combine to prevent RF size from shrinking during the initial moments of visual stimulation.



Figure 3.8. Reduced STD could contribute to enlarged RFs in DR animals

A) Difference of Gaussians (DOG) model of SC RFs. B) Depression was modelled as a reduction in K_e of 0 – 25%, in 5% intervals. The horizontal lines are the RF widths at 20% of the peak, corresponding to the method used for measuring RF widths *in vivo*. C) Lower levels of inhibition, as is seen in slices from DR animals, cause RFs to be larger. K_i was reduced by 40% to model the reduced inhibition caused by DR. The model supports the interpretation that reduced inhibition increases RF size. In addition, the RF

size in DR cases was less affected by depression than in normal cases, as can be seen in D. D) Change in RF width resulting from different levels of depression (RF widths from B, black line) and resulting from both depression and 40% reduced inhibition (data from C, blue dashed line). As the level of depression is increased, RF sizes shrink more. Reducing inhibition by 40% caused depression to have less of an effect on RF size (blue dashed line). E) Plotting absolute RF widths shows that the reduced inhibition increases RF size at all levels of depression (dashed blue line is shifted upward). Both increased depression and reduced inhibition caused by DR may contribute to RF enlargement.

3.5 Discussion

The goal of this study was to investigate the mechanisms of critical period closure in SC. We showed that in hamster SC, visual experience protects against deprivation-induced changes in short-term plasticity, but, unlike in V1, deprivation does not maintain long-term plasticity. Our data support a mechanism through which visual experience-dependent maintenance of GABA_AR function prevents metaplasticity of GABA_BR-mediated STD. DR increased PPD, likely by releasing inhibitory neurons from inhibition due to reduced GABA_AR function, thus increasing evoked GABA release onto GABA_BR of local SC neurons (Fig. 3.5 A-B). In addition, stimulation with a high frequency train of current pulses, more closely approximating natural vision, showed that maximal duration of STD is reduced in slices from DR animals (Fig. 3.6). Visual experience-dependent maintenance of GABA content may maintain maximal levels of visual stimulus-evoked STD in normally-reared animals. Our computational RF model shows that reduced STD during visual stimulation, which would maintain excitatory responses at a higher level, could explain the increased RF size in SC after DR.

3.5.1 DR does not extend long-term plasticity in SC

In primary visual cortex (V1), DR reduces inhibition, prolonging the age at which long-term synaptic plasticity occurs (Kirkwood and Bear, 1995; Kirkwood et al., 1995). DR causes reduced inhibition in SC as well, and could allow long-term plasticity and contribute to RF enlargement by

strengthening synapses on the outskirts of the excitatory RF. We were unable to induce long-term plasticity in SC slices from DR animals at the time of RF enlargement (P60-70) or once RFs were at their maximally enlarged state >P90, however. Thus, unlike in V1, in SC DR did not maintain the ability to induce long-term plasticity in acute slices, indicating that metaplasticity of LTP does not underlie DR-induced RF enlargement in the SC.

This experiment provides evidence that visual experience affects the retinocollicular and retinogeniculocortical pathways in different ways. This difference provides an opportunity to study differing mechanisms of development and plasticity in pathways that receive input from the same cells. Studies comparing plasticity in SC and V1 could elucidate differences in how experience affects midbrain and cortical visual circuits and identify the developmental processes underlying their distinct mechanisms.

3.5.2 Visual experience-dependent maintenance of GABAergic inhibition maintains $GABA_BR$ activation

Reduced GABA_AR function that occurs in DR SC may lead to disinhibition of inhibitory interneurons.that would enhance GABA release during a single stimulus. The disinhibited GABA release could cause more GABA_BR-mediated inhibition and thus increased PPD in DR animals. Longer duration stimulation, such as occurs during vision, leads to GABA depletion. This depletion likely occurs more rapidly in DR SC, because of reduced GABA content in these interneurons (Carrasco et al., 2011). This dysregulation of inhibition and STD could contribute to RF enlargement in DR SC.

3.5.3 GABA_BRs underlie STD in SC and are not affected by visual experience

Importantly, we report here that $GABA_BRs$ almost completely underlie STD in SC, under both normal and deprived conditions. We showed that PPD increases as inter-pulse interval increases. This indicates that depression of PP2 depends on a delayed mechanism that lasts over 200 ms, such as a

metabotropic receptor signaling, rather than vesicle depletion. $GABA_BRs$ fit this pattern (Chalifoux and Carter, 2011) whether operating through pre- or postsynaptic inhibition (Endo and Isa, 2002).

GABA levels and effectiveness of GABA_ARs in SC are reduced by DR (Carrasco et al., 2011), but little is known regarding the activity-dependent regulation of GABA_BR expression in SC. We did not find differences in sensitivity to GABA_BR agents between slices from normal and DR animals. GABA_BR expression is reduced by TTX blockade of retinal signaling in monkey LGN (Muñoz et al., 1998) and V1 (Muñoz et al., 2001), but TTX treatment is not directly comparable to DR, because it blocks both spontaneous and light-evoked activity. If DR causes reduced GABA_BR function in V1 but not in SC, it could explain differences in mechanisms of experience-dependent plasticity between cortical and midbrain visual areas. Comparing visual experience-dependent regulation of GABA_BRs between SC and V1 is necessary to test this prediction.

3.5.4 Reduced STD caused by high frequency train stimulation could contribute to RF enlargement in DR SC

The finding that high frequency train stimulation evokes less STD in slices from DR animals than normal animals led us to test how STD could affect RF size in a difference of Gaussians (DOG) RF model. In short, reduced STD in DR SC will yield higher than normal excitability during visual stimulation. Higher excitability that is not offset by higher inhibition would increase RF size. The DOG model was first applied to retina (Rodieck, 1965; Enroth-Cugell and Robson, 1966), but has also been used for modeling RFs in V1 (DeAngelis et al., 1994; Sceniak et al., 1999), frontal eye fields (Cavanaugh et al., 2012), and LGN (Dawis et al., 1984; Cai et al., 1997) and is a good first approximation to understanding center-surround RFs in general. Our RF model predicts how RF size could be affected by visual stimulus properties. The model suggests that high STD contributes to small RFs (normal) and low STD contributes to larger RFs (DR).

In an *in vivo* study in rat SC, iontophoresis of GABA_BR agents did not affect the size of RFs measured by varying stimulus sizes (Binns and Salt, 1997), which initially appears to be at odds with our

hypothesis. Iontophoresis likely affects receptors on the soma of the recorded cell and to a lesser extent its processes and nearby cells, whereas our bath-applied drugs may have affected somata and processes more uniformly. It is possible that for the drugs to affect STD, they need to affect presynaptic receptors on the retinocollicular afferents that make contact with the dendrites of the SC neurons, which may be too distal to be affected by iontophoresis.

3.5.5 Visual experience-dependent changes in STD could affect sensory processing in SC

The DR-induced increase in PPD suggests an increase in the probability of neurotransmitter release, which would likely increases sensitivity to light. This could be an advantage to an animal born into a dark environment or with visual pathologies such as cataract. However, there are several apparent tradeoffs for this increased sensitivity to light. The first is increased RF size, caused by DR-induced changes in STD and reduced inhibition, which would reduce visual acuity. If PPD is an underlying mechanism of novel stimulus detection, as has been suggested (Platt and Withington, 1997), then DR animals may have difficulty identifying novel stimuli, beyond that associated with low visual acuity alone. With reduced STD, slowly moving stimuli that cause slower spiking may not be perceived by SC due to disrupted gain control (Abbott et al., 1997) or temporal filtering (Fortune and Rose, 2001). Velocity tuning and size tuning are controlled by inhibition in SC (Razak et al., 2003; Razak and Pallas, 2005, 2006, 2007) and would likely be affected by changes in STD. Direction tuning is also mediated by STD, in V1 (Chance et al., 1998) and in the midbrain of weakly electric fish (Chacron et al., 2009). Sensory deprivation may be an experimental paradigm that could be used to test the role of STD in these properties of sensory processing.

3.5.6 Experience-dependent changes in STD vary between synapses and sensory areas

Sensory experience is necessary to decrease the STD of inhibition (iSTD) that is present during development at the layer 4 to 2/3 synapse in V1 (Jiang et al., 2005; Jiang et al., 2010) and auditory cortex (Takesian et al., 2010). Thus, visual experience causes inhibition to maintain its strength during stimulus

trains. Sensory deprivation causes inhibition to depress more (higher iSTD) than it would under normal rearing conditions during repeated stimulation. Increased iSTD in DR V1 may be due to the DR-induced reduction of GABAergic inhibition (Gabbott and Stewart, 1987; Bakkum et al., 1991; Benevento et al., 1995; Morales et al., 2002). As in DR V1, iSTD is increased in GAD65 knockout mice (Choi et al., 2002), indicating that the strength of inhibition weakens during stimulus trains under conditions of reduced GABA. This weakening of inhibition during stimulus trains may cause the reduced STD of fEPSPs that occurs in these mice (Fagiolini and Hensch, 2000). If, as reported in V1 and in auditory cortex, inhibition is maintained during train stimulation (low iSTD) in normal SC and inhibition weakens during train stimulation (higher iSTD) in DR SC, then this change in iSTD could mediate the reduced STD of fEPSPs in DR SC. Investigation of iSTD on a single neuron level in SC is necessary to test these predictions.

3.5.7 Dysregulation of inhibition and short-term plasticity in psychiatric disorders

Dysregulation of inhibition can lead to altered short-term plasticity which, depending on the synapse, can adversely affect sensory and cognitive processing (Abbott and Regehr, 2004). These changes in processing may contribute to psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia and neurodegenerative diseases (Arguello and Gogos, 2012). Short-term plasticity is affected by environmental factors such as brain injury (Li et al., 2005), early life seizures (Hernan et al., 2013), and hearing loss (Takesian et al., 2010). Preventing dysregulation of inhibition from occurring, or intervening with therapies that affect inhibitory plasticity, may ameliorate disrupted short-term plasticity and provide a therapeutic approach to some aspects of pervasive psychiatric disorders.

3.6 Acknowledgements

This work was supported by grants from the National Science Foundation (IBN-0451018, IBN-9876754), the National Institutes of Health (EY/MH 12696), the Georgia State University Research Foundation to SLP, and the Brains and Behavior Fellowship, the Honeycutt Fellowship, and two Sigma Xi Grants-in-Aid-of-Research to TSB. We thank Profs. Peter Wenner, Paul Katz, and Vincent Rehder for providing comments on the manuscript and advice on experimental design, members of the Donald Rainnie Lab for technical assistance, members of the Pallas Lab for technical assistance and comments on the manuscript, the Department of Animal Resources staff at GSU for animal care, and Bryce Chung for assistance with the computational model.

4 DISCUSSION

In this dissertation, I investigated the role of visual experience in the development and plasticity of the visual pathway. Contrary to a widely held view, visual experience is not necessary for refinement of RFs in primary visual cortex (V1). In both SC and V1, RFs refine by P60, but enlarge by P90 with chronic DR. One week of visual experience was sufficient to prevent RF enlargement in SC and V1. Normal sensory experience prevents RF plasticity in mature circuits by maintaining GABAergic and GABA_BR-dependent short-term synaptic plasticity.

4.1 Model of RF plasticity

Experience-independent and experience-dependent RF plasticity can be represented by a 'stability landscape' in which a ball rolls along a three-dimensional surface (Fig. 4.1). This stability landscape metaphor was first used to describe how genes and environment interact during development by Conrad Waddington (Waddington, 1957) and has been applied to critical period plasticity (Knudsen, 2004).



Figure 4.1. Stability landscape describing RF refinement and plasticity.

The ball starts on the right side of the landscape, which represents large, unrefined RFs. The ball rolls forward during development. Its movement leftward, toward small RFs, represents refinement. RF refinement occurs independent of visual experience, is not easily perturbed, and is therefore represented by a valley, 'A'. In both SC and V1, a profound perturbation is required to deviate from the trajectory of RF refinement, such as activity blockade or disruption of correlated spontaneous activity. The valley becomes less deep as development approaches P60, after which time RFs begin to expand in the absence of visual experience in both SC and V1. At this point, visual experience is necessary to force the ball over a hill, 'B', into the valley of RF maintenance, 'C'. Without this force of visual experience, the ball rolls to the right along the valley that leads to enlarged RFs, 'D'. After P90, no perturbation is sufficient to cause refinement or enlargement of RFs and development has ended.

The synaptic mechanisms that underlie visual experience dependent RF maintenance are pictured in Figure 4.2.



Figure 4.2. Synaptic model of how DR affects GABA release in SC

A) DR causes reduced GABA_AR function, which disinhibits the activity of inhibitory neurons. This disinhibition is represented as 3 spikes instead of one, but DR could increase probability of GABA release without increasing spiking. DR also reduces GABA content in these neurons (Carrasco et al., 2011). The first pulse of a stimulus train causes more GABA release in DR SC than normally reared SC because of the disinhibited inhibitory neurons. The increased GABA release activates GABA_BRs more strongly in slices from DR animals, which causes increased PPD compared to slices from normal animals. B) Longer duration train stimulation, such as occurs during vision, depletes GABA in inhibitory neurons in DR SC more rapidly, because of (1) increased GABA release and (2) reduced GABA content. This causes GABA_BR-mediated STD of excitation to be reduced during longer duration stimulation.

RF enlargement occurs through mechanisms operating on long and short time scales, represented schematically in figure 4.3.



Figure 4.3. DR affects RF by reducing surround inhibition and by reducing short-term depression that occurs during stimulation

In the absence of visual experience, GABAergic inhibition is reduced (Carrasco et al., 2011) and RFs are enlarged in both V1 and SC by P90 (Chapter 2). In Fig 4.3, this is modeled as an increase in the size of the excitatory RF (red) and weaker blue inhibitory surround (blue) and it occurs over weeks. In SC, reduced inhibition further affects RF size on a short time scale because it affects STD (Chapter 3). STD of excitation during the first moments of visual stimulation causes the excitatory RF to shrink. Reduced STD in DR SC causes the RFs to shrink less during visual stimulation. This causes RFs of DR SC to remain larger during stimulation, relative to normal SC.

4.2 Spontaneous activity is sufficient for experience-independent refinement of RFs

In Chapter 2, I showed that spontaneous activity alone is sufficient for RF refinement in both V1 and SC, but that visual experience is necessary to maintain RFs during chronic DR. The finding that V1 RFs refine without visual experience has been corroborated in mice since the publication of Chapter 2, in two independent laboratories (Kang et al., 2013; Sarnaik et al., 2013).

4.2.1 Is spontaneous activity instructive or permissive for RF refinement in V1?

As discussed in the introduction, the pattern of spontaneous activity appears to instruct RF refinement in SC (McLaughlin et al., 2003b; Chandrasekaran et al., 2005; Mrsic-Flogel et al., 2005). Is the pattern of spontaneous activity also necessary for experience-independent RF refinement in V1? In contrast to SC, in LGN and V1 the RFs of β 2-nAChR knockout mice do refine (Grubb et al., 2003; Grubb and Thompson, 2004; Wang et al., 2009), indicating that mechanisms of RF refinement likely differ between visual areas. Retinal waves mediated by gap junctions and glutamate remain in these mice and may be sufficient for instructing RF refinement in V1. Although retinal waves cease soon after eye opening, spontaneous activity remains at all levels of the visual system. It is possible that the later spontaneous activity that is not carried in waves is essential for RF refinement.

To test whether patterned activity is instructive for RF refinement, NMDARs, which detect a coincident pattern of pre and postsynaptic activity, can be manipulated. One study that reduced NMDAR activity in V1 of ferrets from P21-P50 did not affect stimulus size tuning (Ramoa et al., 2001), which is occasionally used as an indirect measure of RF size in V1. Similarly, V1 RFs refine despite genetic deletion of the NR2A subunit of the NMDAR (Fagiolini et al., 2003), which is the mature form that has a short open time (Flint et al., 1997). However, deletion or blockade of the long open time NR2B subunit that is expressed during RF refinement has not been investigated. Again, in contrast to SC (Huang and Pallas, 2001), NMDAR-dependent coincidence detection (of both spontaneous and visually-evoked activity) appears not to be necessary for RF refinement in V1. Thus, activity is likely permissive, and not instructive, for RF refinement in V1. However, these studies did not separate spontaneous and evoked activity.
To test this hypothesis directly, NMDARs must be disrupted during DR and at the time when RFs are refining (between P30 and P60). DR would block visually-evoked activity completely and NMDAR blockade would disrupt coincidence detection during spontaneous activity, and would identify whether the pattern vs. the quantity of spontaneous activity is necessary for RF refinement in V1. In experiments manipulating NMDARs, care must be taken not to reduce overall activity. Pharmacological blockade of NMDARs has this effect in V1 (Fox et al., 1989; Miller et al., 1989; Fox and Daw, 1993), but not in SC (Cline and Constantine Paton, 1989; Huang and Pallas, 2001). An alternative approach is downregulation of NMDAR expression with antisense oligonucleotides, which reportedly does not reduce overall activity (Roberts et al., 1998; Ramoa et al., 2001).

4.3 What underlies experience-dependent maintenance of RFs?

In Chapter 2, I showed that a brief period of visually-evoked experience is necessary for RF maintenance during chronic DR, in both V1 and SC. This finding has not been corroborated since the publication of Chapter 2. This may be due to the fact that in studies of sensory deprivation, animals are not commonly left in the dark long enough to observe it (~P90, a month after adulthood in Syrian hamsters). It is likely that enlargement of RFs during extended DR has been induced, but was misinterpreted as a lack of developmental refinement, in cases where RFs were not measured at multiple ages.

In Chapter 3, I showed that dysregulation of inhibition causes changes in short-term plasticity (but not long-term plasticity), that could cause RF enlargement by preventing the depression of excitatory responses that occurs during the first moments of visual stimulation. Below I will discuss possible mechanisms of experience-dependent RF maintenance and DR-induced RF enlargement.

4.3.1 How can 3 days of visual experience prevent DR-induced RF enlargement?

Previous work in our lab had shown that light from P22-40 was sufficient to prevent DR-induced RF enlargement in SC (Carrasco et al., 2005). In Chapter 2, I extended the work by comparing the

duration of visual experience necessary for RF maintenance in both SC and V1. I found that just 3 days of visual experience from P37-40 was sufficient to maintain RFs during chronic DR in SC, whereas V1 required 7 days (P33-40).

It was surprising that such brief periods of visual experience were sufficient for RF maintenance in SC. The duration of this period should suggest hypotheses about the mechanisms of RF maintenance. In Chapter 3, I investigated changes in GABAR signaling and short-term plasticity that contributes to DR-induced RF enlargement in SC, but the question of how 3 days of light prevents these physiological changes is an open question.

As in SC, in V1 brief periods of light can prevent plasticity that is prolonged by DR. In cats a mere 6 hours of visual experience prevents ocular dominance plasticity that is prolonged by DR (Mower et al., 1983). DR mice have prolonged ocular dominance plasticity as well, but 4 days of visual experience is not sufficient to prevent it (Iwai et al., 2003). The difference in duration of visual experience that is necessary to prevent plasticity between mice and cats could be related to the number of binocular cells, the architecture of the binocular areas of V1, or their sensitivity to monocular deprivation. In cats, almost every neuron in V1 receives some input from both eyes and they are organized in ocular dominance stripes in which neighboring neurons have stronger inputs from the same eye. In mice, only neurons in a small binocular zone have input from both eyes. A shift in ocular dominance may be more easily detected in cats for this reason. In addition, cat V1 responds to monocular deprivation more rapidly than mouse V1 (Gordon and Stryker, 1996), which may indicate that plasticity occurs more rapidly in cats compared to rodents in general.

Just 2 days of visual experience is sufficient to prevent synaptic effects of DR measured in *in vitro*. 2 days of visual experience reduces NMDAR-dependent LTP and LTD (Kirkwood et al., 1996), endocannabinoid-dependent inhibitory (i)LTD (Jiang et al., 2010), and brings? IPSC amplitudes down to normal levels in rat V1 (Morales et al., 2002).

Less is known regarding the effect of brief light exposure on plasticity in SC than in V1. The brief period of light that is sufficient to prevent RF enlargement suggests that light might only be required

to *trigger* a process that maintains inhibition, and that the process can continue during DR after the light exposure has ceased. Although these light exposure periods seem brief, a single day of visual experience could produce millions of action potentials and synaptic events that presumably initiate intracellular signaling cascades with lasting consequences. Many changes in excitatory (Lu and Constantine-Paton, 2004) and inhibitory (Shi et al., 1997) neurotransmission occur during the first day after eye opening. Rapid insertion of GABA_ARs can occur during stimulation (Nusser et al., 1998), which would be caused by light exposure. Indeed, once the process of experience-dependent proliferation of GABAergic synapses is triggered, it is not arrested by DR (Chattopadhyaya et al., 2004). The hypothesis that visual experience triggers the expression of a BDNF-regulating transcription factor that underlies maintenance of RFs is described below.

4.3.1.1 What molecular mechanism could be triggered by 3 days of visual experience and cause RF maintenance?

Visual experience could trigger gene transcription that leads to maintenance of RFs. For example, visually-evoked activity in visual cortical neurons causes an increase in BDNF expression, which increases TrkB phosphorylation and strengthens inhibition (Rutherford et al., 1997; Huang et al., 1999). Npas4 is a transcription factor that is expressed during visual activity, activates the transcription of BDNF (Lin et al., 2008) and may be one of the early visual experience-dependent signals that mediates RF maintenance.

In preliminary work, I showed that exposing DR hamsters to light causes a marked increase in Npas4 expression in both SC and V1 compared to littermates (Fig. 4.4).



Dark Reared no strobe light

Dark Reared 2h strobe light

Figure 4.4. Brief visual experience increases Npas4 immunoreactivity in SC and V1.

Future work in could test whether visual activity-dependent Npas4 expression increases BNDF expression and TrkB phosphorylation, thus triggering the stabilization of GABAergic inhibition and preventing RF enlargement in DR SC.

The first experiment proposed was a test of whether visual experience-dependent TrkB signaling prevents DR-induced RF plasticity. Can exogenous TrkB activation replace visual activity from P37-40 and prevent the RFs of DR animals from enlarging by P90? I predicted that increasing TrkB signaling in DR animals from P37-40 with a TrkB agonist (7,8-dihydroxyflavone, 10 mg/kg IP, once per day (Jang et al., 2010)) would prevent RF enlargement after P90, compared to vehicle-injected control littermates.

Systemic injections of this TrkB agonist has been reported to increase TrkB phosphorylation in hippocampus (Devi and Ohno, 2012). In our hands, however, we have not been able to show that systemic injection of the TrkB agonist increases TrkB phosphorylation in SC and V1. These studies are ongoing in the Pallas lab.

4.3.2 Is visual experience permissive or instructive for RF maintenance?

Our studies have shown that visual experience is necessary for RF maintenance, but we have not identified whether visual experience plays a permissive or instructive role. If visual experience is permissive, then the pattern of activity does not matter. It would be possible to test the hypothesis that visual experience is permissive for RF maintenance by providing retinocollicular activity exogenously from P37-40. This could be done in several ways.

An implanted electrode in the SC or optic nerve could provide stimulation with a different pattern than occurs with visual activity. A simpler manipulation would be to change the visual environment. A strobe light could be used to provide visual stimulation without the coherent pattern provided by normal visual experience. One study showed that 6-8 month old hamsters reared from birth under strobe light had normal RF sizes in SC, which suggests a permissive role of visual experience (Chalupa and Rhoades, 1978b). However, in the same study, size tuning was slightly less selective (Chalupa and Rhoades, 1978b), indicating the possibility that inhibition was reduced (Razak and Pallas, 2006). If inhibition was reduced by chronic strobe rearing, it may have occurred through a failure to develop or a failure to maintain inhibition. Future work is necessary to clarify whether visual experience provides a pattern that is instructive, or a level or stimulation that is permissive, for maintenance of RF properties and GABAergic inhibition.

4.3.3 Could other forms of plasticity contribute to DR-induced RF enlargement?

In Chapter 3, I investigated long and short-term synaptic plasticity. Other forms of plasticity, including homeostatic synaptic plasticity and non-synaptic intrinsic plasticity, also exist and could contribute to RF plasticity (Mozzachiodi and Byrne, 2010).

Homeostatic synaptic plasticity occurs when the input activity of a neuron is reduced or increased and synaptic efficacy changes inversely, in order to keep activity at a set point (Turrigiano and Nelson, 2004). Synaptic scaling is one form of homeostatic plasticity and can occur through increases in postsynaptic excitatory receptors, increases in vesicle content, or increases in vesicle release probability (Rich and Wenner, 2007).

It is certainly possible that mechanisms of homeostatic synaptic plasticity contribute to DRinduced RF enlargement, especially in V1, because increased excitatory synaptic strength would likely increase spontaneous activity. DR causes an increase in spontaneous activity in V1 (Cf. Fig. 2.6), but does not affect spontaneous activity in SC (Carrasco et al., 2005), which argues against this hypothesis.

DR for two days at any age causes scaling up of quantal amplitude in mouse V1, which is reversed by one more day of light exposure thereafter (Goel and Lee, 2007). This indicates that V1 scales quantal amplitude up and down rapidly in response to the level of visual experience, and this likely occurs in DR hamsters. However, it also suggests that synaptic scaling is not likely to be a major contributor to DR-induced RF enlargement in my experiments, because DR does not affect RF size when RFs have already expanded (Carrasco and Pallas, 2006), although it would likely affect quantal amplitude. Synaptic scaling may contribute to the maintenance of peak response or spontaneous activity levels.

Intrinsic plasticity is a change in the output of a neuron despite the same synaptic input, which is caused by a change in the neuron's intrinsic electrical properties (Daoudal and Debanne, 2003; Desai, 2003; Zhang and Linden, 2003; Mozzachiodi and Byrne, 2010; Wenner, 2014). Changes in input resistance, spike threshold, or ionic conductances can alter intrinsic excitability (Turrigiano et al., 1994; Desai et al., 1999; Cudmore and Turrigiano, 2004). Such changes generally occur with development, but can occur for other reasons as well. For example, increased input resistance of a neuron could increase the depolarizations caused by excitatory synapses. Ohm's law states that V = I * R. If the resistance of the cell (R) increases and the synaptic current (I) is constant, the voltage output (V, membrane depolarization) will increase. DR, however, affects neither the input resistance nor the resting membrane potential of V1 neurons (Desai et al., 2002; Morales et al., 2002). Similarly, sensory deprivation has no effect on the intrinsic excitability of somatosensory cortical neurons (Cheetham and Fox, 2011). Thus, it is unlikely that changes in intrinsic excitability contribute to RF enlargement in V1.

Few studies have addressed homeostatic synaptic plasticity or intrinsic plasticity in SC. There is evidence that visual activity causes synaptic scaling in goldfish tectum (Riegle and Meyer, 2007) and intrinsic plasticity in *Xenopus* tadpole (Aizenman et al., 2003; Pratt and Aizenman, 2007). Although the RFs of SC neurons in β 2-nAChR knockout mice fail to refine, intrinsic excitability is unaffected (Shah and Crair, 2008), indicating that intrinsic excitability is separable from RF size in SC. In sum, there is no evidence that intrinsic plasticity underlies RF plasticity in SC, although future studies are necessary to test this hypothesis directly.

4.3.4 Visual experience-dependent changes in STD could affect sensory processing in SC

DR causes reduced GABAergic inhibition and increased probability of glutamate release, both of which could increase sensitivity to light. This could be an advantage to an animal born into a dark environment or with visual pathologies that could cause reduced vision such as cataract. However, there are several apparent tradeoffs for this increased sensitivity to light.

STD in SC is thought to underlie novel stimulus detection (Platt and Withington, 1997). Visual responses that occur at the same place in the visual field and retina are ignored because they activate the SC less and are therefore less likely to cause a motor output to orient to the stimulus. In this case, DR animals may have difficulty identifying novel stimuli, beyond the issues associated with low visual acuity alone.

In addition, STD acts as a temporal filter- it reduces the influence of fast spiking inputs on a neuron and increases the sensitivity to slower spiking inputs (Fortune and Rose, 2001). Thus, STD is a mechanism of gain control (Abbott et al., 1997) and network stability (Galarreta and Hestrin, 1998). Reduced STD in SC could disrupt temporal filtering and may prevent stimuli that evoke slow spiking from being perceived, because they are obscured by the fast spiking inputs that do not depress enough to reveal them. Direction tuning could be affected, because it is mediated by STD in V1(Chance et al., 1998) and in midbrain of weakly electric fish (Chacron et al., 2009).

V1 RFs are known to change size depending on stimulation (Pettet and Gilbert, 1992; Zhu and Yao, 2013). For example, high contrast stimuli reveal smaller excitatory RFs than low contrast stimuli presented to the same neuron (Sceniak et al., 1999; Chen et al., 2013). We reason that STD may underlie this phenomenon. When presented with high-contrast stimuli, V1 neurons respond maximally, likely resulting in more STD than when presented with low-contrast stimuli that elicits a less than maximal response. This notion, combined with our model that suggests STD causes RFs to shrink during visual stimulation, indicates that high contrast stimuli could elicit smaller RFs than low contrast stimuli, because of the different magnitudes of STD that they cause. DR may be an experimental paradigm that could be used to test the role of STD in these properties of sensory processing.

4.4 Critical periods in visual circuits

Critical periods for different visual properties coexist and overlap in the same brain area and in the same neurons (Daw and Wyatt, 1976; Jiang et al., 2007; Huberman et al., 2008). For example, the critical period for direction selectivity in cat V1 occurs weeks before the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity (Blakemore and Van Sluyters, 1974; Daw and Wyatt, 1976; Berman and Daw, 1977). The critical period for homeostatic synaptic scaling occurs before the critical periods for both direction and ocular dominance (Desai et al., 2002).

In addition, there are different critical periods for development, plasticity and recovery of the same RF property. For example, ocular dominance columns develop by P20 in ferrets, remain plastic and sensitive to experience until P60 (Crowley and Katz, 2000), and reverse occlusion allows recovery from monocular deprivation much later (Liao et al., 2004).

The meaning of the term critical period has changed since it was first used by Hubel and Wiesel (1963) to describe the time during which visual experience is essential for normal development, to a time when a circuit is especially plastic. In general, it seems that as experiments provide more detail about the phenomenon, most critical periods are less circumscribed than first reported.

The timing of critical periods can depend on the techniques used to assess them. Immediate early gene transcription shows robust ocular dominance plasticity longer than does electrophysiological assessment (Pham et al., 2004; Tagawa et al., 2005). *In vivo* extracellular visually evoked potential (VEP) recordings, which measure a summed synaptic potential produced by the synchronous activity of many neurons, also reveal long critical period duration (Sawtell et al., 2003), in contrast to *in vivo* single unit recordings (Gordon and Stryker, 1996), likely because they sample different activities. The anesthetic used for *in vivo* measurement of ocular dominance is also crucial. Ocular dominance plasticity appears to occur in adults if measured with VEPs under urethane anesthesia, but is occluded by barbiturate anesthesia in the same animals (Pham et al., 2004).

4.4.1 Is experience-dependent RF maintenance subject to a critical period?

As discussed above, the term critical period can quickly become a misnomer as data accumulate. This inevitability may be reason enough to refrain from referring to the experience-dependent prevention of RF plasticity as having a critical period. Moreover, it is somewhat difficult to relate the pattern of RF refinement and maintenance to the canonical critical period of ocular dominance plasticity, in which monocular deprivation causes a more complete ocular dominance shift during the critical period than before or after. In our model of RF plasticity, visual experience prevents RF enlargement from occurring *in the future*. The critical period for prevention of RF enlargement is anywhere from P22-90 in SC and P22-40 or later for V1 (the effect of light after P40 has not been tested), and only requires a few days of visual experience.

Experience-dependent prevention of RF plasticity may be better described as metaplasticity. Metaplasticity is a change in the ability to undergo plasticity or in the amount of plasticity that occurs (Abraham and Bear, 1996; Abraham, 2008). For example, in metaplasticity, a priming event allows later stimuli to cause a different amount of plasticity than would have occurred before the priming event. Visual experience prevents DR-induced RF enlargement. Thus, visual experience is the priming event that prevents plasticity during later chronic DR. Visual experience decreases metaplasticity of RF size and DR increases metaplasticity of RF size.

4.4.2 Critical periods differ between brain areas

Visual deprivation appears to have a larger effect on higher levels of the retinogeniculocortical visual pathway than on lower levels. This makes logical sense, given that higher levels require consistent and precise input from lower levels in order to function properly. The retina is affected even less by visual deprivation (Sherman and Stone, 1973; Cleland et al., 1980; He et al., 2011; Akimov and Renteria, 2014) and activity blockade (Sun et al., 2011; Wei et al., 2011). Retinal responses measured by electroretinogram are not affected by deprivation (Reuter, 1976), nor is the development of direction or velocity tuning in RGCs (Chan and Chiao, 2008; Elstrott et al., 2008), although anatomical segregation of ON and OFF pathways is disrupted, resulting in more RGCs that respond to both stimulus onset and offset (Tian and Copenhagen, 2003). Monocular deprivation causes the cell bodies of LGN neurons innervated by the deprived eye to shrink physically (Wiesel and Hubel, 1963) and reduces visually evoked potentials, but does not affect spatial resolution (Shapley and So, 1980).

Visual deprivation affects V1 much more profoundly than it affects retina and LGN. The observation that plasticity occurs earlier in the lower levels of the visual system holds for different layers within V1. The critical period for ocular dominance plasticity occurs earlier in layer 4 (the input layer) than in layer 2/3 (Hubel and Wiesel, 1970; Daw et al., 1992) as does the critical period for monocular deprivation-induced synaptic scaling (Desai et al., 2002). Layers within somatosensory cortex (Fox, 1992) also follow the pattern of areas farther from the sense organ having a later critical period onset. Postnatal maturation of visual areas also appear to occur earlier in lower visual areas (Condé et al., 1996; Guillery, 2005).

The reason that higher visual areas are more affected by visual deprivation is likely due to the importance of experience-dependent plasticity to their function in perception. Visual areas receiving V1 input likely maintain some plasticity indefinitely, because they are responsible for face recognition and

memory, which is clearly flexible throughout life (Squire et al., 2004; Hübener and Bonhoeffer, 2010). In contrast to higher visual perceptual properties, detection of luminance, stimulus onset and offset, movement, edges, orientations, and depth, is unlikely to require flexibility in adulthood. Under normal circumstances, restricting plasticity in primary sensory areas after refinement has occurred could be advantageous, because it prevents regression to an immature or unrefined state, as can occur in disease (Durand et al., 2012).

4.4.3 Critical periods differ between species

It is unclear why development of the same physiological property takes relatively longer in some species than others. The duration of critical periods appears to correlate with lifespan (Berardi et al., 2000). However, this ignores innumerable confounds. The animals used for the correlation included only rats, mice, ferrets, cats, monkeys and humans. Indeed, it is likely that gestational length, time of eye opening, body size, brain size, and orbit size would also correlate with critical period duration in this sample. It would be interesting to investigate whether critical period duration correlates better with brain size, neuron number (Charvet et al., 2013), neuron/glia ratio, synapse complexity, or simply developmental pace (Clancy et al., 2001).

In order to elucidate why critical period duration differs between species, more varied species must be studied. The order Rodentia is remarkably diverse in visual capacities and represent an opportunity for comparative study (Finlay et al., 1980). In particular, species with similar lifespans but different visual capacities and sizes could reveal mechanisms that control critical period duration. In addition to hamsters, rats, and mice (*Myomorpha* suborder), which have relatively poor vision and are small, species in other rodent suborders may be of interest. Squirrels (*Sciuromorpha*) have good vision and are among the largest rodents (Wilson and Reeder, 2005). Comparing critical period duration across these species would help identify parameters that relate to critical period plasticity.

4.5 RF refinement and plasticity as a substrate for evolutionary change

A useful way to think about evolution is to compare the role of the genome to the role of experience in the development of an organism's phenotype. In addition to the necessary role of the genome, experience clearly shapes the phenotype of an organism. This is referred to as phenotypic plasticity- the variation of a phenotype caused by the environment (West-Eberhard, 2003; Pfennig et al., 2010). As described above, DR-induced RF enlargement could increase sensitivity to light in a dark environment. The capacity for experience-dependent plasticity could provide an advantage to an animal and could therefore be subject to selection pressure.

Age-dependent phenotypic plasticity is more likely to exist when an organism does not have good information about the environment before or at birth (Fischer et al., 2014). Perhaps RFs refine by default in hamsters because they live underground and may not see light until weeks after birth. If the organism has no information about the environment it will live in (outside the burrow) it could be advantageous to assume that high acuity is necessary and that there will be sufficient light. RF plasticity in adulthood could provide an organism a way to fine-tune its visual system to an unpredictable postnatal environment. If the assumption of sufficient light after leaving the burrow was incorrect, and the organism must live in a low-light environment, RFs of Syrian hamsters are able to expand.

There are also costs associated with experience-dependent plasticity: irreversibility, for example. If an animal develops in a dark environment and the RFs are enlarged in order to adapt to low light conditions, but then it moves to a brighter environment, the visual system will not match the new surroundings. If the animal had had experience-independent refinement and no further DR-induced plasticity, it would be better off when moved to a lighter environment in adulthood. If experiencedependent plasticity has been selected for, then presumably the benefits to fitness outweigh the costs.

Alternatively, it is possible that experience-dependent plasticity has been selected for, not because of an advantage provided by phenotypic plasticity, but rather, because it is an effective way to build the nervous system. The genome is finite and does not have the capacity to specify the complex wiring of the brain. Instead, it contains rules that axons follow during synaptogenesis and pruning. It is also possible that experience-dependent plasticity is an exaptation, not directly selected upon, but genetically linked to some other process that provides a reproductive advantage. For example, the same genes that allow experience-dependent plasticity may be linked to another process in which experience is required for survival.

The interaction between the endocrine system and the environment has been proposed to induce phenotypic plasticity (Ketterson et al., 1996; Dufty et al., 2002). Hormones could be important to study in the context of plasticity, because critical periods typically end around puberty. Cortisol reduces the amount of ocular dominance plasticity that occurs during the critical period (Daw et al., 1991), but testosterone does not (Daw et al., 1987). DR may lead to a chronic increase in melatonin, because melatonin increases in the dark (Reiter, 1991). Interestingly, systemic administration of melatonin reduces cortical LTP *in vivo* (Soto-Moyano et al., 2006) and there is evidence that DR reduces this sensitivity to melatonin in acute hippocampal slices (Talaei et al., 2010). More studies are required to address whether hormone levels around puberty contribute to the expression of visual plasticity.

4.6 Clinical implications

4.6.1 Recovery from deprivation after the critical period in visual systems?

Until recently, the notion that normal visual experience is necessary to develop vision was assumed to be true for humans. A group of scientists is changing this perspective by treating adolescents and teenagers that have had bilateral cataracts since birth. They have found that, after cataract removal, many patients develop markedly improved contrast sensitivity (Ostrovsky et al., 2006; Kalia et al., 2014). Visual acuity in adults with amblyopia can also be improved by playing video games (Li et al., 2011; Hess et al., 2012; Jeon et al., 2012). Thus, in humans, plasticity allows recovery from visual deprivation much later than previously appreciated.

The studies described in Chapter 2 and 3 also suggest that plasticity can occur in adulthood and can be initiated by visual deprivation. In addition to behavioral therapies (Hunter, 2005; Hess et al.,

2010), visual deprivation has been proposed as a potential application to promote recovery of visual function (Duffy and Mitchell, 2013; Mitchell and Duffy, 2014).

4.6.2 Critical periods in human learning

Some humans possess absolute pitch- the ability to identify the pitch of a sound without any reference point. Development of absolute pitch is rare and requires practice during a critical period (Takeuchi and Hulse, 1993). A recent study showed that human adults given valproate, a histone-deacetylase inhibitor, were able to learn absolute pitch after the critical period (Gervain et al., 2013). This remarkable finding suggests that critical periods can be reopened in adult humans. It is unclear whether the effect of valproate was due to an epigenetic mechanism, but it is possible, because epigenetic changes appear to be one of the many factors that control ocular dominance plasticity (Putignano et al., 2007). Learning absolute pitch relates to language development. Speakers of languages that modulate pitch, such as Mandarin, have an advantage in learning absolute pitch (Deutsch et al., 2006). It is possible that treatments that help adults learn absolute pitch could also help in language learning.

4.6.3 Clinical implications related to plasticity of GABAergic inhibition

Sensory deprivation occurs in humans with diseases that occlude or disrupt retinal processing, including macular degeneration and cataract (Lewis and Maurer, 2009) and reduces inhibition in visual circuits. Moreover, given the important role of inhibition in neural processing across the brain, it is likely that changes in inhibition contribute to many disorders beyond those caused by sensory deprivation.

Dysregulation of inhibition disrupts sensory processing by affecting surround suppression, stimulus selectivity, and by allowing changes in short-term plasticity that would not occur under normal conditions. Inhibitory surround suppression affects perception in humans and can be measured in visual tasks (Tadin et al., 2003). Perceptual testing in humans suggests that surround suppression is reduced by aging (Betts et al., 2005), depression (Golomb et al., 2009) and schizophrenia (Tadin et al., 2006).

Understanding the development and plasticity of GABAergic inhibition could relate to these disorders (Takesian and Hensch, 2013).

4.6.4 Clinical implications related to short-term plasticity

Short-term plasticity occurs at virtually all synapses in the brain and any disruption can lead to serious impairment in function (Abbott and Regehr, 2004). Short-term plasticity is affected by neurodegenerative or psychiatric disorders (Arguello and Gogos, 2012) and by factors such as brain injury (Li et al., 2005), seizures (Hernan et al., 2013), or deafness (Takesian et al., 2010). Identifying how short-term plasticity is regulated in general and how it is affected by the environment could provide new avenues to study the etiology and treatment of pervasive neurologic and psychiatric disorders.

- Aamodt SM, Shi J, Colonnese MT, Veras W, Constantine-Paton M (2000) Chronic NMDA exposure accelerates development of GABAergic inhibition in the superior colliculus. J Neurophysiol 83:1580-1591.
- Abbott LF, Regehr W (2004) Synaptic computation. Nature 431:796-803.
- Abbott LF, Varela JA, Sen K, Nelson SB (1997) Synaptic depression and cortical gain control. Science 275:220-224.
- Abraham WC (2008) Metaplasticity: tuning synapses and networks for plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 9:387.
- Abraham WC, Bear MF (1996) Metaplasticity: The plasticity of synaptic plasticity. Trends Neurosci 19:126-130.
- Ackman JB, Burbridge TJ, Crair MC (2012) Retinal waves coordinate patterned activity throughout the developing visual system. Nature 490:219-225.
- Aizenman CD, Akerman CJ, Jensen KR, Cline HT (2003) Visually driven regulation of intrinsic neuronal excitability improves stimulus detection in vivo. Neuron 39:831-842.
- Akerman CJ, Smyth D, Thompson ID (2002) Visual experience before eye-opening and the development of the retinogeniculate pathway. Neuron 36:869-879.
- Akimov NP, Renteria RC (2014) Dark rearing alters the normal development of spatiotemporal response properties but not of contrast detection threshold in mouse retinal ganglion cells. Dev Neurobiol.
- Albus K, Wolf W (1984) Early post-natal development of neuronal function in the kitten's visual cortex: a laminar analysis. J Physiol 348:153-185.
- Alger BE, Nicoll RA (1982) Pharmacological evidence for two kinds of GABA receptor on rat hippocampal pyramidal cells studied in vitro. J Physiol 328:125-141.
- Antonini A, Stryker MP (1993) Development of individual geniculocortical arbors in cat striate cortex and effects of binocular impulse blockade. J Neurosci 13:3549-3573.

- Arguello PA, Gogos J (2012) Genetic and cognitive windows into circuit mechanisms of psychiatric disease. Trends Neurosci 35:3-13.
- Artola A, Bröcher S, Singer W (1990) Different voltage-dependent thresholds for inducing long-term depression and long-term potentiation in slices of rat visual cortex. Nature 347:69-72.
- Bakkum BW, Benevento LA, Cohen RS (1991) Effects of light/dark- and dark-rearing on synaptic morphology in the superior colliculus and visual cortex of the postnatal and adult rat. J Neurosci Res 28:65-80.
- Balmer TS, Pallas SL (2013) Refinement but Not Maintenance of Visual Receptive Fields Is Independent of Visual Experience. Cereb Cortex.
- Balmer TS, Carels VM, Frisch JL, Nick TA (2009) Modulation of perineuronal nets and parvalbumin with developmental song learning. J Neurosci 29:12878-12885.
- Bansal A, Singer JH, Hwang BJ, Xu W, Beaudet A, Feller MB (2000) Mice lacking specific nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunits exhibit dramatically altered spontaneous activity patterns and reveal a limited role for retinal waves in forming ON and OFF circuits in the inner retina. The Journal of neuroscience 20:7672-7681.
- Baroncelli L, Sale A, Viegi A, Maya Vetencourt JF, De Pasquale R, Baldini S, Maffei L (2010) Experience-dependent reactivation of ocular dominance plasticity in the adult visual cortex. Exp Neurol 226:100-109.
- Bear MF, Huber KM, Warren ST (2004) The mGIuR theory of fragile X mental retardation. Trends Neurosci 27:370-377.
- Benardo LS (1994) Separate activation of fast and slow inhibitory postsynaptic potentials in rat neocortex *in vitro*. J Physiol 476:203-215.
- Bence M, Levelt CN (2005) Structural plasticity in the developing visual system. Prog Brain Res 147:125-139.
- Benevento LA, Bakkum BW, Cohen RS (1995) Gamma-aminobutyric acid and somatostatin immunoreactivity in the visual cortex of normal and dark-reared rats. Brain Res 689:172-182.

- Benevento LA, Bakkum BW, Port JD, Cohen RS (1992) The effects of dark-rearing on the electrophysiology of the rat visual cortex. Brain Res 572:198-207.
- Berardi N, Pizzorusso T, Maffei L (2000) Critical periods during sensory development. Curr Opin Neurobiol 10:138-145.
- Berman N, Daw NW (1977) Comparison of the critical periods for monocular and directional deprivation in cats. J Physiol 265:249-259.
- Betts LR, Taylor CP, Sekuler AB, Bennett PJ (2005) Aging reduces center-surround antagonism in visual motion processing. Neuron 45:361-366.
- Beurdeley M, Spatazza J, Lee HH, Sugiyama S, Bernard C, Di Nardo AA, Hensch TK, Prochiantz A (2012) Otx2 binding to perineuronal nets persistently regulates plasticity in the mature visual cortex. J Neurosci 32:9429-9437.
- Binns KE, Salt TE (1997) Different roles for GABA_A and GABA_B receptors in visual processing in the rat superior colliculus. J Physiol 504 (Pt 3):629-639.
- Blakemore C, Van Sluyters RC (1974) Reversal of the physiological effects of monocular deprivation in kittens: further evidence for a sensitive period. J Physiol 237:195-216.
- Blakemore C, Van Sluyters RC (1975) Innate and environmental factors in the development of the kitten's visual cortex. J Physiol 248:663-716.
- Blasdel G, Obermayer K, Kiorpes L (1995) Organization of ocular dominance and orientation columns in the striate cortex of neonatal macaque monkeys. Vis Neurosci 12:589-603.
- Bliss TV, Lomo T (1973) Long-lasting potentiation of synaptic transmission in the dentate area of the anaesthetized rabbit following stimulation of the perforant path. J Physiol 232:331-356.
- Bonds AB (1979) Development of Orientation Tuning in the Visual Cortex of Kittens. In: Developmental Neurobiology of Vision (Freeman RD, ed), pp 31-41. New York: Plenum.

Bonds AB, Freeman RD (1978) Development of optical quality in the kitten eye. Vision Res 18:391-398.

Bothwell M (1995) Functional Interactions of Neurotrophins and Neurotrophin Receptors. Annu Rev Neurosci 18:223-253.

- Bourgeois JP, Rakic P (1996) Synaptogenesis in the occipital cortex of macaque monkey devoid of retinal input from early embryonic stages. Eur J Neurosci 8:942-950.
- Bourgeois JP, Jastreboff PJ, Rakic P (1989) Synaptogenesis in visual cortex of normal and preterm monkeys: evidence for intrinsic regulation of synaptic overproduction. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:4297-4301.
- Bowery NG, Price GW, Hudson AL, Hill DR, Wilkin GP, Turnbull MJ (1984) GABA receptor multiplicity. Visualization of different receptor types in the mammalian CNS. Neuropharmacology 23:219-231.
- Braastad BO, Heggelund P (1985) Development of spatial receptive-field organization and orientation selectivity in kitten striate cortex. J Neurophysiol 53:1158-1178.
- Brown A, Yates PA, Burrola P, OrtuÃfo D, Vaidya A, Jessell TM, Pfaff SL, O'Leary DD, Lemke G (2000) Topographic mapping from the retina to the midbrain is controlled by relative but not absolute levels of EphA receptor signaling. Cell 102:77-88.
- Buisseret P, Imbert M (1976) Visual cortical cells: their developmental properties in normal and dark reared kittens. J Physiol 255:511-525.
- Cai D, DeAngelis GC, Freeman RD (1997) Spatiotemporal receptive field organization in the lateral geniculate nucleus of cats and kittens. J Neurophysiol 78:1045-1061.
- Cang J, Rentera R, Kaneko M, Liu X, Copenhagen D, Stryker M (2005) Development of precise maps in visual cortex requires patterned spontaneous activity in the retina. Neuron 48:797-809.
- Carman LS, Schneider GE (1992) Orienting behavior in hamsters with lesions of superior colliculus, pretectum, and visual cortex. Exp Brain Res 90:79-91.
- Carrasco MM, Pallas SL (2006) Early visual experience prevents but cannot reverse deprivation-induced loss of refinement in adult superior colliculus. Vis Neurosci 23:845-852.
- Carrasco MM, Razak KA, Pallas SL (2005) Visual experience is necessary for maintenance but not development of receptive fields in superior colliculus. J Neurophysiol 94:1962-1970.

- Carrasco MM, Mao YT, Balmer TS, Pallas SL (2011) Inhibitory plasticity underlies visual deprivationinduced loss of receptive field refinement in the adult superior colliculus. Eur J Neurosci 33:58-68.
- Carta M, Murru L, Barabino E, Talani G, Sanna E, Biggio G (2008) Isoniazid-induced reduction in GABAergic neurotransmission alters the function of the cerebellar cortical circuit. Neuroscience 154:710-719.
- Carulli D, Pizzorusso T, Kwok JC, Putignano E, Poli A, Forostyak S, Andrews MR, Deepa SS, Glant TT, Fawcett JW (2010) Animals lacking link protein have attenuated perineuronal nets and persistent plasticity. Brain 133:2331-2347.
- Caruso DM, Owczarzak MT, Goebel DJ, Hazlett JC, Pourcho RG (1989) GABA-immunoreactivity in ganglion cells of the rat retina. Brain Res 476:129-134.
- Catalano SM, Shatz CJ (1998) Activity-dependent cortical target selection by thalamic axons. Science 281:559-562.
- Cavanaugh J, Joiner WM, Wurtz RH (2012) Suppressive surrounds of receptive fields in monkey frontal eye field. J Neurosci 32:12284-12293.
- Chacron MJ, Toporikova N, Fortune ES (2009) Differences in the time course of short-term depression across receptive fields are correlated with directional selectivity in electrosensory neurons. J Neurophysiol 102:3270-3279.
- Chalifoux JR, Carter AG (2011) GABA_B receptor modulation of synaptic function. Curr Opin Neurobiol 21:339-344.
- Chalupa LM (2009) Retinal waves are unlikely to instruct the formation of eye-specific retinogeniculate projections. Neural development 4:25.
- Chalupa LM, Rhoades RW (1977) Responses of visual, somatosensory, and auditory neurones in the golden hamster's superior colliculus. J Physiol 270:595-626.
- Chalupa LM, Rhoades RW (1978a) Directional selectivity in hamster superior colliculus is modified by strobe-rearing but not by dark-rearing. Science 199:998-1001.

- Chalupa LM, Rhoades RW (1978b) Modification of visual response properties in the superior colliculus of the golden hamster following stroboscopic rearing. J Physiol 274:571-592.
- Chalupa LM, Snider CJ (1998) Topographic specificity in the retinocollicular projection of the developing ferret: an anterograde tracing study. J Comp Neurol 392:35-47.
- Chan Y-C, Chiao C-C (2008) Effect of visual experience on the maturation of ON-OFF direction selective ganglion cells in the rabbit retina. Vision Res 48:2466-2475.
- Chance FS, Nelson SB, Abbott LF (1998) Synaptic depression and the temporal response characteristics of V1 cells. J Neurosci 18:4785-4799.
- Chandrasekaran AR, Shah RD, Crair MC (2007) Developmental homeostasis of mouse retinocollicular synapses. J Neurosci 27:1746-1755.
- Chandrasekaran AR, Plas DT, Gonzalez E, Crair MC (2005) Evidence for an instructive role of retinal activity in retinotopic map refinement in the superior colliculus of the mouse. J Neurosci 25:6929-6938.
- Chapman B, Stryker MP (1993) Development of orientation selectivity in ferret visual cortex and effects of deprivation. J Neurosci 13:5251-5262.
- Chapman B, Stryker MP, Bonhoeffer T (1996) Development of orientation preference maps in ferret primary visual cortex. J Neurosci 16:6443-6453.
- Chapman B, Godecke I, Bonhoeffer T (1999) Development of orientation preference in the mammalian visual cortex. J Neurobiol 41:18-24.
- Charvet CJ, Cahalane DJ, Finlay BL (2013) Systematic, Cross-Cortex Variation in Neuron Numbers in Rodents and Primates. Cereb Cortex.
- Chattopadhyaya B, Di Cristo G, Higashiyama H, Knott GW, Kuhlman SJ, Welker E, Huang ZJ (2004) Experience and activity-dependent maturation of perisomatic GABAergic innervation in primary visual cortex during a postnatal critical period. J Neurosci 24:9598-9611.

- Chattopadhyaya B, Di Cristo G, Wu CZ, Knott G, Kuhlman S, Fu Y, Palmiter RD, Huang ZJ (2007) GAD67-mediated GABA synthesis and signaling regulate inhibitory synaptic innervation in the visual cortex. Neuron 54:889-903.
- Cheetham CE, Fox K (2011) The role of sensory experience in presynaptic development is cortical area specific. J Physiol 589:5691-5699.
- Chen K, Song XM, Li CY (2013) Contrast-dependent variations in the excitatory classical receptive field and suppressive nonclassical receptive field of cat primary visual cortex. Cereb Cortex 23:283-292.
- Chiu C, Weliky M (2001) Spontaneous activity in developing ferret visual cortex in vivo. J Neurosci 21:8906-8914.
- Choi SY, Morales B, Lee HK, Kirkwood A (2002) Absence of long-term depression in the visual cortex of glutamic acid decarboxylase-65 knock-out mice. J Neurosci 22:5271-5276.
- Cirone J, Salt TE (2001) Group II and III metabotropic glutamate receptors contribute to different aspects of visual response processing in the rat superior colliculus. J Physiol 534:169-178.
- Clancy B, Darlington RB, Finlay BL (2001) Translating developmental time across mammalian species. Neuroscience 105:7-17.
- Cleland BG, Mitchell DE, Gillard Crewther S, Crewther DP (1980) Visual resolution of retinal ganglion cells in monocularly-deprived cats. Brain Res 192:261-266.
- Cline HT, Constantine Paton M (1989) NMDA receptor antagonists disrupt the retinotectal topographic map. Neuron 3:413-426.
- Cohen-Cory S (1999) BDNF modulates, but does not mediate, activity-dependent branching and remodeling of optic axon arbors in vivo. J Neurosci 19:9996-10003.
- Colonnese M, Kaminska A, Minlebaev M, Milh M, Bloem B, Lescure S, Moriette G, Chiron C, Ben Ari Y, Khazipov R (2010) A conserved switch in sensory processing prepares developing neocortex for vision. Neuron 67:480-498.

- Condé F, Lund JS, Lewis DA (1996) The hierarchical development of monkey visual cortical regions as revealed by the maturation of parvalbumin-immunoreactive neurons. Developmental brain research 96:261-276.
- Constantine-Paton M, Cline HT, Debski E (1990) Patterned activity, synaptic convergence, and the NMDA receptor in developing visual pathways. Annu Rev Neurosci 13:129-154.
- Cook PM, Prusky G, Ramoa AS (1999) The role of spontaneous retinal activity before eye opening in the maturation of form and function in the retinogeniculate pathway of the ferret. Vis Neurosci 16:491-501.
- Crair MC (1999) Neuronal activity during development: permissive or instructive? Curr Opin Neurobiol 9:88-93.
- Crair MC, Gillespie DC, Stryker MP (1998) The role of visual experience in the development of columns in cat visual cortex. Science 279:566-570.
- Crowley JC, Katz LC (1999) Development of ocular dominance columns in the absence of retinal input. Nat Neurosci 2:1125-1130.
- Crowley JC, Katz LC (2000) Early development of ocular dominance columns. Science 290:1321-1324.
- Cudmore RH, Turrigiano GG (2004) Long-term potentiation of intrinsic excitability in LV visual cortical neurons. J Neurophysiol 92:341-348.
- Cynader M, Mitchell DE (1980) Prolonged sensitivity to monocular deprivation in dark-reared cats. J Neurophysiol 43:1026-1040.
- Cynader M, Berman N, Hein A (1976) Recovery of function in cat visual cortex following prolonged deprivation. Exp Brain Res 25:139-156.
- da Costa BL, Hokoc JN, Pinaud RR, Gattass R (1997) GABAergic retinocollicular projection in the New World monkey *Cebus apella*. Neuroreport 8:1797-1802.
- Daoudal G, Debanne D (2003) Long-term plasticity of intrinsic excitability: learning rules and mechanisms. Learn Mem 10:456-465.

- Daw N, Rao Y, Wang X-F, Fischer Q, Yang Y (2004) LTP and LTD vary with layer in rodent visual cortex. Vision Res 44:3377-3380.
- Daw NW (2006) Development of Receptive Field Properties. In: Visual Development, pp 91-109: Springer.
- Daw NW, Wyatt HJ (1976) Kittens reared in a unidirectional environment: evidence for a critical period. J Physiol 257:155-170.
- Daw NW, Baysinger KJ, Parkinson D (1987) Increased levels of testosterone have little effect on visual cortex plasticity in the kitten. Journal of neurobiology 18:141-154.
- Daw NW, Brunken WJ, Parkinson D (1989) The function of synaptic transmitters in the retina. Annu Rev Neurosci 12:205-225.
- Daw NW, Fox K, Sato H, Czepita D (1992) Critical period for monocular deprivation in the cat visual cortex. J Neurophysiol 67:197-202.
- Daw NW, Sato H, Fox K, Carmichael T, Gingerich R (1991) Cortisol reduces plasticity in the kitten visual cortex. Journal of neurobiology 22:158-168.
- Dawis S, Shapley R, Kaplan E, Tranchina D (1984) The receptive field organization of X-cells in the cat: spatiotemporal coupling and asymmetry. Vision Res 24:549-564.
- De Koninck Y, Mody I (1997) Endogenous GABA activates small-conductance K+ channels underlying slow IPSCs in rat hippocampal neurons. J Neurophysiol 77:2202-2208.
- DeAngelis GC, Freeman RD, Ohzawa I (1994) Length and width tuning of neurons in the cat's primary visual cortex. J Neurophysiol 71:347-374.
- Debski EA, Cline HT, Constantine-Paton M (1990) Activity-dependent tuning and the NMDA receptor. J Neurobiol 21:18-32.
- Demas J, Eglen SJ, Wong RO (2003) Developmental loss of synchronous spontaneous activity in the mouse retina is independent of visual experience. J Neurosci 23:2851-2860.
- Derrington AM (1984) Development of spatial frequency selectivity in striate cortex of vision-deprived cats. Exp Brain Res 55:431-437.

- Derrington AM, Fuchs AF (1981) The development of spatial-frequency selectivity in kitten striate cortex. J Physiol 316:1-10.
- Desai N, Cudmore R, Nelson S, Turrigiano G (2002) Critical periods for experience-dependent synaptic scaling in visual cortex. Nat Neurosci 5:783-789.
- Desai NS (2003) Homeostatic plasticity in the CNS: synaptic and intrinsic forms. J Physiol Paris 97:391-402.
- Desai NS, Rutherford LC, Turrigiano GG (1999) Plasticity in the intrinsic excitability of cortical pyramidal neurons. Nat Neurosci 2:515-520.
- Deutsch D, Henthorn T, Marvin E, Xu H (2006) Absolute pitch among American and Chinese conservatory students: prevalence differences, and evidence for a speech-related critical period. J Acoust Soc Am 119:719-722.
- Devi L, Ohno M (2012) 7,8-dihydroxyflavone, a small-molecule TrkB agonist, reverses memory deficits and BACE1 elevation in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. Neuropsychopharmacology 37:434-444.
- Di Marco S, Nguyen VA, Bisti S, Protti DA (2009) Permanent functional reorganization of retinal circuits induced by early long-term visual deprivation. J Neurosci 29:13691-13701.
- Duffy K, Mitchell D (2013) Darkness alters maturation of visual cortex and promotes fast recovery from monocular deprivation. Current biology 23:382-386.
- Dufty AM, Clobert J, Møller AP (2002) Hormones, developmental plasticity and adaptation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 17:190-196.
- Durand S, Patrizi A, Quast KB, Hachigian L, Pavlyuk R, Saxena A, Carninci P, Hensch TK, Fagiolini M (2012) NMDA Receptor Regulation Prevents Regression of Visual Cortical Function in the Absence of Mecp2. Neuron 76:1078-1090.
- Elstrott J, Anishchenko A, Greschner M, Sher A, Litke A, Chichilnisky EJ, Feller M (2008) Direction selectivity in the retina is established independent of visual experience and cholinergic retinal waves. Neuron 58:499-506.

- Endo T, Isa T (2002) Postsynaptic and presynaptic GABA(B) receptor-mediated inhibition in rat superficial superior colliculus neurons. Neuroscience Letters 322:126-130.
- Enroth-Cugell C, Robson JG (1966) The contrast sensitivity of retinal ganglion cells of the cat. J Physiol 187:517-552.
- Espinosa JS, Stryker M (2012) Development and plasticity of the primary visual cortex. Neuron 75:230-249.
- Fagiolini M, Hensch TK (2000) Inhibitory threshold for critical-period activation in primary visual cortex. Nature 404:183-186.
- Fagiolini M, Pizzorusso T, Berardi N, Domenici L, Maffei L (1994) Functional postnatal development of the rat primary visual cortex and the role of visual experience: dark rearing and monocular deprivation. Vision Res 34:709-720.
- Fagiolini M, Fritschy JM, Low K, Mohler H, Rudolph U, Hensch TK (2004) Specific GABAA circuits for visual cortical plasticity. Science 303:1681-1683.
- Fagiolini M, Katagiri H, Miyamoto H, Mori H, Grant SG, Mishina M, Hensch TK (2003) Separable features of visual cortical plasticity revealed by N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor 2A signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:2854-2859.
- Fawcett JW, O'Leary DD, Cowan WM (1984) Activity and the control of ganglion cell death in the rat retina. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 81:5589-5593.
- Feldheim DA, O'Leary DD (2010) Visual map development: bidirectional signaling, bifunctional guidance molecules, and competition. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2:a001768.
- Feldheim DA, Kim YI, Bergemann AD, Frisén J, Barbacid M, Flanagan JG (2000) Genetic analysis of ephrin-A2 and ephrin-A5 shows their requirement in multiple aspects of retinocollicular mapping. Neuron 25:563-574.
- Feller MB, Wellis DP, Stellwagen D, Werblin FS, Shatz CJ (1996) Requirement for cholinergic synaptic transmission in the propagation of spontaneous retinal waves. Science 272:1182-1187.

- Finlay BL, Berian CA (1985) Visual and Somatosensory Processes. In: The Hamster (Siegel H, ed), pp 409-433: Springer US.
- Finlay BL, Schneps SE, Wilson KG, Schneider GE (1978) Topography of visual and somatosensory projections to the superior colliculus of the golden hamster. Brain Res 142:223-235.
- Finlay BL, Sengelaub DR, Berg AT, Cairns SJ (1980) A neuroethological approach to hamster vision. Behav Brain Res 1:479-496.
- Firth S, Wang C-T, Feller M (2005) Retinal waves: mechanisms and function in visual system development. Cell calcium 37:425-432.
- Fischer B, van Doorn GS, Dieckmann U, Taborsky B (2014) The evolution of age-dependent plasticity. The American naturalist 183:108-125.
- Flandrin JM, Jeannerod M (1975) Superior colliculus: environmental influences on the development of directional responses in the kitten. Brain Res 89:348-352.
- Flandrin JM, Kennedy H, Amblard B (1976) Effects of stroboscopic rearing on the binocularity and directionality of cat superior colliculus neurons. Brain Res 101:576-581.
- Flint AC, Maisch US, Weishaupt JH, Kriegstein AR, Monyer H (1997) NR2A subunit expression shortens NMDA receptor synaptic currents in developing neocortex. J Neurosci 17:2469-2476.
- Fortin S, Chabli A, Dumont I, Shumikhina S, Itaya SK, Molotchnikoff S (1999) Maturation of visual receptive field properties in the rat superior colliculus. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 112:55-64.
- Fortune ES, Rose GJ (2001) Short-term synaptic plasticity as a temporal filter. Trends Neurosci 24:381-385.
- Fox K (1992) A critical period for experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in rat barrel cortex. J Neurosci 12:1826-1838.
- Fox K, Daw NW (1993) Do NMDA receptors have a critical function in visual cortical plasticity? Trends in neurosciences 16:116-122.
- Fox K, Sato H, Daw N (1989) The location and function of NMDA receptors in cat and kitten visual cortex. The Journal of neuroscience 9:2443-2454.

- Fregnac Y, Imbert M (1978) Early development of visual cortical cells in normal and dark-reared kittens: relationship between orientation selectivity and ocular dominance. J Physiol 278:27-44.
- Frisén J, Yates PA, McLaughlin T, Friedman GC, O'Leary DD, Barbacid M (1998) Ephrin-A5 (AL-1/RAGS) is essential for proper retinal axon guidance and topographic mapping in the mammalian visual system. Neuron 20:235-243.
- Gabbott PL, Somogyi P (1986) Quantitative distribution of GABA-immunoreactive neurons in the visual cortex (area 17) of the cat. Exp Brain Res 61:323-331.
- Gabbott PL, Stewart MG (1987) Quantitative morphological effects of dark-rearing and light exposure on the synaptic connectivity of layer 4 in the rat visual cortex (area 17). Exp Brain Res 68:103-114.
- Galarreta M, Hestrin S (1998) Frequency-dependent synaptic depression and the balance of excitation and inhibition in the neocortex. Nat Neurosci 1:587-594.
- Galli L, Maffei L (1988) Spontaneous impulse activity of rat retinal ganglion cells in prenatal life. Science 242:90-91.
- Ganz L, Fitch M, Satterberg JA (1968) The selective effect of visual deprivation on receptive field shape determined neurophysiologically. Exp Neurol 22:614-637.
- Gervain J, Vines BW, Chen LM, Seo RJ, Hensch TK, Werker JF, Young AH (2013) Valproate reopens critical-period learning of absolute pitch. Frontiers in systems neuroscience 7:102.
- Gianfranceschi L, Siciliano R, Walls J, Morales B, Kirkwood A, Huang ZJ, Tonegawa S, Maffei L (2003) Visual cortex is rescued from the effects of dark rearing by overexpression of BDNF. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:12486-12491.
- Gödecke I, Kim DS, Bonhoeffer T, Singer W (1997) Development of orientation preference maps in area 18 of kitten visual cortex. Eur J Neurosci 9:1754-1762.
- Goel A, Lee H-K (2007) Persistence of experience-induced homeostatic synaptic plasticity through adulthood in superficial layers of mouse visual cortex. J Neurosci 27:6692-6700.

- Gogolla N, Leblanc JJ, Quast KB, Sudhof TC, Fagiolini M, Hensch TK (2009) Common circuit defect of excitatory-inhibitory balance in mouse models of autism. Journal of neurodevelopmental disorders 1:172-181.
- Golomb J, McDavitt JRB, Ruf B, Chen J, Saricicek A, Maloney K, Hu J, Chun M, Bhagwagar Z (2009) Enhanced visual motion perception in major depressive disorder. The journal of neuroscience 29:9072-9077.
- Goodale MA, Milner AD (1992) Separate visual pathways for perception and action. Trends Neurosci 15:20-25.
- Gordon JA, Stryker MP (1996) Experience-dependent plasticity of binocular responses in the primary visual cortex of the mouse. J Neurosci 16:3274-3286.
- Grantyn R, Henneberger C, Juttner R, Meier JC, Kirischuk S (2011) Functional hallmarks of GABAergic synapse maturation and the diverse roles of neurotrophins. Front Cell Neurosci 5:13.
- Grubb MS, Thompson ID (2004) Visual response properties in the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus of mice lacking the beta2 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. J Neurosci 24:8459-8469.
- Grubb MS, Rossi FM, Changeux JP, Thompson ID (2003) Abnormal functional organization in the dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus of mice lacking the beta 2 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Neuron 40:1161-1172.
- Guido W (2008) Refinement of the retinogeniculate pathway. J Physiol 586:4357-4362.
- Guillery RW (2005) Is postnatal neocortical maturation hierarchical? Trends in Neurosciences 28:512-517.
- Habak C, Faubert J (2000) Larger effect of aging on the perception of higher-order stimuli. Vision Res 40:943-950.
- Harauzov A, Spolidoro M, DiCristo G, De Pasquale R, Cancedda L, Pizzorusso T, Viegi A, Berardi N, Maffei L (2010) Reducing intracortical inhibition in the adult visual cortex promotes ocular dominance plasticity. J Neurosci 30:361-371.

- Harlow E, Till S, Russell T, Wijetunge L, Kind P, Contractor A (2010) Critical period plasticity is disrupted in the barrel cortex of FMR1 knockout mice. Neuron 65:385-398.
- Harris WA (1984) Axonal pathfinding in the absence of normal pathways and impulse activity. The Journal of neuroscience 4:1153-1162.
- He HY, Hodos W, Quinlan EM (2006) Visual deprivation reactivates rapid ocular dominance plasticity in adult visual cortex. J Neurosci 26:2951-2955.
- He Q, Wang P, Tian N (2011) Light-evoked synaptic activity of retinal ganglion and amacrine cells is regulated in developing mouse retina. Eur J Neurosci 33:36-48.
- Heimel JA, van Versendaal D, Levelt CN (2011) The role of GABAergic inhibition in ocular dominance plasticity. Neural Plast 2011:391763.
- Heimel JA, Saiepour MH, Chakravarthy S, Hermans JM, Levelt CN (2010) Contrast gain control and cortical TrkB signaling shape visual acuity. Nat Neurosci 13:642-648.
- Hendrickson A, Boothe R (1976) Morphology of the retina and dorsal lateral geniculate nucleus in darkreared monkeys (Macaca nemestrina). Vision Res 16:517-521.
- Hendry SH, Schwark HD, Jones EG, Yan J (1987) Numbers and proportions of GABA-immunoreactive neurons in different areas of monkey cerebral cortex. J Neurosci 7:1503-1519.

Hensch TK (2005) Critical period plasticity in local cortical circuits. Nat Rev Neurosci 6:877-888.

- Hensch TK, Fagiolini M, Mataga N, Stryker MP, Baekkeskov S, Kash SF (1998) Local GABA circuit control of experience-dependent plasticity in developing visual cortex. Science 282:1504-1508.
- Hernan AE, Holmes GL, Isaev D, Scott RC, Isaeva E (2013) Altered short-term plasticity in the prefrontal cortex after early life seizures. Neurobiol Dis 50:120-126.
- Hess R, Mansouri B, Thompson B (2010) A binocular approach to treating amblyopia: antisuppression therapy. Optometry and vision science 87:697-704.
- Hess R, Thompson B, Black JM, Machara G, Zhang P, Bobier WR, Cooperstock J (2012) An iPod treatment of amblyopia: an updated binocular approach. Optometry 83:87-94.

- Hevner RF (2000) Development of connections in the human visual system during fetal mid-gestation: a DiI-tracing study. J Neuropath Exp Neur 59:385-392.
- Hindges R, McLaughlin T, Genoud N, Henkemeyer M, O'Leary DDM (2002) EphB forward signaling controls directional branch extension and arborization required for dorsal-ventral retinotopic mapping. Neuron 35:475-487.
- Hirsch HV, Spinelli D (1970) Visual experience modifies distribution of horizontally and vertically oriented receptive fields in cats. Science.
- Hirsch HV, Spinelli DN (1971) Modification of the distribution of receptive field orientation in cats by selective visual exposure during development. Exp Brain Res 12:509-527.
- Hofer SB, Mrsic-Flogel TD, Bonhoeffer T, Hubener M (2006) Prior experience enhances plasticity in adult visual cortex. Nat Neurosci 9:127-132.
- Hofer SB, Mrsic-Flogel TD, Bonhoeffer T, Hubener M (2009) Experience leaves a lasting structural trace in cortical circuits. Nature 457:313-317.
- Hooks BM, Chen C (2006) Distinct roles for spontaneous and visual activity in remodeling of the retinogeniculate synapse. Neuron 52:281-291.
- Hooks BM, Chen C (2008) Vision triggers an experience-dependent sensitive period at the retinogeniculate synapse. J Neurosci 28:4807-4817.
- Horton JC, Hocking DR (1996) An adult-like pattern of ocular dominance columns in striate cortex of newborn monkeys prior to visual experience. J Neurosci 16:1791-1807.
- Hu B, Nikolakopoulou AM, Cohen-Cory S (2005) BDNF stabilizes synapses and maintains the structural complexity of optic axons in vivo. Development 132:4285-4298.
- Huang EJ, Reichardt LF (2001) Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. Annu Rev Neurosci 24:677-736.
- Huang L, Pallas SL (2001) NMDA antagonists in the superior colliculus prevent developmental plasticity but not visual transmission or map compression. J Neurophysiol 86:1179-1194.

- Huang S, Gu Y, Quinlan EM, Kirkwood A (2010) A refractory period for rejuvenating GABAergic synaptic transmission and ocular dominance plasticity with dark exposure. J Neurosci 30:16636-16642.
- Huang ZJ, Kirkwood A, Pizzorusso T, Porciatti V, Morales B, Bear MF, Maffei L, Tonegawa S (1999) BDNF regulates the maturation of inhibition and the critical period of plasticity in mouse visual cortex. Cell 98:739-755.
- Hubel DH, Wiesel TN (1963) Receptive fields of cells in striate cortex of very young, visually inexperienced kittens. J Neurophysiol 26:994-1002.
- Hubel DH, Wiesel TN (1968) Receptive fields and functional architecture of monkey striate cortex. The Journal of Physiology 195:215-243.
- Hubel DH, Wiesel TN (1970) The period of susceptibility to the physiological effects of unilateral eye closure in kittens. J Physiol 206:419-436.
- Hubel DH, Wiesel TN (1974) Sequence regularity and geometry of orientation columns in the monkey striate cortex. J Comp Neurol 158:267-293.
- Hübener M, Bonhoeffer T (2010) Searching for engrams. Neuron 67:363-371.
- Huberman AD, Speer CM, Chapman B (2006) Spontaneous retinal activity mediates development of ocular dominance columns and binocular receptive fields in V1. Neuron 52:247-254.
- Huberman AD, Feller MB, Chapman B (2008) Mechanisms underlying development of visual maps and receptive fields. Annu Rev Neurosci 31:479-509.
- Huhman KL, Jasnow AM, Sisitsky AK, Albers HE (1999) Glutamic acid decarboxylase mRNA in the suprachiasmatic nucleus of rats housed in constant darkness. Brain Res 851:266-269.
- Hunter DG (2005) Early detection vs late treatment of amblyopia. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 293:1920-1922.

Insel T (2010) Rethinking schizophrenia. Nature 468:187-193.

Isa T (2002) Intrinsic processing in the mammalian superior colliculus. Curr Opin Neurobiol 12:668-677.

- Iwai Y, Fagiolini M, Obata K, Hensch TK (2003) Rapid critical period induction by tonic inhibition in visual cortex. J Neurosci 23:6695-6702.
- Jang S-W, Liu X, Yepes M, Shepherd K, Miller G, Liu Y, Wilson WD, Xiao G, Blanchi B, Sun Y, Ye K
 (2010) A selective TrkB agonist with potent neurotrophic activities by 7,8-dihydroxyflavone.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107:2687-2692.
- Jeffery G (1985) Retinotopic order appears before ocular separation in developing visual pathways. Nature 313:575-576.
- Jeon ST, Maurer D, Lewis TL (2012) The effect of video game training on the vision of adults with bilateral deprivation amblyopia. Seeing and perceiving 25:493-520.
- Jiang B, Trevino M, Kirkwood A (2007) Sequential development of long-term potentiation and depression in different layers of the mouse visual cortex. J Neurosci 27:9648-9652.
- Jiang B, Huang ZJ, Morales B, Kirkwood A (2005) Maturation of GABAergic transmission and the timing of plasticity in visual cortex. Brain Res Rev 50:126-133.
- Jiang B, Huang S, de Pasquale R, Millman D, Song L, Lee HK, Tsumoto T, Kirkwood A (2010) The maturation of GABAergic transmission in visual cortex requires endocannabinoid-mediated LTD of inhibitory inputs during a critical period. Neuron 66:248-259.
- Jiao Y, Zhang C, Yanagawa Y, Sun QQ (2006) Major effects of sensory experiences on the neocortical inhibitory circuits. J Neurosci 26:8691-8701.
- Kalia A, Lesmes L, Dorr M, Gandhi T, Chatterjee G, Ganesh S, Bex P, Sinha P (2014) Development of pattern vision following early and extended blindness. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 111:2035-2039.
- Kampf-Lassin A, Wei J, Galang J, Prendergast BJ (2011) Experience-independent development of the hamster circadian visual system. PLoS One 6:e16048.
- Kaneda K, Phongphanphanee P, Katoh T, Isa K, Yanagawa Y, Obata K, Isa T (2008) Regulation of burst activity through presynaptic and postsynaptic GABA(B) receptors in mouse superior colliculus. J Neurosci 28:816-827.

Kaneko A (1979) Physiology of the retina. Annu Rev Neurosci 2:169-191.

Kang E, Durand S, LeBlanc JJ, Hensch TK, Chen C, Fagiolini M (2013) Visual acuity development and plasticity in the absence of sensory experience. J Neurosci 33:17789-17796.

Kanold PO, Luhmann HJ (2010) The Subplate and Early Cortical Circuits. Annu Rev Neurosci 33:23-48.

- Kapadia MK, Westheimer G, Gilbert CD (1999) Dynamics of spatial summation in primary visual cortex of alert monkeys. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:12073-12078.
- Katagiri H, Fagiolini M, Hensch TK (2007) Optimization of somatic inhibition at critical period onset in mouse visual cortex. Neuron 53:805-812.
- Kato N, Artola A, Singer W (1991) Developmental changes in the susceptibility to long-term potentiation of neurones in rat visual cortex slices. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 60:43-50.
- Katz LC, Shatz CJ (1996) Synaptic activity and the construction of cortical circuits. Science 274:1133-1138.
- Ketterson ED, Nolan VAL, Cawthorn MJ, Parker PG, Ziegenfus C (1996) Phenotypic engineering: using hormones to explore the mechanistic and functional bases of phenotypic variation in nature. Ibis 138:70-86.
- Kiecker C, Lumsden A (2012) The Role of Organizers in Patterning the Nervous System. Annu Rev Neurosci 35:347-367.
- Kim J, Alger BE (2001) Random response fluctuations lead to spurious paired-pulse facilitation. J Neurosci 21:9608-9618.
- Kind PC, Sengpiel F, Beaver CJ, Crocker-Buque A, Kelly GM, Matthews RT, Mitchell DE (2013) The development and activity-dependent expression of aggrecan in the cat visual cortex. Cereb Cortex 23:349-360.
- Kirkwood A, Bear MF (1994) Hebbian synapses in visual cortex. J Neurosci 14:1634-1645.
- Kirkwood A, Bear MF (1995) Elementary forms of synaptic plasticity in the visual cortex. Biological research 28:73-80.

- Kirkwood A, Lee HK, Bear MF (1995) Co-regulation of long-term potentiation and experience-dependent synaptic plasticity in visual cortex by age and experience. Nature 375:328-331.
- Kirkwood A, Rioult MC, Bear MF (1996) Experience-dependent modification of synaptic plasticity in visual cortex. Nature 381:526-528.
- Knudsen EI (2004) Sensitive periods in the development of the brain and behavior. J Cogn Neurosci 16:1412-1425.
- Ko H, Cossell L, Baragli C, Antolik J, Clopath C, Hofer S, Mrsic Flogel T (2013) The emergence of functional microcircuits in visual cortex. Nature 496:96-100.
- Kobayashi T, Nakamura H, Yasuda M (1990) Disturbance of refinement of retinotectal projection in chick embryos by tetrodotoxin and grayanotoxin. Brain Res Dev Brain Res 57:29-35.
- Kotak VC, Takesian AE, Sanes DH (2008) Hearing loss prevents the maturation of GABAergic transmission in the auditory cortex. Cereb Cortex 18:2098-2108.
- Krug K, Akerman CJ, Thompson ID (2001) Responses of neurons in neonatal cortex and thalamus to patterned visual stimulation through the naturally closed lids. Journal of neurophysiology 85:1436-1443.
- Kuhlman SJ, Olivas ND, Tring E, Ikrar T, Xu X, Trachtenberg JT (2013) A disinhibitory microcircuit initiates critical-period plasticity in the visual cortex. Nature.
- Langley WM (1985) Relative importance of distance senses in hamster predatory behavior. Behavioural Processes 10:229-239.
- Levelt CN, Hubener M (2012) Critical-period plasticity in the visual cortex. Annu Rev Neurosci 35:309-330.
- Leventhal A, Wang Y, Pu M, Zhou Y, Ma Y (2003) GABA and its agonists improved visual cortical function in senescent monkeys. Science 300:812-815.
- Leventhal AG, Hirsch HV (1980) Receptive-field properties of different classes of neurons in visual cortex of normal and dark-reared cats. J Neurophysiol 43:1111-1132.

- Lewis TL, Maurer D (2009) Effects of early pattern deprivation on visual development. Optom Vis Sci 86:640-646.
- Li H, Bandrowski AE, Prince DA (2005) Cortical injury affects short-term plasticity of evoked excitatory synaptic currents. J Neurophysiol 93:146-156.
- Li R, Ngo C, Nguyen J, Levi D (2011) Video-game play induces plasticity in the visual system of adults with amblyopia. PLoS Biology 9:e1001135-e1001135.
- Li Y, Fitzpatrick D, White LE (2006) The development of direction selectivity in ferret visual cortex requires early visual experience. Nat Neurosci 9:676-681.
- Liao DS, Krahe TE, Prusky GT, Medina AE, Ramoa AS (2004) Recovery of cortical binocularity and orientation selectivity after the critical period for ocular dominance plasticity. Journal of Neurophysiology 92:2113-2121.
- Lin CS, Lu SM, Schmechel DE (1986) Glutamic acid decarboxylase and somatostatin immunoreactivities in rat visual cortex. J Comp Neurol 244:369-383.
- Lin Y, Bloodgood BL, Hauser JL, Lapan AD, Koon AC, Kim TK, Hu LS, Malik AN, Greenberg ME (2008) Activity-dependent regulation of inhibitory synapse development by Npas4. Nature 455:1198-1204.
- Livingstone MS, Hubel DH (1987) Psychophysical evidence for separate channels for the perception of form, color, movement, and depth. The Journal of neuroscience 7:3416-3468.
- Lo F-S, Mize RR (2002) Properties of LTD and LTP of retinocollicular synaptic transmission in the developing rat superior colliculus. European journal of neuroscience 15:1421-1432.
- Lu W, Constantine-Paton M (2004) Eye opening rapidly induces synaptic potentiation and refinement. Neuron 43:237-249.
- Lund RD, Lund JS (1971) Modifications of synaptic patterns in the superior colliculus of the rat during development and following deafferentation. Vision Res Suppl 3:281-298.
- Maffei A, Turrigiano G (2008) Chapter 12 The age of plasticity: Developmental regulation of synaptic plasticity in neocortical microcircuits. In: Prog Brain Res (Wayne S. Sossin J-CLVFC, Sylvie B, eds), pp 211-223: Elsevier.
- Maffei A, Bucher D, Fontanini A (2012) Homeostatic plasticity in the nervous system. Neural Plast 2012:913472.
- Malenka R, Bear M (2004) LTP and LTD: an embarrassment of riches. Neuron 44:5-21.
- Marr D (2010) Vision: A Computational Investigation Into the Human Representation and Processing of Visual Information: University Press Group Limited.
- Marshak S, Nikolakopoulou AM, Dirks R, Martens GJ, Cohen-Cory S (2007) Cell-autonomous TrkB signaling in presynaptic retinal ganglion cells mediates axon arbor growth and synapse maturation during the establishment of retinotectal synaptic connectivity. J Neurosci 27:2444-2456.
- Marty S, Wehrle R, Sotelo C (2000) Neuronal activity and brain-derived neurotrophic factor regulate the density of inhibitory synapses in organotypic slice cultures of postnatal hippocampus. J Neurosci 20:8087-8095.
- Mataga N, Nagai N, Hensch TK (2002) Permissive proteolytic activity for visual cortical plasticity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99:7717-7721.
- Mataga N, Mizuguchi Y, Hensch TK (2004) Experience-dependent pruning of dendritic spines in visual cortex by tissue plasminogen activator. Neuron 44:1031-1041.
- Mathers LH, Chow KL, Spear PD, Grobstein P (1974) Ontogenesis of receptive fields in the rabbit striate cortex. Exp Brain Res 19:20-35.
- Maya-Vetencourt JF, Baroncelli L, Viegi A, Tiraboschi E, Castren E, Cattaneo A, Maffei L (2012a) IGF-1 Restores Visual Cortex Plasticity in Adult Life by Reducing Local GABA Levels. Neural Plast 2012:250421.

- Maya-Vetencourt JF, Sale A, Viegi A, Baroncelli L, De Pasquale R, O'Leary OF, Castren E, Maffei L (2008) The antidepressant fluoxetine restores plasticity in the adult visual cortex. Science 320:385-388.
- Maya-Vetencourt JF, Tiraboschi E, Greco D, Restani L, Cerri C, Auvinen P, Maffei L, Castren E (2012b) Experience-dependent expression of NPAS4 regulates plasticity in adult visual cortex. J Physiol 590:4777-4787.
- McCormick DA, Connors BW, Lighthall JW, Prince DA (1985) Comparative electrophysiology of pyramidal and sparsely spiny stellate neurons of the neocortex. J Neurophysiol 54:782-806.
- McLaughlin T, Hindges R, O'Leary DD (2003a) Regulation of axial patterning of the retina and its topographic mapping in the brain. Curr Opin Neurobiol 13:57-69.
- McLaughlin T, Torborg C, Feller M, O'Leary DDM (2003b) Retinotopic map refinement requires spontaneous retinal waves during a brief critical period of development. Neuron 40:1147-1160.
- McRae PA, Rocco MM, Kelly G, Brumberg JC, Matthews RT (2007) Sensory deprivation alters aggrecan and perineuronal net expression in the mouse barrel cortex. J Neurosci 27:5405-5413.
- Meyer RL (1983) Tetrodotoxin inhibits the formation of refined retinotopography in goldfish. Brain Res 282:293-298.
- Micheva KD, Beaulieu C (1995) An anatomical substrate for experience-dependent plasticity of the rat barrel field cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:11834-11838.
- Miller KD, Chapman B, Stryker MP (1989) Visual responses in adult cat visual cortex depend on Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 86:5183-5187.
- Mishkin M, Ungerleider LG (1982) Contribution of striate inputs to the visuospatial functions of parietopreoccipital cortex in monkeys. Behav Brain Res 6:57-77.
- Mitchell DE, Duffy KR (2014) The case from animal studies for balanced binocular treatment strategies for human amblyopia. Ophthalmic and Physiological Optics 34:129-145.
- Mitchell DE, Giffin F, Wilkinson F, Anderson P, Smith ML (1976) Visual resolution in young kittens. Vision Res 16:363-366.

- Mitchell JF, Sundberg KA, Reynolds JH (2007) Differential attention-dependent response modulation across cell classes in macaque visual area V4. Neuron 55:131-141.
- Mize RR (1988) Immunocytochemical localization of gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) in the cat superior colliculus. J Comp Neurol 276:169-187.
- Mize RR (1992) The organization of GABAergic neurons in the mammalian superior colliculus. Prog Brain Res 90:219-248.
- Mize RR, Butler GD (1996) Postembedding immunocytochemistry demonstrates directly that both retinal and cortical terminals in the cat superior colliculus are glutamate immunoreactive. J Comp Neurol 371:633-648.
- Molnar Z, Garel S, Lopez-Bendito G, Maness P, Price DJ (2012) Mechanisms controlling the guidance of thalamocortical axons through the embryonic forebrain. Eur J Neurosci 35:1573-1585.
- Morales B, Choi SY, Kirkwood A (2002) Dark rearing alters the development of GABAergic transmission in visual cortex. J Neurosci 22:8084-8090.
- Morin LP, Wood RI (2001) A stereotaxic atlas of the golden hamster brain. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Mort E, Cairns S, Hersch H, Finlay B (1980) The role of the superior colliculus in visually guided locomotion and visual orienting in the hamster. Physiological Psychology 8:20-28.
- Mower GD, Burchfiel JL, Duffy FH (1981a) The effects of dark-rearing on the development and plasticity of the lateral geniculate nucleus. Brain Res 227:418-424.
- Mower GD, Christen WG, Caplan CJ (1983) Very brief visual experience eliminates plasticity in the cat visual cortex. Science 221:178-180.
- Mower GD, Berry D, Burchfiel JL, Duffy FH (1981b) Comparison of the effects of dark rearing and binocular suture on development and plasticity of cat visual cortex. Brain Res 220:255-267.
- Mozzachiodi R, Byrne J (2010) More than synaptic plasticity: role of nonsynaptic plasticity in learning and memory. Trends Neurosci 33:17-26.

- Mrsic-Flogel TD, Hofer SB, Creutzfeldt C, Cloez-Tayarani I, Changeux JP, Bonhoeffer T, Hubener M (2005) Altered map of visual space in the superior colliculus of mice lacking early retinal waves. J Neurosci 25:6921-6928.
- Mruczek RE, Sheinberg DL (2012) Stimulus selectivity and response latency in putative inhibitory and excitatory neurons of the primate inferior temporal cortex. J Neurophysiol 108:2725-2736.
- Muñoz A, Huntsman MM, Jones EG (1998) GABA(B) receptor gene expression in monkey thalamus. J Comp Neurol 394:118-126.
- Muñoz A, DeFelipe J, Jones EG (2001) Patterns of GABABR1a,b receptor gene expression in monkey and human visual cortex. Cereb Cortex 11:104-113.
- Nava E, Roder B (2011) Adaptation and maladaptation: insights from brain plasticity. Prog Brain Res 191:177-194.
- Nedivi E, Hevroni D, Naot D, Israeli D, Citri Y (1993) Numerous candidate plasticity-related genes revealed by differential cDNA cloning. Nature 363:718-722.
- Niell CM, Smith SJ (2005) Functional Imaging Reveals Rapid Development of Visual Response Properties in the Zebrafish Tectum. Neuron 45:941-951.
- Niell CM, Stryker MP (2008) Highly selective receptive fields in mouse visual cortex. J Neurosci 28:7520-7536.
- Nusser Z, Hájos N, Somogyi P, Mody I (1998) Increased number of synaptic GABA(A) receptors underlies potentiation at hippocampal inhibitory synapses. Nature 395:172-177.
- Okada Y, Miyamoto T (1989) Formation of long-term potentiation in superior colliculus slices from the guinea pig. Neurosci Lett 96:108-113.
- Ostrovsky Y, Andalman A, Sinha P (2006) Vision following extended congenital blindness. Psychol Sci 17:1009-1014.
- Pallas SL, Finlay BL (1989) Conservation of receptive-field properties of superior colliculus cells after developmental rearrangements of retinal input. Vis Neurosci 2:121-135.

- Pallas SL, Gilmour SM, Finlay BL (1988) Control of cell number in the developing neocortex. I. Effects of early tectal ablation. Brain Res 471:1-11.
- Park H, Poo M-m (2013) Neurotrophin regulation of neural circuit development and function. Nat Rev Neurosci 14:7-23.
- Pasternack M, Boller M, Pau B, Schmidt M (1999) GABA(A) and GABA(C) receptors have contrasting effects on excitability in superior colliculus. J Neurophysiol 82:2020-2023.
- Pettet MW, Gilbert CD (1992) Dynamic changes in receptive-field size in cat primary visual cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:8366-8370.
- Pettigrew JD (1974) The effect of visual experience on the development of stimulus specificity by kitten cortical neurones. J Physiol 237:49-74.
- Pfaff S, Shaham S (2013) Development of neurons and glia. Curr Opin Neurobiol 23:901-902.
- Pfeiffenberger C, Yamada J, Feldheim D (2006) Ephrin-As and patterned retinal activity act together in the development of topographic maps in the primary visual system. The journal of neuroscience 26:12873-12884.
- Pfennig DW, Wund MA, Snell-Rood EC, Cruickshank T, Schlichting CD, Moczek AP (2010) Phenotypic plasticity's impacts on diversification and speciation. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 25:459-467.
- Pham TA, Graham SJ, Suzuki S, Barco A, Kandel ER, Gordon B, Lickey ME (2004) A semi-persistent adult ocular dominance plasticity in visual cortex is stabilized by activated CREB. Learn Mem 11:738-747.
- Pizzorusso T, Medini P, Berardi N, Chierzi S, Fawcett JW, Maffei L (2002) Reactivation of ocular dominance plasticity in the adult visual cortex. Science 298:1248-1251.
- Pizzorusso T, Medini P, Landi S, Baldini S, Berardi N, Maffei L (2006) Structural and functional recovery from early monocular deprivation in adult rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:8517-8522.
- Plas DT, Lopez JE, Crair MC (2005) Pretarget sorting of retinocollicular axons in the mouse. J Comp Neurol 491:305-319.

- Platt B, Withington DJ (1997) Paired-pulse depression in the superficial layers of the guinea-pig superior colliculus. Brain Res 777:131-139.
- Platt B, Withington DJ (1998) GABA-induced long-term potentiation in the guinea-pig superior colliculus. Neuropharmacology 37:1111-1122.
- Powell TP (1976) Bilateral cortico-tectal projection from the visual cortex in the cat. Nature 260:526-527.
- Pratt KG, Aizenman CD (2007) Homeostatic regulation of intrinsic excitability and synaptic transmission in a developing visual circuit. J Neurosci 27:8268-8277.
- Putignano E, Lonetti G, Cancedda L, Ratto G, Costa M, Maffei L, Pizzorusso T (2007) Developmental downregulation of histone posttranslational modifications regulates visual cortical plasticity. Neuron 53:747-759.
- Quiroga RQ, Nadasdy Z, Ben-Shaul Y (2004) Unsupervised spike detection and sorting with wavelets and superparamagnetic clustering. Neural Comput 16:1661-1687.
- Rakic P (1976) Prenatal genesis of connections subserving ocular dominance in the rhesus monkey. Nature 261:467-471.
- Rakic P, Suñer I, Williams RW (1991) A novel cytoarchitectonic area induced experimentally within the primate visual cortex. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88:2083-2087.
- Ramoa AS, Paradiso MA, Freeman RD (1988) Blockade of intracortical inhibition in kitten striate cortex: effects on receptive field properties and associated loss of ocular dominance plasticity. Exp Brain Res 73:285-296.
- Ramoa AS, Mower AF, Liao D, Jafri SI (2001) Suppression of cortical NMDA receptor function prevents development of orientation selectivity in the primary visual cortex. J Neurosci 21:4299-4309.
- Rao S, Chun C, Fan J, Kofron JM, Yang MB, Hegde RS, Ferrara N, Copenhagen DR, Lang RA (2013) A direct and melanopsin-dependent fetal light response regulates mouse eye development. Nature 494:243-246.
- Razak KA, Pallas SL (2005) Neural mechanisms of stimulus velocity tuning in the superior colliculus. J Neurophysiol 94:3573-3589.

- Razak KA, Pallas SL (2006) Dark rearing reveals the mechanism underlying stimulus size tuning of superior colliculus neurons. Vis Neurosci 23:741-748.
- Razak KA, Pallas SL (2007) Inhibitory plasticity facilitates recovery of stimulus velocity tuning in the superior colliculus after chronic NMDA receptor blockade. J Neurosci 27:7275-7283.
- Razak KA, Huang L, Pallas SL (2003) NMDA receptor blockade in the superior colliculus increases receptive field size without altering velocity and size tuning. J Neurophysiol 90:110-119.
- Razak KA, Fuzessery ZM, Pallas SL (2010) Developmental plasticity of inhibitory receptive field properties in the auditory and visual systems. In: Developmental Plasticity of Inhibitory Circuitry (Pallas SL, ed), pp 71-89. New York: Springer.
- Regal DM, Boothe R, Teller DY, Sackett GP (1976) Visual acuity and visual responsiveness in darkreared monkeys (Macaca nemestrina). Vision Res 16:523-530.
- Reiter RJ (1991) Melatonin: the chemical expression of darkness. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 79:C153-158.
- Reuter JH (1976) The development of the electroretinogram in normal and light-deprived rabbits. Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology 363:7-13.
- Rhoades RW, Chalupa LM (1978a) Receptive field characteristics of superior colliculus neurons and visually guided behavior in dark-reared hamsters. J Comp Neurol 177:17-32.
- Rhoades RW, Chalupa LM (1978b) Effects of neonatal cortical lesions upon directional selectivity in the superior colliculus of the golden hamster. Brain Res 147:188-193.
- Rhoades RW, Chalupa LM (1978c) Functional properties of the corticotectal projection in the golden hamster. J Comp Neurol 180:617-634.
- Rhoades RW, Figley B, Mooney RD, Fish SE (1991) Development of the occipital corticotectal projection in the hamster. Exp Brain Res 86:373-383.
- Rich MM, Wenner P (2007) Sensing and expressing homeostatic synaptic plasticity. Trends Neurosci 30:119-125.

- Riegle KC, Meyer RL (2007) Rapid homeostatic plasticity in the intact adult visual system. J Neurosci 27:10556-10567.
- Roberts EB, Meredith MA, Ramoa AS (1998) Suppression of NMDA receptor function using antisense DNA block ocular dominance plasticity while preserving visual responses. J Neurophysiol 80:1021-1032.
- Rochefort NL, Narushima M, Grienberger C, Marandi N, Hill DN, Konnerth A (2011) Development of direction selectivity in mouse cortical neurons. Neuron 71:425-432.
- Rodieck RW (1965) Quantitative analysis of cat retinal ganglion cell response to visual stimuli. Vision Res 5:583-601.
- Rubenstein JL, Merzenich MM (2003) Model of autism: increased ratio of excitation/inhibition in key neural systems. Genes, brain, and behavior 2:255-267.
- Ruthazer ES, Aizenman CD (2010) Learning to see: patterned visual activity and the development of visual function. Trends Neurosci 33:183-192.
- Rutherford LC, DeWan A, Lauer HM, Turrigiano GG (1997) Brain-derived neurotrophic factor mediates the activity-dependent regulation of inhibition in neocortical cultures. J Neurosci 17:4527-4535.
- Sale A, Putignano E, Cancedda L, Landi S, Cirulli F, Berardi N, Maffei L (2004) Enriched environment and acceleration of visual system development. Neuropharmacology 47:649-660.
- Sarnaik R, Wang BS, Cang J (2013) Experience-dependent and independent binocular correspondence of receptive field subregions in mouse visual cortex. Cereb Cortex.
- Sasaki Y, Nanez J, Watanabe T (2010) Advances in visual perceptual learning and plasticity. Nature reviews Neuroscience 11:53-60.
- Sawtell N, Frenkel M, Philpot B, Nakazawa K, Tonegawa S, Bear M (2003) NMDA receptor-dependent ocular dominance plasticity in adult visual cortex. Neuron 38:977-985.
- Sceniak MP, Ringach DL, Hawken MJ, Shapley R (1999) Contrast's effect on spatial summation by macaque V1 neurons. Nat Neurosci 2:733-739.

- Schmidt JT (2004) Activity-driven sharpening of the retinotectal projection: the search for retrograde synaptic signaling pathways. J Neurobiol 59:114-133.
- Schmidt M, Boller M, Ozen G, Hall WC (2001) Disinhibition in rat superior colliculus mediated by GABA_C receptors. J Neurosci 21:691-699.

Schneider GE (1969) Two visual systems. Science 163:895-902.

- Schwartz N, Schohl A, Ruthazer E (2011) Activity-dependent transcription of BDNF enhances visual acuity during development. Neuron 70:455-467.
- Seil FJ, Drake-Baumann R (2000) TrkB receptor ligands promote activity-dependent inhibitory synaptogenesis. J Neurosci 20:5367-5373.
- Sengpiel F, Sen A, Blakemore C (1997) Characteristics of surround inhibition in cat area 17. Exp Brain Res 116:216-228.
- Sengpiel F, Stawinski P, Bonhoeffer T (1999) Influence of experience on orientation maps in cat visual cortex. Nature neuroscience 2:727-732.
- Sernagor E, Grzywacz NM (1996) Influence of spontaneous activity and visual experience on developing retinal receptive fields. Curr Biol 6:1503-1508.
- Shah RD, Crair MC (2008) Mechanisms of response homeostasis during retinocollicular map formation. J Physiol 586:4363-4369.
- Shapley R, So YT (1980) Is there an effect of monocular deprivation on the proportions of X and Y cells in the cat lateral geniculate nucleus? Exp Brain Res 39:41-48.
- Shatz CJ, Stryker MP (1988) Prenatal tetrodotoxin infusion blocks segregation of retinogeniculate afferents. Science 242:87-89.
- Sherk H, Stryker MP (1976) Quantitative study of cortical orientation selectivity in visually inexperienced kitten. J Neurophysiol 39:63-70.
- Sherman SM (1972) Development of interocular alignment in cats. Brain Res 37:187-203.
- Sherman SM, Stone J (1973) Physiological normality of the retinal in visually deprived cats. Brain Res 60:224-230.

- Shi J, Aamodt SM, Constantine-Paton M (1997) Temporal correlations between functional and molecular changes in NMDA receptors and GABA neurotransmission in the superior colliculus. J Neurosci 17:6264-6276.
- Shi J, Townsend M, Constantine-Paton M (2000) Activity-dependent induction of tonic calcineurin activity mediates a rapid developmental downregulation of NMDA receptor currents. Neuron 28:103-114.
- Simon DK, O'Leary DD (1992) Development of topographic order in the mammalian retinocollicular projection. J Neurosci 12:1212-1232.
- Simon DK, Prusky GT, O'Leary DD, Constantine-Paton M (1992) N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor antagonists disrupt the formation of a mammalian neural map. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89:10593-10597.
- Singer W, Freeman B, Rauschecker J (1981) Restriction of visual experience to a single orientation affects the organization of orientation columns in cat visual cortex. A study with deoxyglucose. Exp Brain Res 41:199-215.
- Soto-Moyano R, Burgos H, Flores F, Valladares L, Sierralta W, Fernández V, Pérez H, Hernández P, Hernández A (2006) Melatonin administration impairs visuo-spatial performance and inhibits neocortical long-term potentiation in rats. Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior 85:408-414.

Sperry RW (1944) Optic nerve regeneration with return of vision in anurans. J Neurophysiol 7:57-69.

- Sperry RW (1963) Chemoaffinity in the Orderly Growth of Nerve Fiber Patterns and Connections. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 50:703-710.
- Spolidoro M, Baroncelli L, Putignano E, Maya-Vetencourt JF, Viegi A, Maffei L (2011) Food restriction enhances visual cortex plasticity in adulthood. Nat Commun 2:320.
- Squire LR, Stark CE, Clark RE (2004) The medial temporal lobe. Annu Rev Neurosci 27:279-306.
- Sretavan DW, Shatz CJ, Stryker MP (1988) Modification of retinal ganglion cell axon morphology by prenatal infusion of tetrodotoxin. Nature 336:468-471.
- Stein BE (1984) Development of the superior colliculus. Annu Rev Neurosci 7:95-125.

- Stryker MP, Harris WA (1986) Binocular impulse blockade prevents the formation of ocular dominance columns in cat visual cortex. J Neurosci 6:2117-2133.
- Sugiyama S, Di Nardo AA, Aizawa S, Matsuo I, Volovitch M, Prochiantz A, Hensch TK (2008) Experience-dependent transfer of Otx2 homeoprotein into the visual cortex activates postnatal plasticity. Cell 134:508-520.
- Sun C, Warland D, Ballesteros J, van der List D, Chalupa L (2008) Retinal waves in mice lacking the beta2 subunit of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 105:13638-13643.
- Sun L, Han X, He S (2011) Direction-selective circuitry in rat retina develops independently of GABAergic, cholinergic and action potential activity. PLoS One 6:e19477-e19477.
- Tadin D, Lappin J, Gilroy L, Blake R (2003) Perceptual consequences of centre-surround antagonism in visual motion processing. Nature 424:312-315.
- Tadin D, Kim J, Doop M, Gibson C, Lappin J, Blake R, Park S (2006) Weakened center-surround interactions in visual motion processing in schizophrenia. The Journal of neuroscience 26:11403-11412.
- Tagawa Y, Kanold PO, Majdan M, Shatz CJ (2005) Multiple periods of functional ocular dominance plasticity in mouse visual cortex. Nat Neurosci 8:380-388.
- Takesian AE, Hensch TK (2013) Chapter 1 Balancing Plasticity/Stability Across Brain Development.In: Prog Brain Res (Michael M. Merzenich MN, Thomas MVV, eds), pp 3-34: Elsevier.
- Takesian AE, Kotak VC, Sanes DH (2010) Presynaptic GABA(B) receptors regulate experiencedependent development of inhibitory short-term plasticity. J Neurosci 30:2716-2727.
- Takeuchi AH, Hulse SH (1993) Absolute pitch. Psychol Bull 113:345-361.
- Talaei SA, Sheibani V, Salami M (2010) Light deprivation improves melatonin related suppression of hippocampal plasticity. Hippocampus 20:447-455.

- Tamamaki N, Yanagawa Y, Tomioka R, Miyazaki J, Obata K, Kaneko T (2003) Green fluorescent protein expression and colocalization with calretinin, parvalbumin, and somatostatin in the GAD67-GFP knock-in mouse. J Comp Neurol 467:60-79.
- Tavazoie SF, Reid RC (2000) Diverse receptive fields in the lateral geniculate nucleus during thalamocortical development. Nat Neurosci 3:608-616.
- Tessier-Lavigne M, Goodman CS (1996) The molecular biology of axon guidance. Science 274:1123-1133.
- Thompson I, Holt C (1989) Effects of intraocular tetrodotoxin on the development of the retinocollicular pathway in the Syrian hamster. J Comp Neurol 282:371-388.
- Tian N, Copenhagen DR (2003) Visual stimulation is required for refinement of ON and OFF pathways in postnatal retina. Neuron 39:85-96.
- Timney B, Mitchell DE, Giffin F (1978) The development of vision in cats after extended periods of dark-rearing. Exp Brain Res 31:547-560.
- Tognini P, Manno I, Bonaccorsi J, Cenni M, Sale A, Maffei L (2012) Environmental enrichment promotes plasticity and visual acuity recovery in adult monocular amblyopic rats. PLoS One 7:e34815-e34815.
- Townsend M, Yoshii A, Mishina M, Constantine Paton M (2003) Developmental loss of miniature Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor currents in NR2A knockout mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100:1340-1345.
- Tretter F, Cynader M, Singer W (1975) Modification of direction selectivity of neurons in the visual cortex of kittens. Brain research 84:143-149.
- Triplett J, Owens M, Yamada J, Lemke G, Cang J, Stryker M, Feldheim D (2009) Retinal input instructs alignment of visual topographic maps. Cell 139:175-185.
- Triplett JW (2014) Molecular guidance of retinotopic map development in the midbrain. Curr Opin Neurobiol 24:7-12.

- Tropea D, Kreiman G, Lyckman A, Mukherjee S, Yu H, Horng S, Sur M (2006) Gene expression changes and molecular pathways mediating activity-dependent plasticity in visual cortex. Nat Neurosci 9:660-668.
- Turrigiano G (2011) Too Many Cooks? Intrinsic and Synaptic Homeostatic Mechanisms in Cortical Circuit Refinement. Annu Rev Neurosci.
- Turrigiano G, Abbott LF, Marder E (1994) Activity-dependent changes in the intrinsic properties of cultured neurons. Science 264:974-977.
- Turrigiano GG, Nelson SB (2004) Homeostatic plasticity in the developing nervous system. Nat Rev Neurosci 5:97-107.
- Udin SB, Fawcett JW (1988) Formation of topographic maps. Annu Rev Neurosci 11:289-327.
- Waddington C (1957) The strategy of the genes: a discussion of some aspecs of theoretical biology. London: Allen & Unwin.
- Wang L, Sarnaik R, Rangarajan K, Liu X, Cang J (2010) Visual receptive field properties of neurons in the superficial superior colliculus of the mouse. J Neurosci 30:16573-16584.
- Wang L, Rangarajan KV, Lawhn-Heath CA, Sarnaik R, Wang BS, Liu X, Cang J (2009) Directionspecific disruption of subcortical visual behavior and receptive fields in mice lacking the beta2 subunit of nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. J Neurosci 29:12909-12918.
- Wang Q, Sporns O, Burkhalter A (2012) Network analysis of corticocortical connections reveals ventral and dorsal processing streams in mouse visual cortex. J Neurosci 32:4386-4399.
- Warkentin J, Smith KU (1937) The Development of Visual Acuity in the Cat. The Pedagogical Seminary and Journal of Genetic Psychology 50:371-399.
- Wei W, Hamby A, Zhou K, Feller M (2011) Development of asymmetric inhibition underlying direction selectivity in the retina. Nature 469:402-406.
- Weliky M (2000) Correlated neuronal activity and visual cortical development. Neuron 27:427-430.
- Weliky M, Katz LC (1997) Disruption of orientation tuning in visual cortex by artificially correlated neuronal activity. Nature 386:680-685.

Weliky M, Katz LC (1999) Correlational structure of spontaneous neuronal activity in the developing lateral geniculate nucleus in vivo. Science 285:599-604.

Wenner P (2011) Mechanisms of GABAergic homeostatic plasticity. Neural Plast 2011:489470.

- Wenner P (2014) Homeostatic synaptic plasticity in developing spinal networks driven by excitatory GABAergic currents. Neuropharmacology 78:55-62.
- West-Eberhard MJ (2003) Developmental plasticity and evolution: Oxford University Press.
- White LE, Coppola DM, Fitzpatrick D (2001) The contribution of sensory experience to the maturation of orientation selectivity in ferret visual cortex. Nature 411:1049-1052.
- Wiesel TN, Hubel DH (1963) Effects of Visual Deprivation on Morphology and Physiology of Cells in the Cats Lateral Geniculate Body. J Neurophysiol 26:978-993.
- Wiesel TN, Hubel DH (1966) Spatial and chromatic interactions in the lateral geniculate body of the rhesus monkey. J Neurophysiol 29:1115-1156.
- Wigström H, Gustafsson B (1983) Facilitated induction of hippocampal long-lasting potentiation during blockade of inhibition. Nature 301:603-604.
- Wilson DE, Reeder DM (2005) Mammal species of the world: a taxonomic and geographic reference: JHU Press.
- Wong RO, Meister M, Shatz CJ (1993) Transient period of correlated bursting activity during development of the mammalian retina. Neuron 11:923-938.
- Wong ROL (1999) Retinal waves and visual system development. Annu Rev Neurosci 22:29-47.
- Wong WT, Myhr KL, Miller ED, Wong RO (2000) Developmental changes in the neurotransmitter regulation of correlated spontaneous retinal activity. J Neurosci 20:351-360.
- Xu H-p, Furman M, Mineur Y, Chen H, King S, Zenisek D, Zhou ZJ, Butts D, Tian N, Picciotto M, Crair M (2011) An instructive role for patterned spontaneous retinal activity in mouse visual map development. Neuron 70:1115-1127.
- Zhang LI, Tao HW, Poo M (2000) Visual input induces long-term potentiation of developing retinotectal synapses. Nat Neurosci 3:708-715.

- Zhang W, Linden D (2003) The other side of the engram: experience-driven changes in neuronal intrinsic excitability. Nat Rev Neurosci 4:885-900.
- Zhao JP, Phillips MA, Constantine-Paton M (2006) Long-term potentiation in the juvenile superior colliculus requires simultaneous activation of NMDA receptors and L-type Ca2+ channels and reflects addition of newly functional synapses. J Neurosci 26:12647-12655.
- Zhu Y, Yao H (2013) Modification of visual cortical receptive field induced by natural stimuli. Cereb Cortex 23:1923-1932.

Zucker RS, Regehr WG (2002) Short-term synaptic plasticity. Annu Rev Physiol 64:355-405.